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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of UBoT Holding Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”). The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of UBoT Holding Limited
(the “Company” or “UBoT”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present the Group’s annual report for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year” or the “Reporting Year” or “FY2024").

FY2024 marks an epochal milestone in the Group’s corporate journey,
distinguished by our successful listing on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 3 June 2024. This achievement represents not
only a validation of our strategic prowess and operational excellence but
also establishes a solid foundation for sustainable growth and market
penetration. Our public listing heralds the commencement of a transformative
chapter in our corporate evolution, substantially augmenting our capacity
to pursue value-accretive strategic initiatives while simultaneously
enhancing our market prominence and operational sophistication. This
pivotal corporate achievement exemplifies our unwavering dedication to
stakeholder value maximisation and positions the Group strategically within
an evolving business environment, setting the stage for continued growth
and innovation. The successful listing represents not merely a financial
accomplishment but rather a testament to our organisational resilience and
strategic foresight, establishing a formidable foundation for accelerated
growth trajectories and enhanced market opportunities in the global arena.

At the vanguard of back-end semiconductor transport media innovation,
UBoT epitomises manufacturing supremacy through its unparalleled
precision engineering capabilities and resolute commitment to technological
advancement. Our extensive product portfolio, encompassing precision-
engineered tray and tray related products, advanced MEMS and sensor
packaging, and carrier tape, all reflecting our unprecedented depth of
technical expertise and market intelligence synthesis. UBoT’s engineering
preeminence is quantifiably demonstrated through the successful
development and implementation of an extensive portfolio exceeding
1,500 distinct product specifications, each meticulously calibrated to
satisfy exacting dimensional and performance parameters, culminating
in its recognition as the third-largest among all tray and tray related
products manufacturer within the back-end semiconductor transport media

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERwE

BAIPIR -

BARARKR BB ZERBR QR ([AQT I
[BE] EREMBARSEAIAEE]E
Fe((EEE REAKEBEE T _MF
T A=t BUEMBEE(FFEIXRE
FEIRZBWME )NFR -

R UME RSB B EFRE D —ERIR R
MERE  REZRMAN-_ZT_HF A=A
EEEMAERSMERARGEMAKI) LT -
R NMEBAREEEFOREE N R F B
BERE - NAAEENTHERRLTSEZ
BEERBEER - BN A LR IRRE R
RAPB(LEEPEEUERENRLG - AKIER
TRMHET RIS EEARIILEE 2 8
TR RTT T RPN T I5 B E & EER A
[Z o IIRBR MM DERHER T RABET
AHBEIR KRN EBERACHRERD
WSS HESAEEE R ARNEERER
REEMEE R REEREMEIFIT TR
BEIRE o pRI) L MERESE IR LMK
o BEARMABENNREER - BB
IR RBBIHEE ZHBRAERRTS
IHBESE TEREER -

ERBmFERERNEAFILE BB
EE T TAZBE DML R P B E T RO
WA T REERWAE - BAIEZNER
e RERERFTOERMERABES -
TENMEMS R ERBHEDEZEHST - AR
MERETISEREE AW T SRR AT
ARERE < BBKRINFAEL BT EER
1,500 NRAERMENEZERAS - EF
NETABRBEETE T ENBEEN - M
B EREmBLBIBOREL MBI RT
MERE2 8 - AERPIRAR GV ERERT
BREMARRIIERAEERNE ZREE
BIR—F_=FRAEEREE) - RFIFEELN

Annual Report 2024
2024 F3}



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
TREwE(E)

sector, as measured by 2023 revenue metrics. This commanding market
presence, particularly pronounced in the tray and tray related product
segment, reflects our commitment to operational excellence, customer-
centric approach, and sustained market leadership. Through the strategic
convergence of pioneering technology, profound industry acumen, and
visionary business initiatives, UBoT continues to fortify its market presence
while pursuing an ambitious trajectory of sustainable growth and innovation
in the ever-evolving semiconductor industry landscape.

The semiconductor industry stands at a pivotal inflection point amid the
evolving global economic landscape. While near-term headwinds persist,
comprehensive market analysis indicates strong fundamentals supporting an
imminent industry resurgence. The global economy demonstrated resilience
in 2024, albeit with moderate growth of 3.1%, reflecting the complex
interplay of post-pandemic recovery dynamics and macroeconomic
challenges across major markets. Asian economies, traditionally the catalyst
of global economic momentum, encountered unprecedented volatility,
illuminating the intricate interdependencies between developed markets
and the delicate nature of economic recuperation mechanisms. Within this
complex tapestry, China’s economy demonstrated exceptional fortitude,
achieving its targeted growth rate of 5% in 2024, despite pervasive global
uncertainties. This remarkable performance manifested prominently
within strategic sectors, where both semiconductor and renewable
energy industries showcased significant technological advancement and
operational progress. Notwithstanding operational impediments in certain
traditional sectors, the semiconductor industry’s fundamental role in
driving technological advancement and economic transformation remained
paramount. This comprehensive sector analysis reinforces our conviction
in the industry’s inherent dynamism and its instrumental role in shaping
the future of global technology and economic development. The synthesis
of technological breakthroughs, accelerating digitalisation, and strategic
national imperatives continues to underscore the semiconductor sector’s
indispensable importance in the global value chain.
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As an industry veteran anticipating the semiconductor market’s imminent
renaissance, the Group maintains unwavering dedication to enhancing its
production capabilities and operational paradigms, particularly through
the strategic metamorphosis of its Shatin and Houjie Production Facilities.
Leveraging its profound technical acumen and extensive industry expertise,
the Group has exhibited exceptional operational dexterity, implementing
cutting-edge automation initiatives and diversified supplier networks,
and optimised inventory management protocols, which have significantly
bolstered supply chain resilience and production efficiency. The Group’s
strategic focus on portfolio diversification across multiple industry
segments, coupled with its deepened relationships with an expansive
client base comprising leading global semiconductor manufacturers, not
only provides natural hedging against market volatility but also solidifies its
position as a trusted partner. This robust market presence, underpinned
by the Group’s technological sophistication and manufacturing excellence,
establishes a formidable foundation for capturing emerging opportunities,
particularly within the burgeoning Chinese high-end semiconductor market,
while ensuring sustained growth and competitive advantage in the global
semiconductor landscape.

Geographical diversification remains a key focus of our growth strategy. The
establishment of our new production facility in the Philippines represents
a transformative milestone in our global expansion paradigm. The new
manufacturing facility, outside of our existing base in China, not only
augments our operational resilience and service delivery capabilities but
also positions us advantageously to capitalise on emerging opportunities
across Southeast Asia. The Philippines, distinguished by its highly
skilled technical talent pool and favourable semiconductor industry
environment, presents an optimal ecosystem to produce high-value back-
end semiconductor transport media components. This expansion not only
amplifies our market penetration but also enriches our product offerings,
further cementing UBoT’s position as the preeminent global vanguard in
back-end semiconductor transport media solutions.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
TREwE(E)

Innovation resides at the heart of UBoT’s enduring success paradigm. As
we navigate toward an increasingly sophisticated technological horizon,
our steadfast commitment to research and development assumes
paramount strategic significance. The semiconductor industry undergoes
an unprecedented metamorphosis, driven by the convergence of artificial
intelligence (Al), autonomous vehicles, and advanced telecommunications,
necessitates increasingly sophisticated and high-performance componentry.
UBoT’s distinctive market positioning, underpinned by our relentless pursuit
of technological excellence and deep-rooted collaborative partnerships
with discerning blue-chip enterprises — who prioritise uncompromising
quality and precision engineering-uniquely empowers us to address these
emerging market imperatives. This strategic convergence of innovative
capabilities and elite industry partnerships positions UBoT at the forefront
of technological evolution, empowering us to conceptualise and deliver
architecturally sophisticated solutions that not only anticipate but exceed
the dynamic requirements of next-generation semiconductor applications.

Moving forward, it is imperative that UBoT remains agile and responsive
to the changing dynamics of the global semiconductor landscape. The
global supply chains are being reshaped due to geopolitical issue and
greater focus on reliable operation which produce both challenges and
opportunities. UBoT’s strong market position, driven by our excellent
operations and deep market knowledge, uniquely enables us to handle the
complexities of the industry and seize new opportunities in the evolving
technological landscape. Our operational infrastructure, combined with
advanced market analysis facilitates the systematic metamorphosis of
industry challenges into enduring competitive advantages. This strategic
transformation ensures our sustained trajectory of exponential growth and
market preeminence. This strategic readiness, fortified by our profound
comprehension of market dynamics and operational excellence, established
UBoT as a pivotal force at the epicentre of industry transformation.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest gratitude to
our esteemed shareholders, valued customers, dedicated employees,
and strategic partners for their unwavering support and trust in UBoT. |
am deeply committed to working alongside our management team and all
our staff in steering the Group toward a future of sustainable growth and
enduring success. Our vision is clear, our strategy is sound, and our resolve
is stronger than ever. Together, we will elevate UBoT to new heights and
create lasting value for all our stakeholders.

UBoT Holding Limited

Tong Yuen To

Chairman and Executive Director
25 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

INDUSTRY REVIEW

FY2024 presented a complex tapestry of resilience set against a backdrop
of economic challenges with modest global economic growth. In FY2024,
the world economy achieved a moderate growth, reflecting persistent
challenges across various regions and sectors. This growth figure, while
indicating continued expansion, fell short of earlier forecasts and highlighted
the fragile nature of the ongoing post-pandemic economic recovery.

China is reported to have achieved a growth of 5% in terms of gross
domestic product in 2024, aligning with predetermined government
benchmarks amid challenging global economic conditions. As the world’s
second largest economy, this growth rate, although distinguished among
major global economies, demonstrated both the strategic successes and
persistent challenges. Sectoral analysis reveals pronounced performance
differentials across industries. While progress materialised in certain
sectors, notably semiconductor development and renewable energy
technology, other segments faced considerable hurdles. Consumer
sentiment demonstrated variability, reflecting the challenges facing China’s
post-pandemic economic recovery. The aggregate economic metrics for
the year show an economy in which multiple strategic imperatives were
being orchestrated: the maintenance of growth momentum, the changing
consumer appetite and the dynamic global economic conditions.

The global semiconductor industry demonstrated moderate recovery in
2024, navigating an environment characterised by advancing technological
requirements and intricate geopolitical dynamics. According to the
Semiconductor Industry Association (SIA), the sector achieved favourable
financial performance, with global revenue surging to US$627.6 billion,
a 19.1% increase from the previous year’'s US$526.8 billion. This growth
was attributed mainly to the accelerating adoption of artificial intelligence
technologies, which catalysed significant developments in both memory
chip production and graphics processing unit (GPU) markets. The
semiconductor industry is adapting to transformative technological
demands and navigation of complex international trade dynamics and
regional economic conditions. As a supplier for the upstream participants
in the semiconductor industry, our Group is poised to capture the growing
demand and long-term growth of the semiconductor industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our Group is a renowned player in the back-end semiconductor transport
media industry, specifically in the manufacture of tray and tray related
products. Our Group exemplifies leadership in the precision manufacturing
of engineering plastics, demonstrating unparalleled expertise in the
comprehensive design, development, manufacturing and global distribution
of tray and tray related products. Distinguished by its advanced capabilities
in delivering sophisticated packaging solutions for Micro-Electro-Mechanical
Systems (MEMS) and sensors, our Group has cemented our position
as a foundational pillar of the industry. Through a legacy of operational
excellence spanning decades, our Group has gained reputation for quality
and has cultivated profound customers relationships, underpinned by a
comprehensive portfolio exceeding 1,500 product specifications for tray
and tray related products. Each product is precisely engineered to deliver
specific thermal, mechanical and physical properties, reflecting our Group’s
outstanding technical capabilities. Our extensive range of solutions attests
to our Group’s dedication to delivering bespoke, high-performance products
that not only meet but exceed stringent quality parameters, while fulfilling
diverse customers’ requirements across multiple applications.

Harnessing decades of industry expertise and a well-established market
reputation, our Group has assembled a customer portfolio that spans the
breadth of the semiconductor value chain. This strategically curated network
includes industry-leading global integrated device manufacturers, innovative
fabless-foundry semiconductor enterprises and advanced integrated
circuit assembly and packaging test providers. This carefully calibrated
customers diversification not only testifies to our Group’s versatility in
addressing multifaceted technical requirements, but also provides natural
hedging against market volatility, ensuring sustainable business continuity.
Our Group’s ability to serve such a comprehensive spectrum of industry
participants underscores its technological sophistication, manufacturing
excellence and adaptability in meeting precise customers specifications.
Our robust market positioning, combined with its proven track record of
delivering innovative solutions, has created a solid foundation for sustained
growth and positioned us advantageously to capture emerging opportunities
in the dynamic back-end semiconductor transport media market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI E)

Our Group’s products are generally classified into three categories: (i) tray
and tray related products; (i) MEMS and sensor packaging; and (jii) carrier
tape.

Tray and tray related products

Our Group’s tray and tray related product portfolio comprises sophisticated
containment systems engineered specifically for semiconductor component
protection throughout the manufacturing and distribution lifecycle. Our
tray and tray related products, crafted from advanced engineering-
grade plastics, deliver optimal safeguarding of critical semiconductor
components while maintaining the highest standards of material integrity
and dimensional accuracy. This business segment maintained its position
as our primary source of revenue during FY2024, amounting to HK$153.3
million, contributing to approximately 94.0% of our total revenue. Our
Group’s manufacturing capabilities are anchored by two production facilities
located in Dongguan, Guangdong Province, the PRC. Our production
facilities are equipped with two units specifically dedicated to the
precision manufacturing of tray and tray related products, demonstrating
our commitment to operational excellence and specialised production
capabilities.

MEMS and sensor packaging

The MEMS and sensor packaging segment delivers specialised
encasements meticulously designed to optimise signal transmission
between electronic components and circuit boards. These packaging
solutions incorporate cutting-edge protection mechanisms that protect
MEMS devices and sensors from harmful external factors and the
detrimental effects of aging. This business segment generated revenue in
the amount of HK$8.6 million, contributing to approximately 5.3% of our
total revenue in FY2024.

Carrier tape

Carrier tape serves primarily as a protective and transportation medium for
semiconductor devices, including power-discrete semiconductor devices,
optoelectronics, integrated circuits (ICs) and sensors. This business
segment generated revenue in the amount of HK$1.2 million, contributing to
approximately 0.7% of our total revenue during FY2024.

Our Group also provides carrier tape related products, including cover tape,
reel and protective band, which contributed to a relatively small portion of
our total revenue during FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOOK

The global economy is on a complex yet promising trajectory, with the
International Monetary Fund projecting a moderate growth rate of 3.3%
for 2025-2026. The current economic environment is characterised by
challenges including evolving labour market dynamics, technological
advancement and development and escalating geopolitical tensions that
have fundamentally reshaped international commerce and traditional trade
patterns.

China’s economy is on a measured growth trajectory of 4.6% for 2025 that
is expected to moderate slightly to 4.5% in 2026 based on International
Monetary Fund’s projection. Factors such as escalating Sino-U.S.
trade tensions, demographic changes and environmental sustainability
imperatives have all impacted the growth and performance of China’s
economy. The government’s nuanced approach combines targeted fiscal
stimulus measures with monetary policy adjustments, implementing supply-
side structural reforms while fostering technological self-sufficiency and
enhanced domestic consumption.

In response to evolving global dynamics, the “China Plus One” strategy
has emerged as a key industrial posture encouraging enterprises to explore
alternative manufacturing bases beyond China, particularly in regions
such as Southeast Asia and India, creating more resilient and adaptable
supply chains. In line with our business diversification strategy, our Group’s
Philippines manufacturing facility, which commenced operations in early
2025, exemplifies this strategic approach. Building upon our proven
expertise in carrier tape production, our Group has plans to expand
its manufacturing portfolio to include tray and tray related products in
Philippines in the future, demonstrating our commitment to product and risk
diversification and operational excellence. The expansion aligns with China’s
semiconductor independence initiative, which establishes comprehensive
frameworks for accelerating domestic capabilities and fostering indigenous
innovation. The initiative, fortified by solid government support and
facilitative policy mechanisms, creates an optimal environment for sustained
industry growth. Within this dynamic landscape, our Group maintains
a distinct competitive advantage by capitalising on these favourable
market conditions through focused initiatives in product development,
manufacturing enhancement and technological innovation, ensuring
sustainable growth and market leadership in the evolving semiconductor
ecosystem.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI E)

Further, our Group is determined to actively explore additional strategic
overseas sales points to expand our global footprint, ensuring a balanced
geographical presence while strengthening our position as a key market
player in the evolving semiconductor market. This approach not only
ensures sustainable growth, but also reinforces our Group’s commitment to
building a truly global operational network that can effectively serve diverse
market needs while mitigating regional risks.

As stated in the prospectus of the Company dated 24 May 2024 (the
“Prospectus”), we aim to increase our production capacity and capabilities
by promoting automation of our production process, upgrading our
production facilities and acquiring requisite machineries. In FY2024, utilizing
the net proceeds from the Listing, automation updates had been completed
in our production factories in Dongguan, the PRC. We believe this can
enhance our production capabilities and reduce operating expenses in the
long run.

In FY2024, we set up a wholly-owned subsidiary, UBoT Philippines Inc.
in the Philippines to impletion production for carrier tape, in accordance
with our plan as disclosed in the Prospectus. We also recruited sales
representatives in Southeast Asia to intensify our sales and marketing
efforts in the global market during the Year.

Going forward, we will continue to implement plans as disclosed in the
Prospectus, further enhance our production efficiency, strengthen our
research and development capabilities to expand our product offerings with
the ultimate goal of maximizing Shareholders’ value.

Looking ahead, our Group remains steadfast in our dedication to executing
our carefully constructed “dual-track” strategy, balancing accelerated
Chinese market development with strategic international expansion. This
strategy integrates three drivers of future success — enhanced domestic
market penetration, an acceleration of new product manufacturing
capabilities, and strategic investments in high-growth overseas markets —
positioning our Group as a formidable player in the global semiconductor
ecosystem. Through precise allocations of resources across both our
domestic and global operations, our Group has become a key player in
global back-end semiconductor transport media industry and continues to
build market presence while cultivating sustainable catalysts for growth.
Our Group’s approach not only reinforces our commitment to maximising
shareholder value, but also establishes our leadership in spearheading the
next growth phase in the back-end semiconductor transport media industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
During the Year, our Group recorded revenue of HK$163.1 million,

representing a decrease of approximately HK$25.9 million, or 13.7% as

compared to the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Corresponding Year” or
“FY2023”) (FY2023: HK$189.0 million).

()

(i)

(ii)

Sales of tray and tray related products

For the Year, revenue generated from sales of tray and tray related
products decreased by approximately HK$19.0 million, or 11.0%,
to approximately HK$153.3 million (FY2023: HK$172.3 million). The
decrease was primarily attributable to the (i) the delay in recovery
of the upstream segments of the semiconductor industry; and (ii)
the challenging conditions in global markets, which continue to
face significant macroeconomic uncertainties, including but are not
limited to escalating geopolitical tensions and the indirect impact of
the Sino-U.S. trade war.

Sales of carrier tape

For the Year, revenue generated from sales of carrier tape increased
by approximately HK$1.0 million, or over 100%, to approximately
HK$1.2 million (FY2023: HK$0.2 million). The increase was a result
of our Group’s ongoing efforts in advancing our capabilities in the
design and manufacture of carrier tape. During FY2024, our Group
seized 18 new specifications for such products.

Sales of MEMS and sensor packaging

For the Year, revenue generated from sales of MEMS and sensor
packaging decreased by approximately HK$7.9 million, or 47.9%,
to approximately HK$8.6 million (FY2023: HK$16.5 million). The
decrease was due to the completion of a customised project for
MEMS and sensors undertook by one of our major customers and

the lukewarm market sentiments in the period.

BEE LT (E)

Eup e

'ON

RER - REESFFRAI3ITEET - &
E T _=F+_A=1+—HItEE(aE
FEISZZBZ=0F )R 4K25.98 88T
H18.7% (=T =BfF : 189.0B B T) °

() HEFEER IR i

REA - REHEXEBRRITLEH
EmZBARL419.08 88T (R
11.0%) E£4153.38 8 T(ZE ==
W 172388 T) c ZRIEE
RN FEEITE LFIREERT
B KBRS GEERE - HER
HERZBLBEIEEN - BFET
PR AR BUR Bk B INEILA R 3
EHBNEETE -

(i) HEHT

RER - REFEHT ZWAIZ ML
1.0B BHAT(2kiBiR100%) £4)1.2
BEAT(ZE_=8IF : 02885
TT) o RIS RIDAEEBREBINREA
BRI R RERENNER - R
TUHF  AEBERZSEMK
{518 #TAR4E -

(ii) HEMEMS R (2355512

RERN - KB #HEMEMS K 5 5% 28
HEZIRARD 798 BT (K
47.9% ) EH86ABHITL(ZT =8
F:165ABEIIL) c Z FERTIAR
BMHEFR—EXrEZRL,TR—EEAR
MEMS & E 2V ERIER - AKRH
N5 RSIRSSFTE ©

Annual Report 2024
2024 F3}

15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI E)

Cost of sales

During the Year, cost of sales decreased by approximately HK$10.1 million,
or 8.6% to HK$106.9 million (Corresponding Year: HK$117.0 million), which
was due to the decrease in production activities in line with the drop in sales
volume and revenue of our Group during the Year, partially offset by the
relatively fixed manufacturing overheads costs.

Gross profits and gross profit margin

During the Year, gross profits decreased by approximately 21.9% to
HK$56.2 million (Corresponding Year: HK$72.0 million), because of the
decrease in revenue and the decrease in gross profit margin. The gross
profit margin for the Year was 34.5% (Corresponding Year: 38.1%). The
decrease in gross profit margin was primarily attributable to the relatively
fixed nature of the manufacturing overhead component in our Group’s cost
of sales despite the drop in sales volume and revenue resulting a decrease
in production activities.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, administrative expenses increased by approximately
22.1% to HK$33.7 million (Corresponding Year: HK$27.6 million), which was
primarily attributable to the one-off redundancy payment for manufacturing
labour associated with the automation upgrades of production lines incurred
in the second half of 2024 and the professional fees incurred after the listing
of the shares of our Company in June 2024.

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Year, selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 8.0% to HK$23.0 million (Corresponding Year: HK$21.3
million), which was contributed by one-off expenses incurred related to
trade show and market promotion activities conducted in the Year.

(Loss)/profit for the Year

Taking into account the listing expenses of approximately HK$9.8 million
charged to the profit and loss statement of the Group for the Year, we
recorded a loss for the Year of HK$23.2 million, as compared to a profit for
the year of HK$5.0 million for the Corresponding Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

We have adopted a prudent financial management approach towards our
cash management and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position for the
Year. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors our liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of our assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet our funding requirements from time to time.
During the Year, we upheld a strong financial position, underpinned by our
successful listing on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in
June 2024. As at 31 December 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of
HK$7.5 million (as at 31 December 2023: HK$1.1 million), ensuring sufficient
liquidity to support ongoing operations and strategic initiatives. The current
ratio of 1.1 times (as at 31 December 2023: 1.1 times) and gearing ratio of 0.9
time (as at 31 December 2023: 0.8 time) of our Group further underscore our
robust financial health. The issued share capital of our Company comprised
of 512,500,000 ordinary shares of nominal value of HK$0.001 each. Our
bank borrowings increased from HK$51.0 million as at 31 December 2023
to HK$65.7 million as at 31 December 2024 and carried variable interest
at 4.5% to 8.7% per annum during the Year (FY2023: 4.5% to 9.1% per
annum). The Listing has significantly enhanced our capital resources and
shareholder base, providing a solid financial foundation for future growth
initiatives.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment of our Group as at 31 December 2024
increased to HK$52.3 million from HK$44.0 million as at 31 December
2023, primarily due to the increase in acquisition of machineries and moulds
during the Year.

Net current assets

Net current assets of our Group as at 31 December 2024 increased to
HK$12.6 million from HK$9.8 million as at 31 December 2023, primarily
because of the combined effect of the increase in cash and cash equivalents
and decrease in trade and other payables during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI E)

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayment

We grant credit terms to customers generally for a period of 90 days from
the invoice date for trade receivables. Trade receivables of our Group as at
31 December 2024 decreased to HK$32.1 million from HK$32.7 million as
at 31 December 2023.

Trade and other payables

The credit period on purchases from suppliers ranges from 0-120 days or
payable upon delivery. Trade payables of our Group as at 31 December
2024 decreased to HK$24.4 million from HK$36.5 million as at 31 December
2023.

Details of trade and other payables of our Group are set out in the note 22
in the audited consolidated financial statement.

Pledge of assets
As at 31 December 2024, our Group had no pledge of assets.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, our Group was committed to acquire property,
plant and equipment for our manufacturing and sales operation of HK$3.0
million (as at 31 December 2023: HK$2.8 million).

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, we did not have any outstanding guarantees or

other material contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Year, we did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP

Our Group did not have any significant investments held during the Year.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Majority of our Group’s revenue is denominated in US$ and RMB. However,
we have certain trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, bank
balances and bank borrowings that are denominated in foreign currencies
relative to functional currencies of the respective group entities. As a result,
we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchanges rate. Our Group
currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of our Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the need

arise.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MAJOR INVESTMENTS

We intend to utilise the net proceeds from the Listing in accordance with
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
Save as disclosed therein, our Company did not have any other future plans
for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI E)

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, our Group had a total of 312 employees (as at
31 December 2023: 410). Our Group’s remuneration policies are aligned
with relevant legislation, market conditions and employee performance.
Employees are compensated based on their job responsibilities, skills,
expertise, experience, and prevailing market trends. All employees are also
eligible for discretionary bonuses, which are awarded based on individual
performance. We regularly review its remuneration policies and packages,
making necessary adjustments to ensure they remain in line with industry
standards.

On 20 May 2024, our Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2024
Share Option Scheme”) to incentivize or reward eligible participants for
their contributions to our Group. As at 31 December 2024, the Board, based
on the recommendation of the remuneration committee of our Company,
resolved to grant 5,150,000 options in total to eligible participants under the
2024 Share Option Scheme. The options granted represent approximately
1% of the issued share capital of our Company as at the date of Listing.
Following the grant of options on 31 December 2024, there were 46,100,000
outstanding share options available for future grant under the 2024 Share
Option Scheme. The details of the grant of share options are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 31 December 2024 and 27 January
2025, respectively.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The aggregate net proceeds from the Listing, after deducting related
underwriting fees and other expenses in connection with the Listing (the “Net
Proceeds”), were approximately HK$31.35 million. We intend to utilise the
Net Proceeds in accordance with the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, our Group’s planned allocation and the actual

utilisation of the Net Proceeds are set out below:

Usage

Increasing production capacity and
capabilities in the PRC

Intensifying sales and marketing
efforts in the global market
including PRC market

Purchasing ERP system and
upgrading the information system
in support of the ERP system

Strengthening R&D and material
engineering capabilities

General working capital
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The unutilised Net Proceeds are currently held in bank deposits and it is

intended to be applied in the manner consistent with the allocations as

disclosed in the Prospectus.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for FY2024.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed

to waive any dividend.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard interests of its shareholders (the “Shareholders”)
and enhance the Company’s long-term value and accountability. The
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) recognise that effective
corporate governance is essential for guiding management decisions,
strengthening internal controls, and achieving operational efficiency.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code
of corporate governance.

From the date of listing, i.e. 3 June 2024 (the “Listing Date”) to 31
December 2024, the Company has applied the principles and complied
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save and except the
deviation as follows:

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Both the roles of the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the Group (the “CEQ”) are
currently performed by Mr. Tong. The Board has carefully evaluated this
arrangement and considers it to be in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole. With his extensive experience in the
semiconductor industry and precision engineered plastics manufacturing,
Mr. Tong is responsible for the overall strategic planning and general
management of our Group and his knowledge and insight has been
instrumental to the growth and expansion of the business of our Group
since the founding of our Group. The Board is of the view that consolidating
leadership under Mr. Tong enhances operational efficiency and ensures
continuity in decision-making, particularly given the Group’s current scale
and business complexity. To safeguard governance standards, the Board
emphasises that the current structure is supported by robust oversight
mechanisms. The Board comprises eight members, including four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director, and three independent non-executive
Directors, all of whom bring diverse expertise and actively contribute
independent perspectives. Major decisions are subject to rigorous review
by the relevant Board Committees (including the Audit, Remuneration,
and Nomination Committees) and consultation with senior management,
ensuring accountability and balanced deliberation. Hence, the Directors
consider that the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management can still be maintained under the current structure and the
present arrangement is beneficial to and in the best interest of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstances.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

To uphold robust corporate governance standards and to fully comply with
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board will regularly review the
need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles of the Chairman
and the CEO separately.

CORPORATE CULTURE, VALUE AND STRATEGY

At UBoT Holding Ltd, our corporate culture is rooted in engineering
excellence and a relentless commitment to delivering value through
innovation. As a specialized provider of trays, tray related products,
carrier tapes, MEMS, and sensor packaging solutions, we prioritize
precision, reliability, and customer-centric service. Our culture is defined
by collaboration, continuous improvement, and a shared dedication to

advancing semiconductor and electronic manufacturing processes.

Guided by our mission to enhance customer productivity and profitability
through engineering competence and service excellence, we invest
strategically in research and development, particularly in cutting-edge
MEMS technology, sensor packaging, and automation. These investments
strengthen our position as a trusted partner in the semiconductor supply
chain while driving cost efficiencies and product quality.

Our vision to become a leading global provider of engineering solutions
in the semiconductor and electronic manufacturing industry shapes
our strategy. By leveraging our experienced teams in engineering,
manufacturing, and customer support, we focus on expanding our
technical capabilities, optimizing production processes, and exploring
new applications for our technologies. This approach ensures we remain
agile in meeting evolving market demands, reinforcing our role as a critical

component of our customers’ success.

Aligned with the principles of the CG Code, we foster transparency
and accountability across all operations, ensuring our strategies and
values translate into sustainable growth and long-term value creation for
stakeholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RERERE (E)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for setting the Group’s strategic direction, defining
management objectives, and overseeing performance to ensure alignment
with stakeholders’ interests. Day-to-day operations are delegated to the
executive team, while the Board retains ultimate accountability for the
Company’s success. To enhance oversight, specific responsibilities are
assigned to Board committees (e.g., Audit, Remuneration, and Nomination
Committees), which provide specialized governance in their respective
areas. Detailed committee roles are outlined later in this report.

The Board maintains effective governance through monthly updates on
financial results, operational progress, and risk management. Management
must seek prior Board approval for significant transactions, capital
commitments, or strategic initiatives exceeding delegated authority,
ensuring alignment with the Group’s risk tolerance and strategic goals. A
clear division exists between the Board’s governance role that focusing
on strategy, risk oversight, and shareholder value and management’s
responsibility for daily operations and compliance reporting. This structure
ensures accountability while enabling efficient decision-making within
defined boundaries.

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
which include:

(@ to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(©) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in the corporate governance report.

UBoT Holding Limited
BEZERERLA

Y

EEeREHERKENKE R - REER
BRYEERR - UERTERFDENNE -
PREEXHATERAER  MEESAHA
RRNRINAERREE - RIREE - EF
ZEg(NERZ  FHRREZES)EIEA
BEE  ERSFEaMAERHEEXER X

EXSRATAETMBRE  2EERNMA
BRERRERAUERL - EEEAFESHE
FEHRABARS  BEAFGRRBHEENE
BEERAE - MERASERERR A 8L R AE B
SRR - EFENERACEENRE
FEREEREREE HEBBENAEARE
BRARRE  MEZEBERRERD - 2B
AHEREIR - RSERENEERETER
R

ExgaA(HPeR)ETEEEATANT
AR EA2VEFFHMEEE RS - 815

(@) HE MR AR R MR EERBER
R YAEFSRNES

(b) R REREENSREEENE
RSBERER

© BIRERADDEETEERES
R E B R

@ HIE BUYLEREANEENES
HEBRTEARARTFMIE) + Rk

e BEAARRETEEERTINBER
RECEERMENHIHE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The composition of the Board during FY2024 and up to the date of this
annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yuen To (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Kai Leung

Mr. Shek Kam Pun

Mr. Tam Ming Wa

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsz Lun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Oi Fat

Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin

Mr. Wong Lok Man

Other than the information disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” section of this annual report, the Board confirms
that, based on its knowledge, there were no significant financial, business,
family, or other material relationships among Board members as of the date
of this report.

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the Board at all times complied
with Rules 5.05(1), (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, maintaining a
Board composition of at least three independent non-executive Directors,
representing over one-third of the Board. Among these independent non-
executive Directors, at least one individual possesses relevant financial
expertise or professional qualifications as required under the GEM Listing
Rules. Each independent non-executive Directors provided annual
confirmation of their independence during the Year, and the Company
considers that all independent non-executive Directors were independent
in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules as of the date of this
report.

Each of Mr. Wong Tsz Lun, Mr. Chan Oi Fat, Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin and Mr.
Wong Lok Man (all being Directors appointed during the financial year ended
31 December 2024) has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 5.02D
of the GEM Listing Rules on the date of each of their appointments and
such Directors confirmed that they understood their obligations as Directors
of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RERERE (E)

DIVERSITY

Board diversity

The Company has implemented a Board Diversity Policy to guide the
achievement and maintenance of a balanced and sustainable development
for the Group. The Company recognizes that a diverse Board brings
significant benefits, ensuring that its members collectively possess the right
mix of skills, experience, and perspectives to support the Group’s business
strategies and long-term growth.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Group aims to achieve diversity across
various dimensions, including age, skills, expertise, regional and industry
experience, educational background, race, gender, and other qualities.
These objectives are measurable and will be reviewed regularly to assess
their appropriateness and track progress toward achieving them.

As of 31 December 2024 and the date of this annual report, the Board
consists of eight members, seven of whom are male and one is female,
representing approximately 12.5% female participation. The Directors bring
a wide range of educational qualifications, with diplomas or degrees in
fields such as engineering, social science, arts, and business administration.
Their professional backgrounds span manufacturing, sales and marketing,
legal, risk management, corporate finance, and accounting, ensuring a well-
rounded mix of expertise.

The Group is committed to promoting gender diversity at all levels,
including the Board and senior management. While the Board believes it
currently meets the diversity requirements under the GEM Listing Rules, it
remains dedicated to increasing female representation over time as suitable
candidates are identified. The effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy will
be reviewed annually to ensure it continues to meet the Group’s evolving
needs and supports its commitment to diversity and inclusion.

Diversity in workforce

In FY2024, the Group employed 312 full-time employees (including senior
management), comprising 173 males and 139 females. This results in a
workforce gender ratio of approximately 1 male to 0.8 female, reflecting
a balanced representation of genders across all levels, including senior
management.

The Group is committed to fostering an inclusive work environment and
recognizes the value of diversity in driving innovation, enhancing employee
engagement, and supporting sustainable growth. To this end, the Group
periodically reviews internal records on gender diversity and other aspects
of workforce composition to identify areas for improvement.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD PROCESS AND MEETINGS

The Board holds regular meetings at least four times a year, with meetings
scheduled approximately every quarter. The Directors are provided with at
least 14 days’ notice for regular Board meetings to allow sufficient time to
prepare and suggest agenda items. For other Board and Board Committee
meetings, reasonable notice is given to ensure all Directors can participate
effectively. Prior to each meeting, the Directors receive the agenda and
all necessary supporting materials in a timely manner to enable thorough
review and informed decision-making.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are prepared to
provide a clear and detailed record of discussions, decisions, and actions
agreed upon. Draft minutes are circulated to all Directors for their comments
within a reasonable timeframe after the meeting, and final versions are
distributed for their records shortly thereafter. The Company Secretary
maintains these minutes and ensures they are accessible for inspection
by Directors at any reasonable time upon request. Additionally, Directors
have the right to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, when appropriate to fulfill their duties effectively.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assess the directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
independent non-executive directors including the following:

° required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to
fulfill their roles;

° time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;
° firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;
° declaration of conflicts of interest in their roles as independent non-

executive directors;

. no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of
their independent judgement; and

° the chairman meets with the independent non-executive directors
regularly without the presence of the executive directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RERERE (E)

The Board has reviewed the above mechanism and considers the same has
been effectively implemented in FY2024.

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, three Board meetings, one
audit committee meeting and one remuneration committee meeting were
held while no nomination committee meeting and general meeting was
held*. The attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:

EEE 0 LMES - YR BZEHER =
T FEBREN

AEmBASE_S-WF+_A=+—H #
BITZREFTEEH - —NEZZECEEK
—RFMEEGER  MUBBITIREEZES
gHRERERE  c FEFHHERHIENT
*:

Attendance/No. of meeting held during FY2024
HERE BN FRTHNERIH

Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee
2Eg EREEE yMzes
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tong Yuen To BIREE 3/3 N/A NEH 1/1
(Chairman and Chief (EEFTEAES)
Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Kai Leung PR SE S A 3/3 N/A i N/A N
Mr. Shek Kam Pun AR A 3/3 N/A i N/A i
Mr. Tam Ming Wa EAAEESL A 3/3 N/A N N/A N
Non-executive Director FEHITES
Mr. Wong Tsz Lun mIEBAE 3/3 N/A N N/A N
Independent Non-executive ¥V IEHITESE
Directors
Mr. Chan Oi Fat REEEE 3/3 1/1 1/1
Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin BELZ 3/3 11 N/A @
Mr. Wong Lok Man FRREE 3/3 1/1 1/1
* The first annual general meeting of the Company after the Listing is * RIBAMERMANES6E - ARF LW

scheduled to be held on 18 June 2025 in accordance with article 56 of the
Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee held a meeting on 25
March 2025 and, amongst other matters, reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and recommended to the Board for consideration
the re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Under code provision B.2.2. of the CG Code, each of the executive
Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors,
including those appointed with a specific term, are subject to retirement and
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company after
his/her appointment and will also be subject to the retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Each executive Director has entered into a
service contract with the Company, while each non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Director has signed a letter of appointment.
These agreements have an initial term of three (3) years, commencing from
the Listing Date, and are subject to re-election in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association. The terms of these agreements also
include provisions for termination as outlined in their respective contracts or
letters.

Non-Executive Directors

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 3 years and are
subject to rotational retirement and re-election in accordance with the article
of association of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all the Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors, are subject to retirement
by rotation and eligible for re-election. At each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
will retire from office by rotation provided that every Director will be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RERERE (E)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities transactions
by Directors which are the same as the required standard of dealings as
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors have also requested
any employee of the Company or Director or employee of a subsidiary of
the Company who, because of his/her office or employment in the Company
or a subsidiary, is likely to possess inside information in relation to the
securities of the Company, not to deal in securities of the Company when
he would be prohibited from dealings by the Model Code as if he/she was a
Director.

Our Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors,
that all the Directors have complied with the required standards of dealings
throughout the Reporting Year. Additionally, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior management of the
Group.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

All executive Directors are under salaried employment of the Company.
During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the emoluments
of Directors and senior management based on their skills and knowledge,
job responsibilities and involvement in the Group’s affairs, and the Group’s
financial performance and profitability, as well as the prevailing market
conditions.

No Director should be involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
The remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management are determined by the Remuneration Committee, which
comprises only independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration
package offered to executive Directors and senior management comprises
core fixed elements (including basic salary, retirement benefits scheme
contributions and other benefits) as well as discretionary variable elements
(including discretionary bonuses).

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director for FY2024 are set out
in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
senior management (excluding the executive Directors) by band for FY2024
is set out below:

HrENAR B!

Emolument bands

Nil to HK$1,000,000

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Company recognizes that ongoing professional development for
Directors is essential to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
and effective oversight of internal control systems. In alignment with
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company ensures all Directors
receive structured induction upon appointment, equipping them with
a comprehensive understanding of the Group’s operations, strategic
objectives, and their legal and regulatory responsibilities under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (SFO), and other
applicable frameworks.

To support continuous learning, the Company funds and facilitates tailored
training programs, including in-house workshops and external seminars,
designed to refresh Directors’ knowledge, enhance their understanding
of evolving governance practices, and keep them abreast of updates to
relevant laws, regulations, and listing requirements. Throughout the year,
Directors are regularly updated on regulatory developments, industry
trends, and the Group’s operational progress to ensure their decision-
making remains informed and aligned with best practices. This commitment
to professional development underscores the Company’s dedication
to fostering a culture of accountability, transparency, and excellence in
governance.
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During the Reporting Year, all Director have participated in appropriate
continues professional development activities by way of attending training
session on regulatory updates, reading material or conducting academic
research relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Name of Directors E=pnE
Mr. Tong Yuen To BIREE
Mr. Chan Kai Leung PRERZS S
Mr. Shek Kam Pun AR LA
Mr. Tam Ming Wa RIS A
Mr. Wong Tsz Lun BB E
Mr. Chan Oi Fat RESLE
Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin HREL+
Mr. Wong Lok Man FERREE
Notes:

A. attending seminars, conferences and/or briefings on Directors’ duties and

corporate governance, regulatory updates, and financial and economic
development

B. reading regulatory updates, technical bulletins, newspapers, journals, and
other business, financial, economic publications and other publications on
topics relevant to the Group and/or on their responsibilities and obligations
under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

The Directors are also required to disclose to the Company annually the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments with an indication of the time involved. The
Board is satisfied that all our Directors have devoted sufficient time and
attention to their duties and the Company’s affairs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three committees — Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, and Nomination Committee — to oversee specific areas of the
Group’s operations. Each committee operates under clear written terms
of reference that align with the CG Code. These guidelines are publicly
accessible on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and code
provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Oi Fat (chairman),
Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin and Mr. Wong Lok Man.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

° ensuring the co-ordination between the external and the internal
auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing with the Company;

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors,
and any questions of their resignation or dismissal;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

. developing and implementing policy on engaging external auditors
to supply non-audit services;

° monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and the annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly
reports (if prepared for publication), and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them;
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° discussing the risk management and internal control system with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have effective systems. This discussion should include the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function; and

° reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies and
practices.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year pursuant to
the terms of reference for the Audit Committee.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee held one meeting to, among others, reviewed the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30
June 2024 and recommended the same to the Board for its consideration
and approval. The Audit Committee was of the opinion that the relevant
results were prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosures had been made.
All members of the Audit Committee attended the meeting. The Directors’
attendance to the meeting of the Audit Committee is listed on page 29
of this report. The Audit Committee held a meeting on 25 March 2025 to
review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and code
provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises an
executive Director, Mr. Tong Yuen To and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Lok Man (chairman) and Mr. Chan Oi Fat.

The Remuneration Committee members shall meet at least once a year
pursuant to the terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include but are not
limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

. reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

. making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
which should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

° considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

° reviewing and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and reasonable and not excessive;

° reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate; and

° ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee held one meeting to, among others, (i) evaluated
and reviewed the performance of the executive Directors and senior
management, (i) made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors (including non-executive Directors) and senior
management, and (iii) reviewed the grant of share options. All members
of the Remuneration Committee attended the meeting. The Directors’
attendance to the meeting of the Remuneration Committee is listed on page
29 of this report.

Review on grant of share options

The Company granted share options to eligible participants on 31 December
2024. Details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in the Report of the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved the grant of share
options to the Directors and considered that, taking into account their
length of employment/cooperation with the Group and with reference to
their industry experience, tenure and roles with the Group and contribution
to the development and growth of the business of the Group, the Directors
of the Group materially contributed to the development of the Group such
that an immediately vested Option is appropriate.

With regards to the vesting period of the grant of options to employee
participants, pursuant to the terms of the 2024 Share Option Scheme, a
shorter vesting period for options granted to employee participant(s) is
acceptable. The Board and the Remuneration Committee consider that,
taking into consideration (i) the length of employment of the directors and
employee grantees with the Group, (ii) their industry experience, (iii) their
roles with the Group, (iv) their contributions to the development and growth
of the business of the Group, and (v) such grant is within the industry norm
in order to retain talents in the semiconductor industry and can better
incentivise the grantees and to retain their service with the Group, the grant
of Options with a shorter vesting period is appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Neither performance target nor clawback mechanism is attached to the
Options. Regarding the grant of Options to the executive Directors, the
Remuneration Committee is of the view that performance targets are not
necessary since the value of the Options is subject to the future market
price of the Shares, which, in turn, depends on the business performance
of the Group, to which they would directly contribute, which could ensure
that they would be motivated to contribute to the Company’s development.
Regarding the grant of Options to the independent non-executive Directors,
the Remuneration Committee considers that the non-performance based
Options granted to each of the independent non-executive Directors are in
line with the past practice of the Company and the remuneration package
offered under their respective service agreements, which stipulated that,
subject to the decision of the Board to grant any options, each of the
independent non-executive Directors shall be an eligible participant in the
2024 Share Option Scheme.

In addition, the Remuneration Committee is of the view that a clawback
mechanism is not necessary considering the lapse and cancellation of
share options under various scenarios have already been provided for under
the 2024 Share Option Scheme, which could adequately safeguard the
Company'’s interests.

The grant of Options to the Grantees, including the service provider
participants, is to align the interests of the Grantees with those of the Group
through the ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid
on Shares and/or the increase in value of the Shares, and to recognize the
contributions made by the Grantees and to attract and retain talent for the
continuous operations and development of the Group.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises an executive Director, Mr. Tong Yuen To
(chairman) and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
Oi Fat and Mr. Wong Lok Man.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited

to:

° reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the corporate strategy of the Company; and

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the

Board and to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships.

Since the Company was listed on the Listing Date, no meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held from the Listing Date to 31 December
2024. The Nomination Committee held a meeting on 25 March 2025 and,
amongst other matters, reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board, assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and recommended to the Board for consideration the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Nomination Policy

The Company has established a formal Nomination Policy to ensure
the Board maintains a balanced mix of skills, experience, and diverse
perspectives aligned with the Company’s strategic needs. This policy guides
the nomination, appointment, and re-appointment of Directors, emphasizing
transparency, merit, and compliance with the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying and evaluating
Director candidates, including those proposed by shareholders, Board
members, management, or external search firms. When there is a vacancy
in the Board, the Nomination Committee will then identify suitable
candidates and convene a Nomination Committee meeting to discuss
and vote on the nomination of director(s) and make recommendation to
the Board on the candidate(s) for directorship. Candidates are assessed
based on their integrity, professional qualifications, expertise, and ability to
contribute meaningfully to the Company’s governance and success. Key
criteria include:

o demonstrated ethical standards, integrity, and alignment with the
Company'’s values;

° proven leadership or specialized expertise relevant to the
Company’s business, such as technical, financial, or industry-
specific knowledge;

° skills that complement existing Board members and address gaps in
expertise;
° understanding of fiduciary duties and commitment to dedicating

sufficient time to Board responsibilities;

° independence as defined under the GEM Listing Rules, particularly
for non-executive Directors; and

° diversity in gender, background, and experience to enhance Board
effectiveness.

The evaluation process may involve reviewing resumes, conducting
interviews, verifying references, and performing background checks.
Shareholder-nominated candidates are considered equally, provided they
meet the required standards. The Nomination Committee also prioritizes
Board succession planning to ensure continuity and alignment with long-
term strategic goals.

This policy aligns with the Board Diversity Policy and supports the
Company’s commitment to upholding the principles of accountability,
transparency, and effective governance under the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters, maintaining minutes recorded in
sufficient details of all the meetings of the Board and the Board Committees,
and facilitating induction and professional development of the Directors. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary
of the Company to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed.

Ms. Liu Ningyuan was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
on 3 March 2024. Please refer to the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for her biographical
information.

Ms. Liu confirmed that she has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
FY2024.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs, results and cash flows of the Group and are
in compliance with the relevant accounting standards and principles,
applicable laws and disclosure provisions required of the GEM Listing
Rules. As at 31 December 2024, the Board was not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, therefore the
Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes ultimate responsibility for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control and risk management systems to support the
Group’s operations, safeguard assets, ensure accurate financial reporting,
and comply with laws and regulations and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Group’s internal control framework includes a clearly defined
organizational structure with delegated authorities, operating policies, and
procedures. Division and department heads are accountable for achieving
agreed strategic goals within their areas, reporting directly to the Board.
Key controls are embedded across critical functions, including sales,
procurement, credit risk management, financial reporting, treasury and
human resources etc.

In the course of its operations, the Group is exposed to a range of risks,
including strategic, financial, operational, compliance, ESG and other
potential risks. The Board retains ultimate responsibility for the Group’s risk
management framework and delegates the day-to-day identification and
monitoring of risks to executive management. The primary objectives of this
framework are to strengthen governance and corporate decision-making
processes while protecting the Group from risks and losses that could
threaten its stability or objectives.

The Group’s risk management process includes an annual review to identify
and analyse risks, assessing their potential impact and likelihood, followed
by the development of mitigation plans tailored to address these risks.
The Group would choose certain material risk events in its field every year
and assess and grade the possibility of occurrence and influence of risk
events to determine the scope of material risk of the year together with the
management of the Group. Procedures have been designed to facilitate
the effectiveness and efficiencies of operations, safeguard assets against
unauthorized use and disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper
accounting records and the truth and fairness of the financial statements,
and ensuring compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.
Throughout the Year, the implementation of these plans is monitored, with
adjustments made as necessary to respond to changes in the business
environment or emerging risks. Once any material defects are identified,
it will be reported to the relevant department-in-charge and the Board
immediately for remedial action. This structured approach ensures risks are
managed proactively, supporting the Group’s resilience and alignment with
the CG Code.
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The Group has an internal audit function which conducts reviews on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. Such review is conducted annually and cycles
reviewed are under rotation basis. During FY2024, the Company engaged
an external independent internal control consultant to conduct a review
on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Group has implemented the recommendations from the
independent internal control consultant to improve and enhance the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Board and the
Audit Committee reviewed and considered that the internal control and the
risk management measures implemented by the Group were adequate and
effective, and could effectively ensure proper risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. Nonetheless, the internal control and risk
management systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established a Whistleblowing Policy to enable employees
and individuals engaged with the Group (such as customers, suppliers, or
business partners) to raise concerns about suspected fraudulent, unethical,
or illegal activities, as well as violations of laws or company policies
that could cause serious harm to the Group’s finances, legal standing,
or reputation. Concerns may be reported in person or in writing to the
Company Secretary, who will forward the information confidentially and
anonymously to the chairman of the Audit Committee. The chairman of the
Audit Committee will then review the matter, determine the appropriate
steps to address it, and may assign responsibility for further investigation or
action as needed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

ANTI-FRAUD POLICY

The Group has established a comprehensive anti-fraud policy to prevent,
detect, and address fraudulent activities that could harm its financial integrity,
operations, or reputation. This policy requires all Directors, employees, and
third parties engaged with the Group (including agents, consultants, and
contractors) to adhere to strict standards of honesty and ethical conduct,
in compliance with applicable laws and other relevant regulations. The
policy prohibits activities such as misappropriation of assets, falsification
of financial records, cyber fraud, or any intentional deception for personal
or organizational gain. Robust internal controls, regular audits, and a
confidential whistleblowing mechanism are in place to identify and mitigate
fraud risks. All reported concerns are investigated by the Audit Committee
or designated authorities, with corrective actions taken promptly to address
violations.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has established mechanism to guide Directors, senior
management, and employees in managing and sharing confidential
information. It includes procedures for identifying, handling, and monitoring
sensitive data to ensure compliance with legal obligations under the GEM
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (SFO). Internal
controls are in place to safeguard against unauthorized disclosure,
guaranteeing that material information is only shared publicly when required
by law or after appropriate confidentiality measures have been verified.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For FY2024, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of
the Company, Moore CPA Limited, in respect of the audit and non-audit
services (if any) is set out below:

Nature of services
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Non-audit services (Interim review)
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RERERE (E)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company, any
one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share
basis, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business in Unit 8, 35/F., Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong.

Putting forward Proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 8, 35/F., Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
Shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends to
put forward at Shareholders’ meetings regarding any specified transaction/
business and its supporting documents.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Communication with Shareholders
On 19 February 2022, the Company has adopted a Shareholders’

Communication Policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) to

formalize its commitment to fostering transparent, timely, and effective

communication with shareholders and the investment community. The

Shareholders’ Communication Policy aligns with the Company’s existing

practices by ensuring shareholders — both individual and institutional —

and other stakeholders have equal access to clear, balanced, and relevant

information about the Company. This includes updates on financial

performance, strategic objectives, material developments, governance

practices, and risk management, enabling shareholders to make informed

decisions and engage actively with the Company. To maintain open

dialogue, the Company utilizes the following channels:

1. Corporate Reports and Disclosures:

Annual reports, interim reports, and circulars are published
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Quarterly updates (if applicable) and other regulatory filings
are also made available online.

Timely Announcements:

Material developments, financial results, and corporate
actions are promptly disclosed through the Stock Exchange
and published on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

General Meetings:

Annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings
serve as forums for shareholders to engage directly with
Directors and senior management, ask questions, and
provide feedback.

Digital Platforms:

The Company’s website hosts a dedicated investor relations
section, featuring corporate communications, governance
documents (including Board Committee terms of references),
constitutional filings, and up-to-date contact details for
shareholder enquiries.
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PEERRE(E)
5. Share Registrar Services:
° The Company’s share registrar assists shareholders with

matters such as share registration, dividend payment, and
updates to personal details.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy during FY2024, the handling of
queries received (if any) and the multiple channels of communication
and engagement in place, and considered that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy has been properly implemented during the FY2024
and is effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company does not have a formal dividend policy or fixed dividend
distribution ratio. The decision to declare or pay dividend in the future as
well as the amount of any dividend will be contingent upon several factors,
including the result of our operation, cash flow, financial condition and other
relevant factors as deemed by our Board.

Subject to the requirement of law, the Board may from time to time
determine and pay to the Shareholders such interim dividends as it
considers appropriate or recommend the payment of special dividends and
final dividends which are required to be approved by the ordinary resolution
of Shareholders in general meetings of an amount not exceeding the
amount recommended by the Board.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted its amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association on 20 May 2024, which came into effect on the Listing Date.
Since then, there was no amendment to the constitutional document of the
Group in FY2024. The amended and restated memorandum of association
and Articles of Association is available on the respective websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements, which give a true and fair view of the
Group’s state of affairs, results and cash flows for the Year and are properly
prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the applicable
statutory requirements as well as accounting and financial reporting
standards.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In addition, the statement by the Independent Auditor regarding its
responsibilities on the Consolidated Financial Statements is set out on the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 82 of this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkaREEEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Tong Yuen To (“Mr. Tong”), aged 56, was appointed as Director on 7
February 2022 and re-designated as executive Director and appointed as
our chief executive officer and chairman of our Board on 22 April 2022. Mr.
Tong is also a director of the following indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of our Company, including UBoT Incorporated Limited, UBOTIC Company
Limited, UBOTIC Intellectual Property Company Limited, Dongguan UBoT
Electronic Packing Products Co., Ltd., Dongguan UBoT Enterprise Co.,
Ltd.*, and Dongguan UBOTIC MEMS Co., Ltd.*. Mr. Tong has more than
30 years of experience in the semiconductor transport media industry and
MEMS and sensor packaging industry.

Mr. Tong is responsible for major decision-making, formulating and
implementation of business strategies and overseeing the overall operation
of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Tong was the Vice President of Sales and
Marketing and later the President, primarily responsible for sales and
operation in Asia and Europe, of Peak Plastic & Metal Products (International)
Limited, a subsidiary of Peak International Limited and a company
incorporated in Hong Kong which is principally engaged in precision
engineered plastics manufacturing for the electronics industry, from March
2002 to May 2004 and from May 2004 to March 2006, respectively. He
also served as Vice President of Peak (International) Limited, previously a
NASDAQ-listed company, was responsible for the sales of various regions
from 1995 to March 2002.

Mr. Tong obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from
University of Toronto, Canada in June 1991.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Tong held the entire issued share capital and
is a director of Sino Success Ventures Limited, which, in turn, held 37.68%
shareholding in our Company.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Chan Kai Leung (“Mr. Chan”), aged 63, was appointed as an executive
Director on 22 April 2022. Mr. Chan is also a director of the following
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of our Company, including UBoT
Incorporated Limited, UBOTIC Intellectual Property Company Limited,
Dongguan UBoT Electronic Packing Products Co., Ltd., Dongguan UBoT
Enterprise Co., Ltd.*. Mr. Chan is responsible for overseeing the financial
control of our Group. Mr. Chan has been in the field of accounting and
financing for over 38 years. He joined our Group in February 2007 as
an accountant, responsible for accounting works, and was promoted to
financial controller of UBoT Inc. (HK) in March 2010. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Chan worked at various multinational companies. Mr. Chan
obtained a Professional Diploma in Management Accountancy from Hong
Kong Polytechnic in November 1984.

Shek Kam Pun (“Mr. Shek”), aged 53, was appointed as executive Director
on 22 April 2022. Mr. Shek is responsible for formulating our Group’s overall
strategic plans and supervising the sales and marketing activities of our
Group. Mr. Shek is also a legal representative of our indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, Shanghai UBoT Marketing and Promotion Co., Ltd.*. Mr. Shek
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Social Science from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 1996. Mr. Shek has been in the field of sales
and marketing for over 26 years. He joined our Group in February 2006 as a
regional sales manager (Greater China) and was promoted to vice president
of sales and marketing of UBoT Inc. (HK) in July 2016.

Tam Ming Wa (“Mr. Tam”), aged 59, was appointed as executive Director
on 22 April 2022. Mr. Tam is also a legal representative of our indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Dongguan UBoT Electronic Packing Products
Co., Ltd. and Dongguan UBoT Enterprise Co., Ltd.*. Mr. Tam is responsible
for formulating our Group’s overall strategic plans and supervising the
manufacturing operations. Mr. Tam obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Arts
in Business Studies with a major in International Marketing from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in September 1989. Mr. Tam has more than
30 years of experience in the semiconductor industry. He joined our Group
as director of operation to manage the overall factory operation in Shatian,
Dongguan, the PRC in February 2006. Mr. Tam was promoted to vice
president of operation of UBoT Inc. (HK) and UBOTIC in May 2015.

*

For identification purpose only
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Wong Tsz Lun (“Mr. Wong”), aged 40, was appointed as our non-executive
Director on 22 April 2022. Mr. Wong is responsible for providing guidance
on our Group’s strategy, policy and governance. Mr. Wong obtained a
Bachelor of Commerce from La Trobe University of Melbourne in Australia
in May 2006 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2011. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of
experience in the fields of accounting, auditing and financial management.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wong worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu’s
audit department from January 2007 to August 2014, with his last position
as a business development manager responsible for developing and
implementing business development strategies. From October 2015 to
December 2017, Mr. Wong later worked as the company secretary of
China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 3963),
a company engaged in the provision of financial leasing services in the
PRC and the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wong worked as the financial controller of China Financial International
Investments Limited (stock code: 721) until 24 July 2024.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chan Oi Fat (“Mr. Chan Oi Fat”), aged 46, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 May 2024. He is the Chairman
of the audit committee, a member of each of the remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan Oi Fat is responsible
for providing independent advice to our Board. Mr. Chan graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree of business
administration (honours) in accountancy in November 2000. He has been
a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since
December 2003 and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since October 2004. He has also been a life member
of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association since
March 2015. Mr. Chan Qi Fat is the Chief Financial Officer of SML Group
Corporation. Mr. Chan Oi Fat has over 20 years of experience in financial
management. He joined SML Group in April 2018 as the financial controller,
where he was responsible for the financial and accounting operations of
SML Group. He was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of SML Group
in February 2019 and he is responsible for the financial and accounting
operations of SML Group.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ma Jay Suk Lin (“Ms. Ma”), aged 51, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 20 May 2024. She is a member of the audit
committee of the Company. Ms. Ma is responsible for providing independent
advice to our Board. Ms. Ma obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Arts from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1995 and a Postgraduate Diploma in
Education from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in July 1998. Ms. Ma
completed the Common Professional Examinations of England and Wales
held by the Manchester Metropolitan University in July 2000 and obtained a
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in June
2001. She later obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Laws from the Manchester
Metropolitan University in September 2002 and a Degree of Master of Laws
from the University of Hong Kong in December 2005. Ms. Ma was admitted
as a barrister in Hong Kong in September 2001 and has more than 20 years
of experience in the legal industry. Ms. Ma served as a Deputy Special
Magistrate from September 2008 to September 2009, and as a consultant
on Hong Kong law at Beijing Bastion Law Firm from December 2018 to
December 2021 and since March 2022. Prior to embarking her legal career,
Ms. Ma was a secondary school English teacher and an assistant quantity
surveyor from September 1995 to August 1998 and from September 1998
to August 2000, respectively. Ms. Ma has been the chairman of the Appeal
Tribunal Panel (Buildings) since December 2018 and was appointed by the
Chief Executive of Hong Kong as the Deputy Chairman of the Administrative
Appeals Board of the Chief Secretary for Administration’s Office in June
2023.

EXkoRERERE(E)

ERE(ELZL]) 51 R-ZT_WFH
A+ REZERBIFNMTES - RAXR
BIEREEEKE - SUTABEREFSREHN
BYER - BREIR-NANAF+—ABGEE
BARBXELEM - WR—NANFL ARG
EERNARBHERREE - FLEIR T
TEEL AR S BT ARERTH R
BMEBEEREERARM YR -TT—F
NABSEBERBESMAEZES - HARZRY
—ETFNAARGERETFRTARERE
T YR -_TERF+ - ARGEEAE
FEBET RN - BREIN-TZ-F ARG
BEREMER  RNERITERBB20FK
B BRIRN_ZZEN\FAAZ_TZTAFA
ARERIRRIEHAE IR —FE-N\F+_A
ECECF+AURBIEI =R
AR R AR R AT B AR
REGEARBERR - SRR —AATFN
RE— W NANFNAE—HANFHLAE-Z
ZZE\AD R AT R EHE R BNIE TRR
Efb - BREE -_F-N\F+ - AREELHF
EHE(EEYERE AN _T_=F A%
BERTHREZERBUISRIAIRB AEITH L
HEBERIEF -

Annual Report 2024
2024 F3}

51



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Wong Lok Man (“Mr. Wong Lok Man”), aged 42, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 May 2024. He is the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong Lok Man is
responsible for providing independent advice to our Board. Mr. Wong Lok
Man obtained a Diploma of Business Administration from Sydney Institute
of Business and Technology in May 2003 and a Degree of Bachelor of
Commerce — Accounting from Macquarie University in July 2005. Mr. Wong
Lok Man has been a member of Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since July 2010 with more than 16 years of experience in the accounting
and audit industry. He worked as an Audit Trainee at K. S. Li & Company,
a certified public accountant firm in Hong Kong, from August 2005 to
December 2006 and was responsible for the provision of audit and assurance
services. He joined Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu’s audit department as an
associate in January 2007 and was promoted to a senior associate and
a manager in October 2008 and October 2011, respectively. Mr. Wong
Lok Man also has experience working for listed companies in Hong Kong.
After leaving Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in July 2013, Mr. Wong was the
financial controller and company secretary of L & A International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8195, currently known as Legendary Group Limited)
from October 2013 to May 2016, the financial controller and joint company
secretary of Kaisun Holdings Limited (stock code: 8203) from August 2020
to April 2021, and has been the financial controller and company secretary
of Zhonghua Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 8246) since June 2021.
Besides, Mr. Wong also served as an independent non-executive director
of China Trustful Group Limited (delisted, former stock code: 8265, “China
Trustful”) from December 2020 and November 2021 and China Financial
International Investments Limited (stock code: 721) from November 2020 to
January 2024.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Hui Yu Ching Andy (“Mr. Hui”), aged 583, is the Director of Manufacturing
Operations of UBoT Inc. (HK), primarily responsible for maintaining
production operations to fulfill delivery schedules, leading teams to perform
maintenance on all product-related equipment and mould tools, and working
with the engineering team to improve process flows. Mr. Hui joined in UBoT
Inc. (HK) in January 2011 as a procurement manager, the main responsibility
of whom includes leading the purchasing team in monitoring major vendors’
performances such as delivery schedules, quality of goods and price
improvements. He was later transferred to the manufacturing department
and worked as the senior manager of manufacturing from September 2016
to June 2021 before he was promoted to the current position. Prior to joining
our Group, from December 2004 to March 2010, Mr. Hui worked at China
Most International Limited, a general car accessories agent, with his last
position as project manager and was responsible for products development,
manufactures/suppliers communication and quality management.

Loh Chong Hou (“Mr. Loh”), aged 55, is the Director of Manufacturing
and Engineering (Tape & Reel) of UBoT Inc. (HK), primarily responsible for
leading new technology development and directing ongoing manufacturing
operations for tape and reel. Mr. Loh joined UBoT Inc. (HK) in September
2019 as engineering consultant and was promoted to his current position in
November 2021. Before joining our Group, Mr. Loh worked as an executive
(station manager) for SBS Transit DTL Pte. Ltd. in Singapore’s public
transportation sector from July 2016 to August 2019. Prior to that, he had
over 13 years’ experience of working in various companies in the areas of
semiconductor tooling and equipment, semiconductor packaging material,
including a Japanese chemicals manufacturer for printed circuit board and
flex tape industry, and a European medical materials and consumables
manufacturer. He joined Asahi Chemical Research Lab (S) Pte Ltd as a
marketing manager in August 2009, and Saint Gobain (SEA) Pte. Ltd. as an
application engineer of the performance plastics division in August 2015.
His tasks ranged from tooling and equipment design, quality assurance,
technical support, sales marketing, and engineering operations. Mr. Loh
obtained his bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from Western
Michigan University in the United States in December 1997 and his Diploma
in Manufacturing Engineering from Singapore Polytechnic in May 1989.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EEkoRERERE(E)

Kwan Kin Pui (“Mr. Kwan”), aged 60, is the Senior Manager (Product &
Technology Development) of UBOTIC, primarily responsible for leading new
product and technology development and directing mass production of new
product. Prior to joining our Group in January 2018, Mr. Kwan already had
more than 26 years of experience in semiconductor assembly, with expertise
in advanced integrated circuit packaging development, particularly in lead
frame type packaging and new product introduction to production ramp-
up. From February 2014 to February 2017, he had worked at QPL Limited
with his last position as a customer engineering director. He also worked
at UTAC Dongguan Ltd as a manager from August 2011 to December
2013, and at ASAT Limited (formerly known as Advanced Semiconductor
Assembly & Test Limited) as a product and process development manager
from May 1996 to January 2010. His tasks ranged from process engineering
to product and process development. Mr. Kwan obtained his Degree of
Bachelor of Engineering from the University of Birmingham in the United
Kingdom in July 1994.

Wang Huimin (“Dr. Wang”), aged 68, is the Director of Research and
Development and Materials Engineering of UBoT Inc. (HK), primarily
responsible for leading new technology development in product design, new
mould engineering and advanced materials including formulation design
and applications etc. Dr. Wang has more than 25 years of experience in
molecule design and materials design & manufacturing technology, and the
prediction of materials’ properties and lifetime. Prior to joining our Group
as engineering director in December 2009, Dr. Wang worked for Lai On
Products Industrial Ltd., a company principally engaged in production of
chemical materials products including clays, toys and fine chemicals, as a
technical manager from June 2003 to November 2009. His duties included
research and development of new products, instructing chemical materials
engineers on chemical products manufacturing procedures, setting up
cost effective and functional quality assurance control system of chemical
products, etc. He joined Hong Kong Polytechnic University’s Institute of
Textiles and Clothing as a research fellow from September 2001 to May
2003. He also worked at AquaGen International Pte Ltd as a research
fellow from August 1999 to November 2000, responsible for the research
and development of polymer system to be used in desalination plants and
polymeric packaging material in electronics industry, and as a research
associate at the Institute of Materials Research and Engineering of the
National University of Singapore from September 1997 to August 1999.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Liu Ningyuan (“Ms. Liu”), aged 32, was appointed as our company secretary
on 3 March 2024. She joined UBoT Inc. (HK) in February 2023 and has been
our Group’s assistant financial controller since then. Ms. Liu is responsible
to oversee the finance and accounting team. Prior to joining our Group, Ms.
Liu worked as assistant manager and representative of Type 1 (dealing in
securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities
under SFO of Southwest Securities (HK) Capital Limited from October 2021
to February 2023. She joined Ernst & Young as senior consultant from
November 2020 to August 2021 and worked as division compliance & risk
analyst in Dufry Group from March 2020 to August 2020. Ms. Liu joined
Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu Hong Kong from September 2015 to September
2019 with her last position as senior auditor. Ms. Liu has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since October 2018
and a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since
December 2018. She obtained a Bachelor’s Degree majoring in auditing
from Nanjing Auditing University in June 2015.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEETWME

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024” or the “Reporting
Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year
by business segment is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during FY2024 and a discussion
on the Group’s future business development are set out in Chairman’s
Statement as well as the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
6 to 10 and pages 11 to 15 of this annual report. A discussion on the
Group’s environmental policies are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report. An analysis of the Group’s performance during FY2024
using financial key performance indicators is set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 16 to 22 of this annual report.

Relationship with employees, suppliers and customers
The Group recognises that employees, suppliers and customers are crucial
for the Group’s sustainable development.

We strive to maintain a close relationship with our employees and provide
them with a competitive remuneration package and opportunities within the
Group for career advancement. We commit to provide high quality products
and services to our customers in order to enhance our competitiveness and
strengthen the cooperation with our suppliers.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group is exposed to certain market risk such as interest rate risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The details are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s financial condition and results of
operations would be affected by a number of factors. The principal risks and
uncertainties relating to the Group are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During FY2024, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group has not
been subject to any fines and/or penalties which had a material adverse
impact on our business and operations as a result of our non-compliance
with the laws and regulations.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to operate in compliance with the applicable
environmental laws as well as to protect the environment by minimizing
the negative impact of the Group’s existing business activities on the
environment.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2024, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers accounted
for 51.8% (2023: 54.9%) of the Group’s total revenue, and the Group’s sales
to its largest customer accounted for 17.3% (2023: 16.7%) of the Group’s
total revenue. During the same period, the Group’s purchases from its five
largest suppliers accounted for 67.4% (2023: 55.5%) of the Group’s total
procurement costs, and the Group’s purchases from its largest supplier
accounted for 28.2% (2023: 15.3%) of the Group’s total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Director, none of the Directors of the Company
or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued
shares of the Company) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(R)

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 86 of this
annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Year, all related party transactions as set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements were entered into by the Group
in the ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial

terms.

Save for the sharing of electricity supply with related parties as set out in
note 32(d) to the consolidated financial statements which constituted a
fully exempt continuing connected transaction exempt from all reporting,
annual review, Shareholders’ approval and all disclosure requirement under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, none of the related party transactions
as set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements fell under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, to the extent
that the related party transaction constituted connected transaction, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this Directors’ Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yuen To (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kai Leung

Mr. Shek Kam Pun

Mr. Tam Ming Wa

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsz Lun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Oi Fat

Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin

Mr. Wong Lok Man
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The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all
the independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules.

In accordance with Article 84 of the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall
include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire
by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for
re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to
retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined
by lot.

Accordingly, Mr. Tong Yuen To, Mr. Chan Kai Leung and Mr. Shek Kam Pun
will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the upcoming annual general meeting.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company,
the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.

Such provision was in force during FY2024 and remained in force as of
the date of this annual report. The Company has taken out and maintained
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance throughout the Year, which
provides appropriate cover for the Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(R)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and senior management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Company has entered into employment contracts or letters of
appointment with each of the Directors for a specific term, subject to the
renewal provisions contained therein and retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting. None of the Directors has employment
contract or letter of appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware that any of the Directors, the controlling
shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) competes or may compete with the
business of the Group and has or may have any other conflict of interest
with the Group during the FY2024.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
and senior management are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements. The emolument of the five highest paid individuals who are
not the Directors of the Company for FY2024 are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Emolument Policy

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) is responsible for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance, responsibilities within the Group and comparable market
practices.
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The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once for each year to
discuss remuneration related matters (including the remuneration of
Directors and senior management) and review the emolument policy of the
Group. It has been decided that Remuneration Committee would make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors and senior management.

Management Contracts

Save for the service agreements, no other contracts concerning the
management and/or administration of the whole and any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed for FY2024.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Particulars of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statement. No
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) were used to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions and
Connected Transactions” in this report of the Directors, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance, to which the Company, its
holding company, fellow subsidiaries or its subsidiaries was a party and in
which the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

None of the Directors or their respective associate (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules) was granted by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
any rights or options to acquire Shares or debentures during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(R)

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders as defined in the GEM Listing Rules, in the
context of the Company, means Sino Success, Mr. Tong, Busy Trade,
Mr. Tang, Ms. Tang, Mr. CL Tang and Mr. CM Tang (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) and the executive Directors have entered into a deed of non-
competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) on 20 May 2024 in favour of
the Company (for itself and as trustee for and on behalf of its subsidiaries),
details of which are set out in the Prospectus. Pursuant to the Deed of Non-
competition, the Controlling Shareholders and the executive Directors have
undertaken to the Company (for itself and as trustee and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) that with effect from the date of Listing, among others, he/she/
it would not and would procure that none of their close associates and/
or companies controlled by him/her/it, whether on his/her/its own account
or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company and
whether directly or indirectly, not to, carry on a business which is, or be
interested or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any rights or interest
or otherwise involved in (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner,
agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any business
which is similar to or competes or is likely to compete directly or indirectly
with the business currently and from time to time engaged by the Group
(including but not limited to backend semiconductor transport media design,
development, manufacture and sales of tray and tray related products
and carrier tape as well as provision of MEMS and sensor packaging, and
businesses ancillary to any of the foregoing), in Hong Kong and any other
country or jurisdiction to which the Group markets, supplies or otherwise
provides such services and/or in which any member of the Group carries on
business mentioned above from time to time.

Our Controlling Shareholders had provided us with written confirmation with
respect to their compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-competition
during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance with the
Deed of Non-competition and are satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-competition during the
period commencing from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2024.
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms which are the same as the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors,
that all the Directors have complied with the required standards of dealings
throughout the period. The Company was not aware of any non-compliance
during the period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the shares (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provision
of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest

EEnE B0/ EmitE

Mr. Tong Yuen To (“Mr. Tong”)
HiEEE(BRE]) EyEnhEEER (MEE2)
Concert party interest (Note 3)
—BEITE) A R (P EE3)
Beneficial owner (Note 4)

B e AE4)

Beneficial owner

EmEB A

Beneficial owner (Note 4)
Ema AE4)

Beneficial owner

Emfia A

Beneficial owner (Note 4)

BEaEEAA(HE4)

Mr. Chan Kai Leung
PRS2 e 4

Mr. Shek Kam Pun
AR L&

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2)
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Percentage of

Number of issued share
Shares held (L) capital
HE#T
BFEROHE L) BAEZBDLE
(Note 1)
(f3E1)
193,125,000 37.68%
157,500,000 30.73%
500,000 0.1%
7,500,000 1.46%
400,000 0.07%
5,625,000 1.10%
400,000 0.07%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

ExgREE)
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest
EEnE B, mits
Mr. Tam Ming Wa Beneficial owner
ERRESE BmEAA
Beneficial owner (Note 4)
B AMEE4)
Mr. Wong Tsz Lun Beneficial owner (Note 4)
=BT A BmEa AMEE4)
Mr. Chan Oi Fat Beneficial owner (Note 4)
PREEE KA BmEa AME4)
Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin Beneficial owner (Note 4)
HER L Ema AE4)
Mr. Wong Lok Man Beneficial owner (Note 4)
THRESE Ema AE4)
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.
2. These Shares are held by Sino Success. The issued share capital of Sino

Success is legally and beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Tong. Mr. Tong is
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Sino Success is interested in
under Part XV of the SFO.

3. Pursuant to the concert party deed dated 15 September 2023, entered into
among Sino Success, Mr. Tong, Busy Trade, Mr. Tang, Mr. CL Tang, Mr.
CM Tang and Ms. Tang, Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in 157,500,000
Shares held by Busy Trade under Part XV of the SFO.

4. These represents the interests of share options granted but not exercised to
the Directors.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or
chief executive of the Company or their respective associates had interests
and short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

None of the Directors or their respective associate (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules) was granted by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
any rights or options to acquire Shares or debentures during the period.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) had or deemed or taken to have interest
or short position in Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein:

Name Nature of interest
L=t Ry

Sino Success Ventures Limited
(“Sino Success”)

Beneficial owner (Note 2)
BB A(ME2)

Concert party interest (Note 4)
—BUTE)A T (I 5E4)

Others (Note 9)

HAth (Hi5E9)
Busy Trade Limited (“Busy Trade”) Beneficial owner (Note 3)
ERARAR(EER]D BalEA A (ME3)

Concert party interest (Note 4)
—HITE A iR (i)
Others (Note 9)
Hh (KEE9)
Mr. Tang Ming (“Mr. Tang”)
BIERE A ([ BBk D) R EE R s (PFE3)
Concert party interest (Note 4)
—BATEA R (M EE4)
Others (Note 9)
HAtr (Hi5E9)

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 3)
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Number of Percentage of
Share(s) held (L) shareholding
HEN
BRHEE L) ERES L
(Note 1)
(Fff5E1)
193,125,000 37.68%
157,500,000 30.73%
500,000 0.1%
157,500,000 30.73%
193,125,000 37.68%
500,000 0.1%
157,500,000 30.73%
193,125,000 37.68%
500,000 0.1%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

=R )

Name

mE/ BB

Mr. Tang Chak Leung (“Mr. CL Tang”)
HERAE(HEREE]D

Mr. Tang Chak Man (“Mr. CM Tang”)
HERAE(HEREED

Ms. Tang Wai Ling (“Ms. Tang”)

Nature of interest

EmnE

Concert party interest (Note 4)
—BATE A TR (M E4)
Others (Note 9)

H A (FiI7H9)

Concert party interest (Note 4)
—HITB A TR (T 5E4)
Others (Note 9)

Hh (KMH5E9)

Concert party interest (Note 4)

HErat((8at]) —HITE A i (i F4)
Others (Note 9)
Hh (K5E9)
Ms. Wong Mei Yee Interest of spouse (Note 5)
BEEELLT P as (P 7E5)
Ms. Wong Ching Wa Interest of spouse (Note 6)
TRELL Pt as (Pl 7E6)
Ms. Wong Bik Kwan Interest of spouse (Note 7)
BEELL P e as (PR =E7)
Mr. Cheng To Yin Interest of spouse (Note 8)
HEErt P Rz (P 7E8)
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.
2. The entire issued share capital of Sino Success is legally and beneficially

owned by Mr. Tong. Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Sino Success is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

3. The issued share capital of Busy Trade is legally and beneficially owned as
to 70.2% by Mr. Tang, 12.4% by Mr. CL Tang, 12.4% by Mr. CM Tang and
5% by Ms. Tang. Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
Busy Trade is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

UBoT Holding Limited
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Number of Percentage of
Share(s) held (L) shareholding
HEMN
BRHEE L ERES L
(Note 1)
(Fff5E1)
350,625,000 68.41%
500,000 0.1%
350,625,000 68.41%
500,000 0.1%
350,625,000 68.41%
500,000 0.1%
351,125,000 68.51%
351,125,000 68.51%
351,125,000 68.51%
351,125,000 68.51%
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4. Pursuant to the concert party deed dated 15 September 2023, entered into
among Sino Success, Mr. Tong, Busy Trade, Mr. Tang, Mr. CL Tang, Mr. CM
Tang and Ms. Tang, (a) each of Sino Success and Mr. Tong is deemed to be
interested in 157,500,000 Shares held by Busy Trade, (b) each of Busy Trade
and Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in 193,125,000 Shares held by Sino
Success, (c) each of Mr. CL Tang, Mr. CM Tang and Ms. Tang is deemed to
be interested in 193,125,000 Shares held by Sino Success and 157,500,000
Shares held by Busy Trade under Part XV of the SFO as at 31 December
2024.

5. Ms. Wong Mei Yee is the spouse of Mr. Tang and she is deemed to be
interested in 350,625,000 Shares that Mr. Tang is interested in or deemed to
be interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

6. Ms. Wong Ching Wa is the spouse of Mr. CL Tang and she is deemed to be
interested in 350,625,000 Shares that Mr. CL Tang is interested in or deemed
to be interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

7. Ms. Wong Bik Kwan is the spouse of Mr. CM Tang and she is deemed to be
interested in 350,625,000 Shares that Mr. CM Tang is interested in or deemed
to be interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

8. Mr. Cheng To Yin is the spouse of Ms. Tang and he is deemed to be
interested in 350,625,000 Shares that Ms. Tang is interested in or deemed to
be interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

9. By virtue of Section 318 of the SFO, apart from the concert party deed, each
of Sino Success, Busy Trade, Mr. Tang, Mr. CL Tang, Mr. CM Tang and Ms.
Tang is deemed to be interested in the 500,000 shares in which Mr. Tong has
an interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors have not
been notified of any person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be recorded in
the register maintained under Section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme on 20 May
2024 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

(@) Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
or a reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group.

(o) Eligible Participants
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may grant options
(“Option(s)”) to any eligible persons of the Group (“Eligible
Participant(s)”), including:

(i) any directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) and employee(s)
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Group (including
persons who are granted Shares or the Options under
the Share Option Scheme as inducement to enter into
employment contracts with the Company or the Subsidiaries);

(i) any director(s) and employee(s) of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company;
and

(iii) any person (whether a natural person, a corporate entity
or otherwise) who provides services to the Group on a
continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual
course of business which are in the interests of the long-
term growth of the Group, including independent contractor,
consultant and/or advisors for research and development,
product commercialization, marketing, innovation upgrading,
strategic/commercial planning on corporate image and
investor relations in investment environment of the Company
but excluding any placing agents or financial advisers
providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers or
acquisitions, and auditors or valuers.
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(c)

(d)

The Board may consider various factors to determine the basis of
eligibility of the potential Eligible Participant, including but not limited
to the performance, length of engagement and contribution to the
Group.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company as from the Adoption
Date must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of listing. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any time
by approval of the Shareholders in general meeting provided that
the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed
limit. However, the aggregate number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Participant if any further
grant of options would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options but
excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
grant of the options exceeding 1% of the total number of Shares in

issue, unless:

(1) such further grant has been duly approved, in the manner
prescribed by the relevant provisions of Chapter 23 of the
GEM Listing Rules, by separate approval of our Shareholders
in general meeting at which the Eligible Participant and his/
her/its associates and all core connected persons of our
Company shall abstain from voting in favour of the resolution;
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(f)

BREE)

2 a circular regarding the further grant has been despatched to
our Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing
the information specified in, the relevant provisions of
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules (including the identity of
the Eligible Participant, the number and terms of the options
to be granted and options previously granted to such Eligible
Participant in the 12-month period, the purpose of granting
the options and an explanation as to how the terms of the
options serve such purpose); and

(©)] the number and terms (including the exercise price) of such
option are fixed before the general meeting of our Company
at which the same are approved.

Period within which the option may be exercised by
grantee under the option

A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer
of grant of an Option. Such consideration shall in no circumstances
be refundable nor be deemed to be part of the exercise price. An
Option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee (or
his/her personal representative(s)) at any time before the expiry
of the period to be determined and notified by the Board to the
grantee which in any event shall not be longer than ten (10) years
commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring on the last
day of such ten (10)-year period subject to the provisions for early
termination as contained in the Share Option Scheme.

Vesting period of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme

The vesting period for an option shall normally not be less than
12 months, except when such option is granted to the Employee
Participant(s) where (1) the Employee Participant’s employment is
terminated due to death, disability or any out of control event; (2)
the options are granted in batches during a year for administrative
and compliance reasons; (3) the options are granted under a mixed
vesting schedule which vest evenly over a 12-month period; (4)
the options are granted based on performance-based vesting
conditions instead of time-based vesting criteria; and (5) any other
circumstances render it fair, reasonable and appropriate to do so.
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(9)

(h)

Exercise price for share

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and notified to an Eligible
Participant, and shall be at least the higher of: (1) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the offer date, (2) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
Business Days immediately preceding the Offer Date, and (3) the
nominal value of a Share on the offer date.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten (10) years after the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme
on 20 May 2024.
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As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 31
December 2024 and 27 January 2025, during the term of the Share
Option Scheme, a total of 5,150,000 Options were granted on 31

December 2024 thereunder to subscribe for an aggregate of up to
5,150,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each in the share capital of
the Company. No performance target nor clawback mechanism was

attached to such options. A table showing the summary of the share

options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the Year is

set out as follows:

Exercise price
Type of participant Date of grant per share
saLg Bieg SRR
(Note 1)
ial)
Directors
£
Tong Yuen To 31 December 2024 HK$0.1796
Gt e S 11 el o 0179657
Tam Ming Wa 31 December 2024 HK$0.1796
i 3 el o 0179677
Chan Kai Leung 31 December 2024 HK$0.179
REs 12 o o 017967
Shek Kam Pun 31 December 2024 HK$0.1796
Vit “EIRETZAZT-H 017965 T
Chan OiFat 31 December 2024 HKS0.179
RE% 13 el o 0179677

UBoT Holding Limited
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Exercise period

2 January 2025 to

31 December 2026
CEIRF-RIEE

ZBONETCAETR
2 January 2025 to

31 December 2026
“EoRE-ACRE

RIRETIAZT-R
2 January 2025 to

31 December 2026
CECRE-ACRE

ZEDRETZAZTA
2 January 2025 to

31 December 2026
CECRF-RIRE

ZBORETCAET-R
2 January 2025 to

31 December 2026
“EORE-ACRE

TRIRETZAZT-R

Vesting period

5E8

Immediately vested

Immediately vested

il

Immediately vested

MEEE

Immediately vested

Immediately vested

il

Outstanding as at
1 January 2024

13
- A-BHAE

NA

—>1
e=3
E::|

NA

e
£
g8

BMARRBE AT _NF+ A
=t+—HAEkZZE-HAF-A=++tH
WASRE - NERERSIHR
A BREBERESINR_-_Z_MEF
+ZA=+—8ELE 5,150,000
FERRHE  URBEARRBRAFEHER
%5,150,000 /% & #%0.001 % s #) & 38
Bg o ZEREARE T ANETAE BB 12
Sk BB o PERIREERE 2
RHEOOERERMNT -

Number of share options and underlying shares

Granted

G

500,000

400,000

400,000

400,000

100,000

BREREEROSE
Outstanding as at
Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 31 December 2024
R-FomE
tZAZ1-H
Bl gitd BN AR
N/A N/A NA 500,000
TR TER AER
NA NA NA 400,000
Iyl TER R
NA NA NA 400,000
TR AR AR
N/A N/A NA 400,000
i TER AER
NA N/A NA 100,000
¥k TER R



Type of participant

HEETH

Wong Lok Man

2R

Ma Jay Suk Lin

B

T

Wong Tsz Lun

Rl

Sub-total

Pt

Employees

fE8

Senvice Providers

i

Note:

Exercise price Outstanding as at
Date of grant pershare  Exercise period Vesting period 1 January 2024
S
Rrag BROEE  7RY 5EE -R-BEAGE
(Note 1)
tial)
31 December 2024 HK$0.1796 2 January 2025 to Immediately vested NA
31 December 2026
RIRETZA1-A 01796 —3ZRF-AzRZ il Zx i
TRORETIAZT-R
31 December 2024 HK$0.1796 2 January 2025 to Immediately vested NA
31 December 2026
TRIRETZAZT-R 06T “FoRE-ACAE EEE TR
TROETZAZT-R
31 December 2024 HKS0.1796 2 January 2025 to Immediately vested NA
31 December 2026
ZECREFZA=TA 01796%T  —3-aF-AzRZ il NER

ZECNETZAZT-R

31 December 2024 HKS0.1796 2 January 2025 to Immediately vested NA
31 December 2026

ZECREFZA=1A 01796%T  —3-aF-AzRZ il NER
S e

31 December 2024 HK$0.1796 1 January 2026 to Vst on one year from NA
31 December 2026 date of grant

2 g 0796%T  Z3ZF-A-RE BRTAGE—F4 TR

CEOAETCACT-R BB

The exercise price represented the highest of (i) the closing price of
HK$0.1780 per Share as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant and immediately before
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of HK$0.1796 per
Share as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share of HK$0.001.
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Number of share options and underlying shares

Granted

B

100,000

100,000

100,000

2,100,000

2,075,000

975,000

GEE

EREREERAZE
Exercised Cancelled
B 35t
/A N/A
R R
/A N/A
i el
NA NA
Bl el
NA NA
Bl el
/A N/A
NaR el

Lapsed

BAN

NA

¥l

NA

=
£

NA

=
£

NA

¥l

BREE)

Outstanding as at
31 December 2024
RoBCRE
tZAZ1-H
AR

100,000

100,000

100,000

2,100,000

2,075,000

975,000

IEETEOAFE L BB R ZEEE L A
AT X AT 8 3 B IRE R TR & A AR (5 Uk
T{E0.1780/8 7T ¢ (i) B2 R H B Hi a7 A fE
EEABIFEMETBERERTREBRE
B FHWHE0.179678 7T + K (iii) i {7 EE
0.001 B L (KRS E ALE) -
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The number of Options available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit as at its adoption date was 51,250,000, representing
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of Listing.
Subsequent to the grant of Options on 31 December 2024, the total
number of the Options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme was 46,100,000, representing approximately 9.0% of the
issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares).

The number of Options available for grant to the service providers
of the Group was 7,687,500, representing 1.5% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date. Subsequent to the grant
of Options on 31 December 2024, the remaining number of Options
available for future grants to service providers of the Group is
6,712,500.

The Option(s) granted during the Year divided by the weighted
average number of shares issued by the Company for the Year is
approximately 1.0%. The estimated fair value of the options granted
on 31 December 2024 was HK$442,000.

The fair value of the options to be granted are calculated using the
Binomial Option Pricing model. The inputs into the model are as

RERM B ER - GTEIT R LRIE T A
¥ H 2 IR 2B R 51,250,000
D BN LT B IR BITRMO BN
10% - RZZE-_WMF+=-_A=+—H
R EARER - BRI EIIE T A
% b 2 i IR i 48 815 46,100,00017
IERR AR BITIRGD £19.0% (R B 1E
EEAFRR1D) ©

Rl T N6 B AR 75 e 7 2 s AR A
# A /&7,687,50010 - {5 LM AEE
BT AE1.5% - R-Z —[U4F
TZA=T—ARLERER - ATH
B TS E RS HER 2 RIRE
MEAEER B 56,712,50017 °

FARE 2 BERERUERBFAE
BIIRMOIMEFHE AL AE1.0% o R
RN+ A=+ HELNE
AR (EHET A TEA 442,000 BT ©

TR O BREN A TFETER =
BARREERNAGTE - HAZERX
HBIEINT

follows:

Option life 2 years
Share price HK$0.1780
Exercise price HK$0.1796
Risk-free rate 3.39%
Expected volatility 101.29%
Expected dividend yield N/A

Early exercise multiplier

UBoT Holding Limited
BEZERERLA

ranging from 2.20 to 2.80

fEAR 2F
M&E 0.17807% 7T
118 0.17967 7T

[ e 1) 2= 3.39%
SELEA] 101.29%
TEERRR B la iE A
FHITTEEEL N F2.20%2.80



USE OF PROCEEDS

Details of the use of proceeds from the Listing are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 21 to 22 of this annual
report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed Shares during the Reporting Year.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There were no other significant events that might affect the Group after 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF ANNUAL
RESULTS

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
with specific written terms of reference formulated in accordance with the
requirements of rules 5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee currently consists of all the three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Oi Fat, Ms. Ma Jay Suk Lin and Mr. Wong Lok
Man. Mr. Chan Oi Fat is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated results of the Group for
FY2024 with the management and is of the view that such results comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principle corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are
set out in the corporate governance report section set out on pages 23 to
46.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief at the date of this annual report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(R)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is
incorporated.

DONATION

During the Year, no charitable and other donation was made by the
Company (FY2023: Nil).

FOUR-YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last four financial years is set out on page 188 of this report. No financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been
published.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been audited by Moore CPA Limited. Moore CPA Limited will retire
and being eligible for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Moore CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM. There has been no change in auditors of the Company in
any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Tong Yuen To

Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

K| MOORE

Moore CPA Limited

1001-1010, North Tower, World Finance Centre,
Harbour City, 19 Canton Road,
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Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong & %
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T +852 2375 3180 F=]
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To the Shareholders of UBoT Holding Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of UBoT Holding
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 187, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HASAs”) issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 'S REPORT (Continued)
BIAZBEN RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

FAEE RTS8
BRE R IR TSNS L A HES
EH ARG N RERAESNEE -
PEEENE LR BERA M ERE R A
BRERITERE -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Key audit matter

B ET SR

Net realizable value of inventories

FERERFEE

At 31 December 2024, net inventory balance of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$60,375,000. During the year
of 31 December 2024, there was allowance of inventories of

HK$267,000.
RZZFE-_NF+-A=+—H ' BEEEsGFELHRFENE
60,375,000 - REEZE T _WF+-_RA=+—HIFE -

TFE## 267,000/ 7T °

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted

average method.
FERR AR # R EME R OBEEIIR - FERAKRN

REFIREEE -

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

”*i%fﬁﬂEEEB*WH SHEERTA N H EPTEER AR o

We focused on this area due to the significant value of
inventories and the material estimates made by management
on assessing the net realisable value of inventories.

ERFE WFEEX BEREN GFENA S RFHER SR
BRME  EEEHETULHE -

UBoT Holding Limited
BEZERERLA

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNMRERRETSE

Our procedures in relation to net realizable value of
inventories included:
EERFEA SR FEMETZIEF R

e To obtain an understanding of the management internal
control and assessment process of the net realisable
value (“NRV”) of different brands of inventories and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors, such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;

. THRERBHTRQMNEENTEEEE( TREE
ED%W%¥ﬂ&%ﬁﬂk’léﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁmﬁm
TEE R EMAE R B R KF (Pl st - F8E -
@%%%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%%%%W@ﬂ%ik%ﬁﬁm%
ATERRE

e To evaluate the future sales plans and product
characteristics through enquiries with management
and with reference to historical sales pattern and
its corresponding sales analysis, which contained
information as to historical selling prices and associated
costs necessary to make the sale;

e FAMERESHANS2ERETHERNRAMEREEDIT
(KB R EHERBRMEEMBENEBKAFTER) -
SHEARRE S E T B RAE MR

e To compare, on a sample basis, the unit cost of
inventories at the reporting date with sales price achieved
subsequent to the end of the reporting period;

J E;m?ﬁﬁia%mﬁm“uﬁ$@ﬁiﬂiém%ﬁ

e To test, on a sampling basis, the supporting documents
of latest selling prices of similar inventory items;

o FEIAIREF AR MR EENEAXMY

e To assess the appropriateness and reasonableness on
the NRV by evaluating the estimated selling price less its
costs to sell made by the management; and

o FANMAEERBELAMEAHEBBMESEKAR
FIRFENEEM RS &

BEED]

e To test the mathematical accuracy of management’s year
end calculation of provision for impairment of inventories.

o AFEREEFEFEFEREREOEERE -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREBE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets related to the business of back-end
semiconductor transport media
HEBHFERERNEEENYE  BERRBURCAEE
ERRERE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of segment
assets related to the business of back-end semiconductor
transport media subject to impairment assessment, are of
certain property, plant and equipment of certain right-of-use
assets of HK$50,730,000 and HK$10,843,000, respectively.

RZZEZNE+_A=+—0  SRintEREuTEE/N
D EE EREE GEITRIER4) 9 5 %50,730,0007% 7T &
10,843,000/ TCHE THI% « BB KR EURETEAESE

The recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets is determined based on the value in
use calculation of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belong. The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating unit
have been determined based on value in use calculations as
it is not possible to measure fair value less costs of disposal
because there is no basis to make a reliable estimation of the
amount obtainable from the sales of the assets in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. In estimating the amount of value in use, the net
present values of future cash flows are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset as key assumptions applied
in discounted future pre-tax cash flow projections, use of
appropriate discount rate, growth rate and budgeted income.
Such estimation is based on the units past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.
W~ BB KR DA R PR B A R P E) & BB TOAR IR B EE
BOREELBAGCREBENEEET - ReEEBMHNATK
Bl efEERIEEREBENELET - RE/SBMNI MELERET
FAEFNTE MBS 2ME L HEFRITHEEEEASZ
TR A TATRESt B AT ER SR - RMEFHEREE SR
B RRBReRECREFEDERNUREEREERBERRE
REANCRBEARRGARCRSTON - CREEMERE
BRERBEEWAMGE » At DEREUNBERBTRE
BREYHMSERNTER -

We identified the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets related to the
business of back-end semiconductor transport media as
a key audit matter due to the significant of the balance to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
significant judgment involved in assessing the amount of
impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets, hence we considered this as a key audit matter.

EERamFERERNTERENYE - BB LREARE
R#EBENRENEAERENFIE - WHHNESRE GRS M
BHEBEZTWES - BENEYE - WFERRENURERRE
ié%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ik%%'E&%%%Eﬁ%%ﬁ%%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
B AZBEN RS ()

R E R ETE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNMEERRENSE

e Understanding management’s process for identifying
impairment indicator;

o THRREEREMMREDNROER

e Understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls on how
the management perform impairment assessment
including the estimation of cash flow projection and key
assumptions used;

o THRYFHMAEMEREMMETREN G (RBEFTESR
SRR NP RIS RRR ) Z B A S B R AT AT

BR

e Assessing and challenging the management’s key
assumptions and estimates, which include the projected
revenue and growth rate, to historical results and in light
of current and expected future market conditions;

o REEAINRIEHARKTR  HAELEAEEEEBEXES
ERARRER R fhET - BEERRGE MIERE

e Assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate
applied in determining the value in use by benchmarking
against market data;

. %ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ~ﬂﬁ%%§i@%@@%%ﬁ$%é
=238

* Involving our internal valuation specialist to evaluate
the methodologies used in the impairment assessment,
and benchmark the discount rates applied to other
comparable companies in the same industry; and

o EZEMNAFHEERZEFERENEPAERNTE
WARITTEE AR & LN RIAL IR R EEE © R

e Performing retrospective reviews of impairment
assessment to test the accuracy of the assumptions
used and determine whether any adjustments to
the assumptions are necessary for the impairment
assessment as at current year end.

o HIRERMAEITRPES - ORISR RERH MM
ERAHEHANFEROBENLRECETENRE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 'S REPORT (Continued)
BIAZBEN RS ()

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are for the preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 'S REPORT (Continued)
BIAZBEN RS ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report.

However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Lai Hung Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P06995

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEBRmRHEMEEBAR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses

(Provision for) reversal of impairment
losses on financial assets

Administrative expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Research and development expenses

Finance costs

(Loss) profit before listing expenses
Listing expenses

(Loss) profit before taxation
Income tax expense

(Loss) profit for the year, attributable to
owners of the Company

Other comprehensive income

ltem that may be reclassified to profit or
loss:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for
the year

Total comprehensive (loss) income for
the year, attributable to owners of the
Company

(Loss) earnings per share

Basic and diluted (HK cents)

UBoT Holding Limited
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10
11

14

2024 2023
—EUE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
163,068 188,969
(106,861) (116,989)
56,207 71,980
449 145
(3,371) (2,174)
(105) 493
(33,733) (27,640)
(23,031) (21,282)
(3,795) (4,822)
(4,682) (4,784)
(12,061) 11,916
(9,829) (5,260)
(21,890) 6,656
(1,293) (1,618)
(23,183) 5,038
466 548
466 548
(22,717) 5,586
(5.1) 1.3




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Deferred tax assets

Deposits and prepayments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Amount due from a director

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Income tax provision
Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
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Notes
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15
16
26
18

17
18
19

20
21

22
23

24
25

A TBARR R
AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
RZZ-mE+=—A=1t—H

2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTBT FHTT
52,324 44,028
10,843 18,355
774 1,167
5,911 2,947
69,852 66,497
60,375 65,588
42,787 51,717
14,323 13,748
- 6,318

7,541 1,073
125,026 138,444
41,749 55,828
19 20

45 14,171
4,905 7,670
65,703 50,996
112,421 128,685
12,605 9,759
82,457 76,256
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

RAEMBHRRARE)

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
RZTEZWF+=—A=+—H

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other payables

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

* Amount less than HK$1,000

UBoT Holding Limited
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HK$’000 HK$’000

FTBT FHTT

8,453 14,742

137 137

81 -

8,671 14,879

73,786 61,377

512 -

73,274 61,377

73,786 61,377
©E 11,0008 7T



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE-Z-_NF+-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owner of the Company

ADREE AL

Share Share Other Translation  Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
RA REE  HitEE  RERE  REER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TAT FET FEx TEx TEL TAT
(Note)
(BE)
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—H—H = - 15,788 395 39,608 55,791
Profit for the year FREFI - - - - 5,038 5,038
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKA
for the year - - - 548 - 548
Total comprehensive income FREEWALE
for the year - - - 548 5,038 5,586
At 31 December 2023 ZTZ=F+ZA=1+-H = - 15,788 943 44,646 61,377
Loss for the year FABE - - - - (23,183)  (23,183)
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKA
for the year - - - 466 - 466
Total comprehensive income (loss) FAZERA(BR) B8
for the year - - - 466 (23,183) (22,717
Capitalisation issue BEALET 375 (375) - - - -
Share issued pursuant to the BERNEEETRG
share offer 137 68,613 - - - 68,750
Transaction costs attributable to ROBERIEZ HHAR
share offer - (14,244) - - - (14,244)
Dividend declare (note 13) ERRE (H3E13) - - - - (19,3800  (19,380)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZPOF+=A=1+—A 512 53,994 15,788 1,409 2,083 73,786
* Amount less than HK$1,000 * £ 51,0008 T
Note:  Other reserve represents the difference between the amount of share capital B . HiblEEEAQATDRITRASEEMSE

of the Company issued, and the share capital of UBoT Incorporated Limited
(“UBoT Inc. (HK)”) exchanged in connection with the Reorganisation (as

defined in note 2).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MEREMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HEZ-_NF+-A=1+—HLFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Provision for (reversal of) impairment
losses on financial assets
Finance costs
Loss (gain) on fair value change of
financial assets at FVTPL
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net changes in allowance for inventories

Operating cash flow before movement in
working capital
Movements in working capital:
Decrease (increase) in inventories
Decrease in trade and other receivables,
deposits and prepayments
(Decrease) increase in trade and other
payables
Decrease in contract liabilities

Net cash (used in) generated from operations

Income tax paid

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATIONS

ACTIVITIES

UBoT Holding Limited
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2024 2023
—ECE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
(21,890) 6,656
(24) (11)
6,888 10,819
6,582 6,481
105 (493)
4,682 4,784
964 411)
217 29
267 661
(2,209) 28,515
3,862 (4,560)
3,613 6,152
(10,908) 4,378
(1) (41)
(5,643) 34,444
(15,058) (6,664)
(20,701) 27,780




INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL

Advance to a director

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Repayment from a director

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL

Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank borrowings raised
Proceeds from issue of shares
Repayment of bank borrowings
Dividend paid

Issue costs paid

Repayment of lease liabilities
Interest paid

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
,Z?\ i/mi%( )

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE_Z-NF+-A=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
“E-NF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHT
REEE
BEWE - BELERE (16,010 (13,312)
BEEATEFABSNSHEE (7,487) -
M—ZEFBR (6,366) -
BEWE - BELKRENE RS
(3,483) (1,372)
RE—REBFEN 6,304 -
HERA AT A B SR & EMSHIE
5,922 -
B RS 24 11
HEWE - BERREEHIEA
- 539
RETEFMARESFE
(21,096) (14,134)
RS ED
MEENRITER 274,361 213,471
BT P15 5K 1R 68,750 -
BERITER (259,495) (220,124)
BEAIRRE (13,000) -
EATEEATRAR (9,648) (884)
EEHEAE (8,939) (7,163)
2RFLE (3,757) (3,732)
RESEENFG (FTA)REF8E
48,272 (18,432)
ReRBSEEYEMORD ) FEE
6,475 (4,786)
ERSETE
() @1
FUReRRSLEEY
1,073 5,900
FRESRRESEEY
7,541 1,073
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GENERAL INFORMATION

UBoT Holding Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman lIslands under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands on 7 February 2022 and its shares have been listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 3 June 2024 (the “Listing”).

The Company is controlled by Sino Success Ventures Limited (“Sino
Success”) and Busy Trade Limited (“Busy Trade”) collectively. Sino
Success is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong Yuen To (“Mr. Tong”), an
executive director of the Company, and Busy Trade is owned by Mr.
Tang Ming, Ms. Tang Wai Ling, Mr. Tang Chak Leung and Mr. Tang
Chak Man (collectively as “Tang Family”, Mr. Tong and Tang Family
collectively referred to as the “Controlling Shareholders”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), are primarily engaged in
the research and development, manufacturing and sales of back-
end semiconductor transport media and Micro-Electro-Mechanical-
System (“MEMS”) and sensor packaging (“Listing Business”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the functional currency
of the Company, United States dollars (“US$”). The directors of
the Company consider that presenting the consolidated financial
statements in HK$ is preferable when controlling and monitoring the
performance and financial position of the Group.

UBoT Holding Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparing for the Listing of the shares of the Company on GEM
of the Stock Exchange, the entities in the Group underwent a group
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) which involves interspersing
the Company and other investment holding companies between
UBoT Incorporated Limited (“UBoT Inc. (HK)”), and UBOTIC
Company Limited (“UBOTIC”) with the then shareholders.

Details of the principal steps of the Reorganisation are set out in
note 2 to the accountants’ report (the “Accountants’ Report”) as
included in the prospectus of the Company dated 24 May 2024 (the
“Prospectus”).

Pursuant to the Reorganisation described above, the Reorganisation
is merely a recapitalisation of the Listing Business with no change
in management of such business and the ultimate Controlling
Shareholders of the Listing Business remain the same.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ((“IFRS Accounting Standards”) or (“IFRSs”)) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which have measured at
fair value.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRSs AND CHANGES IN OTHER

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for

the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to IFRSs issued by IASB for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on or after 1
January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements.

For reporting entities applying IFRSs:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
IFRS 16
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and IFRS 7

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

UBoT Holding Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.
TO IFRSs AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) TR ZE8 @)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet 2 A8 B e AR A4 R 5T B PR B
effective MR E R R EIEFT A
AEBWHRREREA TS EHEN
REMR 2 F5THR A5 R & 2R R H
1EETA

FE P AT Bl PR B 7 R o
AR BT AURHtbE

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to IFRSs that have been issued are not yet effective:

BRI HREEN SRTEIER
FOR M EBRE TEMERT
BREERFET
$RZIERTA

BIRPBMEER BRKBERERE
Fo R ERM EENHALS
BIREREAFET
RZERIA

BRMBREEN KEERABENT

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments®

Amendments to IFRS9
and IFRS7

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity®

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and 1AS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture' F0RRERE HALELEZEN
FHERIF8E Y BELEIIE
(EHEN
Amendments to IFRS Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting BIRIBREEL ERSHRREELS

Accounting Standards

Standards - Volume 113

SRR ZERT

FHERIMERE N

ZiN #5111
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? Bl & A TR AT A2
E21R 2 ERTA
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial BIREI B4R BBRkP RN M
Statements* £185% wEE

! RAFE AR 2 &t 2 FEHIR

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined. R e
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 R-TE-_AF—A—BxRZ&MARA
ZEE AR -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2026. 8 RZZZRF-A—-HRZERR
2 FIEEARE AR
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. ¢ RIZB_+F—-A—Bd @M
2 FIEHAR AR

RN EEETEHE A A R AT B R
BREENREEIT ARG A EEA R
RORREGEVBRRELEEAY
2,

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when

the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of

the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of exhibition halls and warehouses that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is

not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease
term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise
of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentive receivables, based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that

are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net
assets in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), Singaporean dollars (“SGD”)
and Piso (“PHP”) to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. HK$) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve may be reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange

differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments made to Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Employees of the Group are covered by various government-
sponsored defined-contribution pension plans under which the
employees are entitled to a monthly pension based on certain
formulas. The relevant government agencies are responsible for the
pension liability to these employees when they retire. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these pension plans for the
employees which are determined at a certain percentage of their
salaries. Under these plans, the Group has no obligation for post-
retirement benefits beyond the contribution made. Contributions to
these plans are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Retirement benefit costs (continued)

Employees of the Group are entitled to participate in various
government supervised housing funds, medical insurance and other
employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly
basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the salaries
of the employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in
respect of these funds is limited to the contributions payable in each

period. Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRSs requires or permits

the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits
and accumulating annual leave that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit

obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a valuation model, further details of which
are given in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the goods or services received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EBAEiHEER @)
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments (continued) AR fn BERE 2 AT E)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into ETRENED BN AT ERTE
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but ZRRB RIETISREIGMS - DT
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the EERRME AN - ERREEY
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will SR EBORETESR NREM
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within TR —E D c B RBIRMEREER
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, BN P ERE - S2E) M AR I
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to e el ok R IR A T S S
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in RIEBEBIEM - IEEBIRMNERA
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an FEFER - WG RE R X
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions. 8 BRIETRER B RS &k R IR 6

RIS ERI

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market EARREEBGETMIS R K LR 5
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no M B AR R AE 57 B B0 B2 B) 1N & RE R
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non- X o W EZEBIE TS IEERE R
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective AIZSHRRAEEE - M wmmS
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided S IEBEEBIREREENK - AIIRARMA
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. HiRIB R, SRS IEFADIEX °
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a fisi 12 2 45 2R B A R SR AR S 2T T 228D
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been WIRBIEREDENK - AR DAERREY
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an MR EASFTRIRI X » tEobh » fWfE
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total AT EBR GO TR PMEFT A BT 2
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to WATEAEEME NS HEES
the employee as measured at the date of modification. - Bt S e RN
Taxation 18
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred e EE ARELEMEHAS
income tax expense. BI4EAN o
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. IR B JE AN AR IE T 3R 6 A B SR B A 5T
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” because of B o EERTUE M T BR A AR A A
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and B HERBRASHIRNEMEER
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for FERBLSKATIORL - BIH B AR TER
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or Bk AT - RERE YIRS MERR
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period. EREMEREBEMHOREAES!
BIBNEE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deduction
is attributable to the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4., EBREFTHERER@E
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued) BiIE ()

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable ¥T%Hﬂ$ﬂfﬁﬁ§$ﬁl§¥ﬂ REHE
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 Income Taxes Zﬁ’*liﬁﬁ EaBEREHEEE
requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets as a %%’%;TFH BB & 5 R E 1258 P T
whole. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease BVARTE o i FE SR BEE A8 AT AL A DR
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be AT HIR BT B 22 88 - AR ER B R SR B
available against which the deductible temporary difference can HEBEHBANELEHRBEEE - Wi
be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary FIB R L = ERERRIERIES
differences. & °

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally EEAETEENEE PHBEESR
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax EHBIEAEERE WS RER
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same W%F‘ﬁﬁlﬁ—ﬁmm%—iﬁffﬁqﬂ’\]?ﬂ%
taxable entity by the same taxation authority. BRI IR S E R B EE T -
Property, plant and equipment M BERRE

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated Y RE R EREIRA AR EE 25
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated TEREEZ R RERBE (B )RR
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. A BARRERDIER

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or ARAEE - HEXEEEMNMNEEY
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised FRRAR M2 R EE B
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying R KABIEEXEER  UEREE
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s BHEEMES @ REAEENEEK
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate FETERMEMB KR - ZFME
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and RETRAEREREFSBEED
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same ¥ BELRBERAERN ZEEE
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are REHEMYEEERRANEEREE
ready for their intended use. AIVEREE AR AT E -
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of TENERTABGER T AIER
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their FHIAMBEYZE - BFE RREEE K
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated IFEFIEREE o BT AIEAFEH -
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed FIrBEMTEF EBNEHREHR
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in iz - DA TE B R AR IR MR A (AT 1
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. Bl
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating

units.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4., EBREFTHERER@E
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right- M BERZEUARFEAESE
of-use assets (continued) ER{E(E)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal AT UK (B BB T A B R B AR B
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash AEEMmER zREE - SHEERE
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount B - SEABRTATRLER 8 5 AR 2K
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of ReERBUBREZHIRE - 2B RE
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) R E RIS E SR EEREE (K
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. ReEEBEM)FERR(RRRSR
7 EFARRZERBRELTFE) 2T
fitr o
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is WEE(KBeEASAM) 2] KE S
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount BAHENERE - WEE(BRE
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable EABM) cEEEREENKE S
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which B o BT EEIRAEM — Bz EES
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a ZEReESXBEUCEEENLO
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of ¥EEMNS  AEBUEBRBASEES
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of G (PRIEEZESEEENA
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that BREEEBESAHNOTEEE) 2KRE
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the BRZREEFABGHEAS 2AIKEE
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the o HEUREEER - REEBEAL
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 2oEREEAAEE(NER) MK
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata HE - AEBERBNIZREEE
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the BUHAEFREEENREERLO
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is "EEE‘EE?@EE o BEMKREETS
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if B EER R ER LS (AT
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount 2) FAEAEMWAIEE)RT(UE
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to mERE) NEEEMNMEEBE
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the BHRZEMNEMEESRSEELS
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised USRI DI o BIEE BN R
immediately in profit or loss. B ER -
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying R EBEREEED - AgZEE
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash- (KBeELAENIASEESENMA
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its &) 2 REEEE H A E S B EE
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does IEETE - MG IR REE NS
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined BEZEAE(KRSEABMNIRSEE
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash- BAAES)BAFEARERREBER
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A ST FTIERETE 2 BRIEME - REEIER
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or BN B P AERR ©
loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Research and development expenses
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements
in the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable estimate
can be made.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4., BREFTHERERE
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments TRITH

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a CREERSRABETCEREENA
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the ERMIESKIERXNETHA S RHER
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets CMEENME-—MREFHIRZSA
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular BERARKIER - —MEEER
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets IR — A& T 45 48 & S B M 7B A2 45 TF HAME
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by ARNEENEHEEES -

regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at TREEMEBBEVBRILZA T EE
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with TatE - MHERERE G BREERE
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 155 E TR EN TP ENELER
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition B S RWFIERIN - WHEHEHITES
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than BERGBREBEERAFETAERE
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or ([BRAFEFABEDHERMEEK
loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of SRAGERIN EEEERSHATIR
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial TIEERR T AR EMEESS
recognition. BEaEm A TE(ER) -

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the BERAEEDFECMEERERE
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of 18 B9 85 Ak 7R K 78 R 8 A B o0 e 1)L,
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant WARMEFRZNTE - BEMET)
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts RemEENSRABENTEIFHK
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and REME(MER) - ERRMETR
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective RBEWARNR(BEEXEERF
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) R—HHMFBENRERE R K
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, B R REAMREIITE)EF)
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount HRER IR R EFE MR o

on initial recognition.

1 08 UBoT Holding Limited
EEERERAR



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EBEAEiHEER @)
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SRTE(E)

Financial assets (continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets TREERE

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit NEEpERIE R R B R E &R 29
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other SETRETENeREE(BIEES
receivables and deposits, amount due from a director and cash REMBEWHRIBUARIZS « BIR—F
and cash equivalents) which are subject to impairment assessment BEEFIEURR S KESFEY)ET
under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date EHEEBE((FEHEERE ) ER
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. THRENR - BEEEBBESEN

SHmERHERN  ARMEERRB
IETER AR B Ep -

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible FHIEHEEEEENERE I AR
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. BRI A Rl B A MBS HE
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of ERTEHEERSE - AR - 128 A7
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are MEEEBE(M2EAFEREEBE]
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment RIEAIRN S B AR 1218 A i r] g B
is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, ERENEHITERNEAESREE
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general EERE D - AT TIRBA S EA R
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current AEEEBELCREL - URHEBAR
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future RERZ  BRELCERZARRGRE
conditions. HHA S E R 15 R SR RIS TR R 89 &T

EYEHTHEE

The Group always assesses lifetime ECL for trade receivables. REE-—ERE ZEWKIBT (2 H
TEEEEEE -

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss R EEMERMTAMSE @ ~&EEET
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a SEFR12EABHEEBENERE
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which B RIEEERR B VBERLAK
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether RIEIEM - FERIBERT - REEER
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases ZHITEHIE B EIE - sTA 2 R ERR
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. T HIFEHEEBB AR AR ER

MOREE BN A GEIE AR 2R
EIgm -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly:

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4., BREFTHERERE
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SRTE(E)

Financial assets (continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) CREEREBEE)

[0) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 0] EERBREEIEINGE)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, NE LA R - A&
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased ERE - BafaiEiG
significantly since initial recognition when contractual BOKRMVIATERIAZE - EERE
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the RAEIL - BRIEAEEAE
Group has reasonable and supportable information that EIEAAFEERNEERFRE
demonstrates otherwise. A=
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria ZJS'E I THERARBAEE
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase ﬁ BE LI R
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that 'ﬁ’xﬁl’\'& C WHEHEE SR - A
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in MR A BRI ee 51 © 2R d A
credit risk before the amount becomes past due. Z Bl R B R b #Y) 78 & 18

£

(ii) Definition of default (i) EBHNESR
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers RANEERREREMS &
an event of default occurs when information developed 1A BB 5 B sl A N ER 2R IE TS 1Y
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the FEEXRPAEBATKAIEEE
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in BENEEEA(REAEER)
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the B AEBRALELEHBRE
Group). H(TEEAEERENER

HHm) °

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default Nam Lo - REBER
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days =R ”‘“%mﬁlé%ﬁﬁﬁiﬂ%i
1+
~

past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable B BHCERE  BRIEXSE

information to demonstrate that a more lagging default BEEEAEBRBEMNEE

criterion is more appropriate. ARERESENENZTES
i e
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(il

Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivable, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A written off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management of the
Group to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount
with the exception of trade receivables where the correspondence
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of a group entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group entities are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and bank
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the

revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised

in the consolidated financial statements.

Current and deferred income taxes

Critical judgement is required in determining the provision for
income tax. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the period in

which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognised when management considers to be
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of

their actual utilisation may be different.

11 6 UBoT Holding Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling prices in
the ordinary course of business less estimated selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in economic conditions
in places where the Group operates and changes in customer taste
and competitor actions in response to changes in market conditions.
Management reassesses these estimates at each reporting date.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables
Trade receivables with credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of debtors
as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration the
Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s trade receivables and ECL are
disclosed in notes 18 and 30, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. RBER=iHE &zt eA

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BARZMEERIR @)
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) AT T AR ZENEEZRIE(E)
Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of- Y2 - ERARIE R S ER
use assets 1hErRE

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated M BERSEUAREREEET
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In BB RAFTELRE(RE)
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise R -RETEERGRER  K&EE
judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing whether BIEL FIET RAGE - CEHFAGEER
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable HEISEEMARKESE (N RE
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future REE) Y  RBHEFAEER
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of AR RENFRE - AR
the asset and the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in FERREFT AT NE ¢ A EE BRER
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections X(BREESREENREE MR
and an appropriate discount rate. The Group estimates the K)o REBlEgHtZEEMBRS
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets EABMNATKE SR - SEEEs
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable BESE I —BNDEEENEFTRLT
and consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise WAREESE - B AIKE &5
recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group of cash EZESEHBEAREENREELSE
generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets have been B/ NMERERE o B R &b
allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the (REReREEAF AR EIIER
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could L) B S EEAERTE -

materially affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property, plant RZEZWEF+=ZA=+—H" &
and equipment and right-of-use assets subject to impairment ETRENENDE  BEREE
assessment were HK$50,730,000 and HK$10,843,000, respectively, UWhkEABEENEEAABED N A
no impairment losses of property, plant and equipment and right- 50,730,000 7T 52 10,843,000% 7T -
of-use assets have been recognised. Details of the impairment of B EERME  BRERBEARS
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are disclosed AEEBEMRERBE B@EYE - K
in note 15. ERBEAREAREEERBEFE
BEERHIEE5 o

11 8 UBoT Holding Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDIER
()  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () SDHEREFFEHHBA
customers
2024 2023
—E g —EB-=4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
PsE FHET FET

Type of goods - at a point in time & R3ER| — A E — BRI 2

Sales of tray and tray related HE R LITRAMERD
products a 153,329 172,250
Sales of carrier tape HEHRT a 1,187 211
Sales of MEMS and sensor SHEMEMS [ E Rk 88
products packaging Emik b 8,552 16,508
163,068 188,969
Geographical markets HEmS
Southeast Asia R 52,956 69,152
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) HZEARILAE ([HE]) 47,732 49,342
Taiwan A 30,577 33,982
United States of America EFRERE 3,783 4,906
Europe BM 12,647 14,027
Hong Kong, Korea and Japan B4  BERAXR 15,373 17,560
163,068 188,969
Notes: BfsE
() These revenue has been classified as revenue under (@) ZEWRAERDEHERA
back-end semiconductor transport media segment in the EoRAEm L ERER
segment information. NEDFBETEURA -
(b) These revenue has been classified as revenue under MEMS (b) EQ%WJ\EEN\*BQHW
and sensor packaging segment in the segment information. T $5 BMEMS J 15 5%

HEDFIE T WA -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred to customers, being when the goods have been
shipped to the designated location (delivery). Following the
delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner
of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The
normal credit term is 90 days upon delivery.

There is no remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied) as at the end of each the reporting
period.

Segment information

Information reported to the chief executive of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
This is also the basis upon which the Group is organised. No
operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

The Group’s reportable and operating segments under IFRS
8 “Operating Segments” are as follows:

° Back-end semiconductor transport media -
Manufacture and sale of back-end semiconductor
transport media products, including JEDEC tray,
carrier tape and other accessories

o MEMS and sensor packaging — Manufacture and sale
of MEMS and sensor products packages

120 UBoT Holding Limited
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(iii)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Segment information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results from reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Segment profit

Other gains and losses
Bank interest income
Central administrative costs
Finance costs

Loss before listing expenses
Listing expenses

Loss before taxation

LN
SNEREHE
AHEHE

ol
HiphaRER
FITMBHA
PRITEAA
B

BEmRXAEE
LHAX

BHAIEE

6.

B MBRRM ()

AR o ERE R (@)

(i) D EBEM )
AT RARERE R 28R
EHEHRAREES -

BHE-Z_NE+_-_A=+—
BIEEE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
kR e P R P o ()

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WAERSEER &)

(continued)

(i) Segment information (continued) @iy DHBERGE)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z_NFE+=-A=+—
ALFE

Assets BE
Segment assets PHEE
Property, plant and equipment ER G
Right-of-use assets TRERE
Deferred tax assets ERRIEEE
Financial assets at FVTPL RATEF NERNS
Prepayments BRZE
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEEY
Consolidated assets GEEE
Liabilities BfE
Segment liabilities AEEE
Bank borrowings FITIER
Income tax provision ke
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIEAR
Lease liabilities HEBE
Consolidated liabilities Feaf

122 UBOT Holding Limited
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(continued)

(iii)

Segment information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Amounts included in the measure of 5t AGtE D EBEFISiER
segment profit or loss or segment  ENBEEN S -
assets:

Additions to non-current assets AEFRBEE

Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - BiE R REFE
equipment

Allowance for inventories FERB

REGRREE SRR

receivables recognised in profitor  TER{EEE

loss

Impairment losses on trade

Research and development expenses  #f %R %

6.

B MBRRM ()

AR o ERE R (@)

@iy DHBERGE)
BHE-Z_N&+_-A=+—
BIEEE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(i) Segment information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Revenue WA
External sales INPEEE
Inter-segment sales DEFHEE
Segment profit ok Yl
Other gains and losses Hilz REE
Bank interest income RATHEMA
Central administrative costs FRRITERAR A
Finance costs BIERAR
Profit before listing expenses B £ S AR
Listing expenses k%
Profit before taxation BRE A%

UBoT Holding Limited
BEZERERLA

WA KD EBE R @)

(i) DHBER(E)
HE-_Z_—#+-_A=+—

HIEFE
Back-end
semiconductor MEMS
transport and sensor
media packaging Elimination Consolidated
f&inyge MEMS
BENE EREHE i e
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FAT FET TEx TET
172,461 16,508 - 188,969
4 - @ -
172,465 16,508 @) 188,969
30,339 6,669 - 37,008
(2,145)
11
(19,227
(3,731)
11,916
(5,260)
6,656



6.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(i) Segment information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Assets
Segment assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

Amount due from a director
Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Bank borrowings
Income tax provision
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Consolidated liabilities

Back-end
semiconductor
transport
media
(et
BanE
HK$'000
FAT
EE
DEEE 223,186
nE - BERRE
EREEAE
EEHBEAE
BATETABRH
TREE
el — R EEE
e RRE5EY
BARE
BfE
nHaE 76,242
AT
st
ETHEAE
HEaE
wFeafk

6.

IREMEImAME(E)

WA KD EBE R (@)

(i) oHBER(E)
HE-_Z_—F#+-_A=+—

AIEFE
MEMS
and sensor
packaging Elimination Consolidated
MEMS
EREE i e
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TET TEx TERL
6,557 (48,852) 180,891
340
1,404
1,167
13,748
6,318
1,073
204,941
49,462 (48,856) 76,848
50,996
14171
137
1,412

143,564
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(continued)
(iii) Segment information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Back-end
semiconductor
transport
media
imrase
BHNE
HK$°000
THEL
Amounts included in the measure of T AGHE S EFEFISEE
segment profit or loss or segment  HAHEENSE :
assets:
Additions to non-current assets AEFRBDEE 13,252
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% + BiE RRETE
equipment 10,391
Allowance for inventories FE#EE 661
(Reversal) of impairment losseson ~ IMEFHER N E 5 U
trade receivables recognised in BREEE(EE)
profit or loss (464)
Research and development expenses % F % 4,822

(iv)  Geographical information
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the location of the assets.

Hong Kong B8

PRC (excluding Hong Kong) PR (CNEIERS)
Southeast Asia ek

United States of America EFIERE RE

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

UBoT Holding Limited
BEZERERLA

WA R D ERE R (&

(i) D ERER ()
BE-F-=41+-A=1—

HIEFE

MEMS

and sensor
packaging Elimination Consolidated

MEMS
BRSEHE i e
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$:000
TET FET TER
266 - 13,518
428 - 10,819
- - 661
29) - (493)

- - 4,822

(iv) EER
EBAEEFERDEEZEHR
REEMTHEVERY

2024 2023
—EClEF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiEx FAT
3,760 1,792
64,106 62,242

4 53

4 7

67,874 64,094

Mz : ERDEELTEBREER
TARBTERIAEE °



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(v) Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as
follows:

Customer | ZEI

Revenue from back-end semiconductor 7% [ 14 i - 2 52 & 5 /& B U A

transport media

Revenue from MEMS and sensor R EMEMS [ B RS H 2 U A
packaging

Customer I ZEI

Revenue from back-end semiconductor 7 [ 14 i - & 52 & 5/ E B U A

transport media

Customer Il ZFEI

Revenue from back-end semiconductor & [ 14 s - B a2 @i M E H U A

transport media
Revenue from MEMS and sensor REMEMS & (ERRE3 55
packaging 0] N

*

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group.

IREMEImAME(E)

WAR D ERE R (@)

(v)

FRIERZFNER
REEEFEERBRARNEE
B A10% 8 F H A 1A
T

2024 2023
—ENE —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
28,179 31,379
75 108
28,254 31,487
16,343 -
- 11,198

—* 10,539

= 21,737
44,597 53,224

* TR AT fE G RS E 42
A HI10% A E ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

7. OTHER INCOME 7.  HWA
2024 2023
—ENE —EC-=HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHEIT
Government grants (note a) BT B (Mdata) 147 56
Interest income FLEBA 24 11
Sundry income B 278 78
449 145
Notes: PHET
(@) The government grants mainly represent: (a) B HBE B
employment for the staff in the PRC of HK$56,000 for the i. Hz—_2-_=F+=AH
year ended 31 December 2023 (2024: nil), in respect of —+—HLFE  RER
training subsidies for employees staying on the job provided A B B TFT15#956,000/%
by the local government of the PRC. T(ZEZNE R) R/
FR B3 75 U PR e A2
BB THEalwhaL -

ii. employment for the staff in the PRC of HK$94,000 (2023: ii. BHE_ZT_WMFE+_-A
nil) for the year ended 31 December 2024, in respect of =t+—HILFE  5ER
subsidies for unemployment insurance policies provided by A B B TAT15#994,0007%
the local government of the PRC. T(ZEZ=F:F) ' &

"R B3 0T BT TR Y R
ERIBARS -

1 28 UBoT Holding Limited
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Loss on exchange differences, net

(Loss) gain on fair value change of
financial assets at FVTPL

Loss on disposal of property, plant and

equipment

FINANCE COSTS

Interests on:

— Bank borrowings and overdrafts

— Lease liabilities

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

M ERRER - HER

BATFEFFABRSNSREED
NFEZEH(EE) K

HEWE - BFERREBR

AN B IRHYFLE -
—RITIER BB

HibUk s & E518
2024 2023
—EE TECCE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
(2,190) (2,556)
(964) 411
217) (29)
(3,371) (2,174)
B S B AR
2024 2023
—ZENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
3,757 3,732
925 1,052
4,682 4,784
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BT ERIR M E ()

AN
A

10.

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss) profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and

ZHH e

W% - BB LRBITE

equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAERENE
Total depreciation mELsE
Directors’ remuneration (note 12(a)) EE1HM(HE12@)
Other staff costs H b8 B Rk A
- Salaries and other benefits —Fre REAMER

— Retirement benefit scheme contributions

(note i)

— Employee redundancy cost

Total staff costs (note ii)

Cost of inventories recognised as costs of

—EEEBRA

121 B B (B 5D

sales (note iii)

Net changes in allowance for inventories ~ TF &R {& %
(included in cost of sales)

Listing expenses EWHAZ

Legal and professional fee FEREEER

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed defined contribution scheme operated by the PRC
Government. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs as determined by local government
authority to the scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make
the specified contribution under the scheme.

Other staff costs of HK$34,041,000 (2023: HK$40,023,000) were
capitalized as cost of inventories, the remaining staff costs were
recognized in administrative expenses, selling and distribution
expenses and research and development expenses.

Cost of inventories include cost of materials amounting to
HK$40,108,000 (2023: HK$49,549,000).

1 30 UBoT Holding Limited

EEEZERARATF

10. BRBLAT (518 &R

— RORR A BV R (P D)

HERRIHE R AR B R A (P i)

FEGTASHEKA)

BRi AT (B4R ) )t A FNBR T HITR B 1%

R
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT THTT
825 641
6,888 10,819
6,582 6,481
13,470 17,300
7,908 6,168
47,076 47,768
6,088 6,732
2,377 -
63,449 60,668
106,861 116,989
267 661
9,829 5,260
4,298 2,631

i -

(i)

AEEEF RN ES R BB
LEMBREIR R EHRE B
8 o ARBRRENBNE REE
AT AR E B 2 Lema%at £
o UREFREES - AEH
HIRRRE A B —RAERIRE
ZATBELRS R MK -

H {12 8 5k 734,041,000 7T ( —
T~ =4 : 40,023,000) EAR1L B
BFERA - E4E BRI T
X SEE RO RS AR
RHER ©

FEMKABIEMELK 240,108,000
BT (—Z - =4 : 49,549,000/5
JL) ©



11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMEImAME(E)

11. FIBHFiBX

Income tax expense comprises: FriStif sz a4
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBENEB
- Current year —RAFE

— (Over) underprovision in prior years
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

—BEFE(BRER)BETR
B EAEHR ([ REMER )

— Current year —RAEE

— Overprovision in prior years — BT FEBEEE
Singapore Corporate Income Tax N SRS

— Current year —RAFE
Deferred tax (note 26) IRIERIE (FI7E26)

@i

(ii)

Hong Kong

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profit Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entity
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

PRC

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years, except for certain of
the subsidiaries are qualified as small and micro enterprises.
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, small
and micro enterprises entitled to tax rates of 5% on taxable
income for the first RMB3,000,000.

(ii)

2024 2023
itk —BC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET
1,858 970
(970) 769

32 16

©6) -

18 45

361 (182)
1,293 1,618

=58

IR E BSB89 FIS T R
B AEREEELENE2E
BB a5 128.25% H -
M2l BB T L ZEF iR
16.5% & - THAEBIKRSH
FISHMAHNEEEENS
F e e 1B 42 57— T K 16.5% K
e AL AEREEER
WE2E BB LA ERF R
FIEE BTG 8 128.25% 5T
Ho2EBBITALNGEE
TR A B B R 1S B IR
16.5%H& -

H
RIEPEMEMERE( R
FIERE ) ROCEMERAE
MR - A BT A B R R {E
FEZMEHYR25%  FE/)
A R SR 1 2 B 1 B o TR
BAFAIRIN - BEZT =
MZEZ=F+ZA=+—
ALEFE N RMAGES
EREBEERTBUABTARYE
3,000,0007T & HE 5% HFE ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BT ERIR M E ()

AN
A

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(iii)

Singapore
Singapore Corporate Income Tax is calculated at 17%
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in

11.

FriS#5 68 % (&)

(iii) o3
N RS Z‘METFWE%/Z
BERIE1T%TE

Singapore.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income as follows:

FAMSHAX ARG EER
2 EARAHERR DA (E1R )& H A]

R EA

HERWT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—ILEE

2024 2023
—EE —ECCF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Loss) profit before taxation FRA AT (18 )& T (21,890) 6,656
Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% #16.5% BRI KT E 2 18
(2023: 16.5%) (note a) (ZZ==%F 1 16.5%) (MI7ta) (3,612) 1,098
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARTWA 2 &
purpose (note c) (FF5Ee) (188) (155)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A H0FE BT 2 B 27 28 (B sEd)
purpose (note d) 2,018 1,099
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERBBE B 2 M2 4,629 -
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B AR HER IR IR B
previously not recognised e (479) -

Others (note b) EHAb (Mi5ED) = (1,016)

Tax concession MEE (156) (12)

Tax effect on two-tiered tax rate ARSI R 2 B 2 = (165)

(Over) underprovision in prior years BEFE(BRRE)ERETR (976) 769

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries EHM A AR S EW B A FTE

operating in other jurisdictions BEMTE 57 -

Income tax expense for the year FAMBHRX 1,293 1,618

Notes: PisE

(a) 16.5% is used as majority of the income tax provision is arising from () AR ABAFEHEREERES
Hong Kong. o 5(@?@16.5%§Jr§ °

(b) The amount represents the temporary differences between the (b) u)iillulzﬁuf%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁk CREBANRZ
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 31 =FErZA=t—Hz A%
December 2023 as disclosed in note 26. The temporary differences ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂfﬁfﬁﬁﬁE@ZFﬁmﬁﬁf
in respect of the carrying amounts between right-of-use assets and %%ﬁ R ZE=F+_H=+—
lease liabilities were not significant as at 31 December 2023. AR EEREEAEREE

Zﬁﬁﬁ—r§%ﬁlT§7{

(© The amount mainly represents government grants, gain on fair value () ZEREEZRBNFE - BRATE
change of financial assets at FVTPL and interest income that are not FAREMEREEN QT EES
taxable for tax purpose. %Z 5 DA R 3 FEFR T B 60 &) FLE

(d) The amount mainly represents the accounting depreciation, listing (d) ZEeMEBRSAWE -

expenses, provision for impairment losses on financial assets,
and other miscellaneous expenses that are not deductible for tax

purpose.

1 3 9  UBoT Holding Limited
EEERERAR

A eEERERE ﬁé{% LA &T
AN EMMIRER -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR e MR ()

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EERESTHRAEMS

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ SE=ED)

REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@ EERESTHRAEME
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, REEALEHRAREEQF
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the BOIFT R EN AT EES ki
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: EITIRABEMES 0T
Year ended 31 December 2024 BEZZE-_NFE+=-A=+—

BIEFE

Executive directors
Mr. Tong (note (i))
Mr. Chan Kai Leung
Mr. Shek Kam Pun
Mr. Tam Ming Wa

Non-executive director
Mr. Wong Tsz Lun

Independent non-executive
directors

Mr. Chan Oi Fat

Ms. Ma Suk Lin Jay

Mr. Wong Lok Man

BES

s (MEEG))
BRI
RIHEE
BRERL

FHTES
BRBIRE

BUFNTES
REHEE

BEL T
TERALE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12.

EERRETRAENE

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ RIEEH M @)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@ EERESITBRAEMSE
(continued) (%8)
Year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZ-_=F+-A=1+—
H
Salaries.
allowances  Discretionary
Directors’  and benefits bonus  Contributions
fee in kind (note (i) to MPF Total
e 2R WIBIEAL
EEYika BN (PaE() MBS @it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TET TAT TER TAT TET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Tong (note (i) A (IEE() - 2,580 215 18 2,813
Mr. Chan Kai Leung BRI E - 864 72 18 954
Mr. Shek Kam Pun AR E - 1,008 84 18 1,110
Mr. Tam Ming Wa ERELE - 1,208 65 18 1,291
Non-executive director FRTES
Mr. Wong Tsz Lun ERBEE - - - - -
- 5,660 436 72 6,168

134 UBOoT Holding Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (continued)

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Tong acts as chief executive of the Company with effect
from 7 February 2022 and his emoluments disclosed above
included those for services rendered by him as the chief
executive in management of the affairs of the group entities.

(ii) The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the
duties and responsibilities of the relevant individual within
the Group and the Group’s performance.

(iii) No other retirement benefits were paid to directors in
respect of their respective services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
undertaking.

(iv) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management affairs of
the Group. The non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

There were no emoluments was paid by the Group to any
director of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). None of the
directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:

nil).

Subsequent to the year end date, the share options granted
to the directors, in respect of their services to the Group
under the share option scheme of the Company were vested.
Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

IREMEImAME(E)

12. EENERITHAEMS
RIEEFHMN @

(@)

EERESTHRAEMS
(&)
B3 -

(i) GREBZE_F_A1
THRBREARAREFEHR
18 FEEABER
REEARERFEHNITELE
BEEEREB @R
HE IR o

(ii) BISTEAL T2 REEA S
EAEERNNBENRET
IRAEBREEME

T o

(iii) BEREEEEEANT
SHEMBARSEHAEN
RS M 1 5 =2 1+ H R AR
@A o

(iv) FBITESHNE A
SRHEAEEERER
MRS AR - LiltEeT
EERBUFNTEEHD
e B EEARARE
BIRMHREER -

BHE_Z-_MNE+_A=+—
HIEFE @ AEBWEEAD
A ES NS - fERMN
AR E o AR S B 14 1) 32
BB AE( T ==
m) HEZT-_WMF+=A
=+ —HIEFE  BERAF
EERE A B HRE T
(ZTZ=F : #|) -

MNELBR  BEFRRFE/N
SE PR ARTS MAREA AR
BREBER TREEEK
BB - B BT ENER
AP BHmARMEEST
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12.

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (continued)

(o) Employees’ remuneration
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included four (2023: four) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2023: one) highest paid
employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and discretionary &% -~ 3285 R EISEAL
bonuses
Contributions to MPF MR TES AR

1 36 UBoT Holding Limited
EEERERAR

EERRETRAENE

RIEEF M@
b) EEFHM
KAEAAEERS

R E

BIBRRNE(ZT =%
mE)EE - HFMFBEHN
EX -8 —B(ZFZ=
F:—FB)RFRRBESRN
FEEEITBA BN R HHE
BMFEHMFENAT

2024 2023
—ZTNE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHET

980 780

18 18

998 798




12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’

REMUNERATION (continued)

(o) Employees’ remuneration (continued)
The number of the highest paid employees including

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

£%1,000,000% 7T

1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001/ 7T £2,000,0007% 7T
2,500,001;87T,%3,000,000/8 7T

IREMEImAME(E)

12. ESERESTHAEMZ

REEE M @)

(b)

1B S H M (40)
BREARREEENNREEH
B i B F- 10 A TS EB B 9 A B
m

2024 2023
—EOE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT

1 2

2 2

1 -

1 1

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group
to the five highest paid individuals of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2023: nil).

Subsequent to the year end date, non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employee was granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. Details of the share option
scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RER  AEERERNALR
DEA L ASEABE - 1F
RIMAREB LR IARE
BiEm RS EEBREE(ZF
T=FE) e

RELAR - FEERIEFES
THRAEESHHEEMRKE
BB RTR AR TS M AR B AN
ANRERETESIEETER
7 o IR EIFIBENGE
BRSPS -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

13.

BT IRRMRE ()

DIVIDENDS

On 31 March 2022, subject to the Listing of the Company as the
condition, UBoT Inc. (HK) had declared conditionally an interim
dividend of HK$0.33 per share of UBoT Inc. (HK) amounting in the
aggregate of HK$11,220,000. Once become unconditional, the
dividend payable of HK$5,778,000, to one of the ultimate controlling
shareholders, Mr. Tong, was settled through offsetting the amount
due from Mr. Tong before Listing. The dividends declared to the
other shareholders of HK$5,442,000 were settled by cash on 31 May
2024 before Listing.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company declared
conditionally an interim dividend of HK$4,080 (2023: nil) per share
amounting in the aggregate of HK$8,160,000 to its shareholders.
Part of the dividend payable to Sino Success, one of the ultimate
controlling shareholders and wholly owned company of Mr. Tong,
was settled by offsetting the amount due from Mr. Tong in the
amount of HK$602,000. All the other dividends declared to shall be
payable to the shareholders of the Company was settled by cash of
HK$7,558,000 (using the internally generated funds) before Listing.

The Board has decided not to propose for payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

1 38 UBoT Holding Limited

EEEZERARATF

13.

i 2
RZZE-_—_F=A=+—H #£AR
Al EMERARERRT - BESE
BA KR E IR BREFREB D
#1215 0.33# T + 4258 411,220,000
BT B EENAEKGE &
REFP — B HEIERR RS L ERE
5,778,000/ 7T i LT A i FE W05 5t
ERIET LAERN o MEMKRRE IR
f% 55,442,000 7L EAITR ZF
ZHERA=+—HBUBSEN -

HEZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIHF
B AREIEE GG EKRREE IR
FHIRETR40808 T(ZTE ==
& &) - 8% 58,160,000 7T © fE
{JSino Success(FAIERME Y — &
A EREREAERN AR BB BIA
S e U5 5t A HY 7R 1B602,000/8 7T HY
FAEN - EIRTFARARBREOE
H A% 27,558,000/ 7L _ETHATLAR
SERRBEENER )M -

EEgOARBRTIHREBEE TS -_UF
+ A=+ —HULEFEBRREMRE
BE(ZZE=Z=F : #|&) -



14.

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to

owners of the Company is based on the following data:

(Loss) earnings:

(Loss) earnings for the year attributable to
owners of the Company for the purpose
of calculating basic (loss) earnings per
share

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic (loss)
earnings per share

(BB BH
At B EREXR(ER)BHMmE
A RREA AREFAER)

vl

RHEE
T EEREAN(EE)BFMSH
EIBACANRE T E

The number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic

(loss) earnings per share for both years are based on the assumption

that the shares issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue that took
place on 3 June 2024, which is the issue of 374,998,000 shares to
be made upon capitalisation of certain sums standing to the credit of

the share premium account of the Company as detailed in note 27.

No diluted (loss) earnings per share for both 2024 and 2023 were

presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for

both 2024 and 2023.

IREMEImAME(E)

R (EE)EF
ARERS AR SRERHR) A
RITYRIA T BRE S

2024 2023
—EClEF =4
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAT
(23,183) 5,038

454,644,809 375,000,000

RREFERTEGRELR(EHIE)R
M SHLBIREE DIRBER=F
ZHFERNAZBETHEREEITE
BITROOBRREL - BIRTFALR
BIRMEERENS TR E AN
15 ¥ 3 17374,998,000 1% f% 15 (R 5E
27FF)

HRZEZNFERZZE=FH8E
EEBETEERG - A E25 =
ToNER T - —FENEREE(ES
B&BF -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRE
Fixtures, Construction
furniture and Leasehold in progress
Machineries Moulds equipment  improvements (Note) Total
EEHE ERIR
e BRE  BARXE HEMERE (Htat) b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TEx TET THT TR
cost R
At 1 January 2023 A\—E-=%-A-H 46,046 86,920 24,433 12,414 851 170,664
Additions "E 1,759 10,465 487 211 596 13,518
Disposals HE (5,335) - (184) - - (5,519)
Transfers g% - - - 824 (824) -
Transfer from right-of-use BB RFEREAE
assets 2,324 - - - - 2,324
Exchange realignment B 5 HE (949) (1,048) (170) (295) (24) (2,486)
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=F+-A=1+—H 43,845 96,337 24,566 13,154 599 178,501
Additions HE 1,103 11,819 916 1,325 1,337 16,500
Disposals HE (1,764) (29) (12) - - (1,805)
Transfers g% - - - 322 (322) -
Exchange realignment B A% (865) (1,232) (180) (303) (17) (2,597)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZNFE+=A=1—H 42,319 106,895 25,290 14,498 1,597 190,599
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2023 i 33,756 66,345 22,315 7,097 - 129,513
Change for the year FR 2,580 6,507 627 1,105 - 10,819
Eliminated on disposals R (4,787) - (164) - - (4,951)
Transfer from right-of-use BB AFREAE
assets 407 - - - - 407
Exchange realignment AR (611) (439) (128) (143) - (1,315)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+-A=1—H 31,345 72,419 22,650 8,059 - 134,473
Change for the year FNg 2,132 3,031 598 1,127 - 6,888
Eliminated on disposals L ERHR (1,576) @ )] - - (1,588)
Exchange realignment B AE (561) (614) (146) (177) - (1,498)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZNF+=A=1—H 31,340 74,832 23,094 9,009 - 138,275
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2024 RZEZNF+=A=1—H 10,979 32,063 2,196 5,489 1,597 52,324
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+-A=1—H 12,500 23,918 1,916 5,095 599 44,028
Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the construction in progress izt : R-T-_WFR-ZT-=F1+=A
mainly represents warehouse and office construction works. =+—HB ERIREFEEEER

MAERETIR -
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15.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the useful lives at the following rates per

annum:

Machineries 10-33.3%

Moulds 10-20%

Fixtures, furniture and office 10-33.3%
equipment

Leasehold improvements 12.5-20%

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets related to the
business of back-end semiconductor transport media
Since there is loss before listing expenses noted for the year ended
31 December 2024, the management of the Group concluded
there was indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on certain property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets related to the business of back-end semiconductor
transport media with carrying amounts of HK$50,730,000 and
HK$10,843,000, respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the above assets
as one cash generating unit considering these assets as at 31
December 2024 are largely dependent with each other in generating
cash inflows for the Group and they are not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. The calculation of
value in use (the recoverable amount of the relevant cash generating
unit) uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management covering a five-year period and
applicable discount rate. Extrapolated growth rate used in cash flow
projections is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash flows which include budgeted
revenue, and such estimation is based on each cash generating
unit’s past performance and the management’s expectations for
future market development.

IREMEImAME(E)

Y% - BB RE@®
BRI - RS RAREE B R
ERNE TR A ERNITE -

HeES 10%£33.3%

et 10220%

BERE - F#M&  10E33.3%
MAERME

HEMERE 12.5220%

EgmF ERER N EEKER
E’J%% WEREEARERRE
RV E R
HREE-ZT-NF+=-A=1+—H
IHFEHE EMRAZAIEE  KEE
%}_EQMJ%TEMEH% NIZEPEEYE

mt B R EREREREENETY
¥ BEIREREAEEEETHR
ErE (R EREE S 5l 450,730,000
7L }210,843,00087T) °

AEBEWS BREEFR—EREESL
BAGHEATKREESE AR -
“MEFZA=+T—R RZEER
RASEELARSRAT @RI SE
KR8 Rt EXERATEATRE S
o meRREREENEEE
E o EREEGRERSELELMA
WElERR) St EERA N E IR EHEN
TERPBREERMRRSER
NIRRT REBIRA - R REFRRPE
FReHEEIE R XTI RN A E R
RIA - ETBBRBEXNRET
g RE - EAEEEENEME
RERHEBEEEWALANERE SR
BfhFHAR  ZAAERSREEL
BUMBERRIEEREHRKTS
ERHTEH -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

15.

BT IRRMRE ()

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets related to the
business of back-end semiconductor transport media
(continued)

The key assumptions and parameters adopted in estimating the
recoverable amount of the relevant cash generating unit include
average revenue growth rate at 5.1%, long-term growth rate at
3%, and pre-tax discount rate at 14.4%. Based on the result
of the assessment, management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount is higher than the carrying amount. The
recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amounts of
the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the
business of back-end semiconductor transport media. Based on
the above assessment, the directors considered that no impairment
identified on the relevant carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Besides, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the management
had based its determination of the CGU’s recoverable amount would
not cause an impairment loss.

142 UBoT Holding Limited

EEEZERARATF
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HERnFERERN EXKEH
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HYIRLERT A ()

et AR EE BN B SE
FTRANERBEMS2HBETY
WABERAE51% - REIEERA
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

COST

At 1 January 2023

Additions

Extension of lease term arising from a change in
the non-cancellable period of a lease (note a)

Early termination (note b)

Reduction upon completion/derecognition upon
end of lease term

Transfer to property, plant and equipment

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023

Additions

Early termination (note b)

Reduction upon completion/derecognition upon
end of lease term

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

EREEE

RES NI RGERNE S ME LR

16.
RN
R-ZE-_=F—H—H
=
TAEH(M5Ea)
RPRIE (H7Eb)

TRERD HEREREE L ER

HEEME - BEL&E

U 5

R-ZTB-=F+=-_A=+—H

wE
P& (M5ED)

SERIRIR D TR E RS IR R RERR

3 R

RZZE-NF+=-A=+—H

Leased
properties/
Machineries

N L/EVE
HK$°000
FHET

49,190
1,271

81
(188)

(1,089)
(2,324)
(1,297)

45,644
1,555
(3,826)

(11,821)
(1,115)

30,437
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

16. EHEEE®

Leased
properties/
Machineries
e L E Y
HK$’000
FAT
DEPRECIATION B"rE
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—H—H 23,016
Provided for the year FNEE 6,481
Early termination (note b) RFLLAE (3Tb) (110)
Reduction upon completion/derecognition upon TR, TAE R REBE LR
end of lease term (1,089)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment HEREYE - BRERZE (407)
Exchange realignment HE 5,5 # (602)
At 31 December 2023 RZTE_=F+-_H=+—8 27,289
Provided for the year FNEE 6,582
Early termination (note b) R (3ED) (1,785)
Reduction upon completion/derecognition upon TERIER D TAE RS RIB R EFER
end of lease term (11,821)
Exchange realignment ERTIEE (671)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-_WFE+—A=+—H 19,594
CARRYING VALUES fRE1E
At 31 December 2024 KRZB-MFE+=—RA=+—H 10,843
At 31 December 2023 WZB-=F+=-RA=+—H 18,355
Notes: BisE
() During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain lease properties (a) BE—Z-_=F+-_A=+—H1

with no extension options have their lease terms extended after
agreeing with the landlords.

(b) During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, a leased
property has been early terminated without any penalty.

(c) Details of impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets related to the business of back-end
semiconductor transport media are set out in note 15.
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16.

17.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Included in right-of-use assets with carrying values of nil (2023: nil),
are machineries as at 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group leases factories,
staff quarters, offices and warehouse premises (2023: factories,
machineries, offices and warehouse premises). Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 2 to 10 years, without any extension
nor termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, expenses relating to
short-term leases were HK$256,000 (2023: HK$459,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, total cash outflows for
the leases of the Group were HK$9,195,000 (2023: HK$7,622,000).

INVENTORIES

Raw materials B
Work in progress & m
Finished goods UK

Inventories of HK$60,375,000 (2023: HK$65,588,000) are expected
to be recovered no more than 12 months.

16.

17.

IREMEImAME(E)

FREEE @
w_g_m¢+_ﬂ—+—am%“
BHABEEAS(ZE-=4F: %)
By AR -

HE_T_ME+_A=1— EIJJ:E
B AEEHRERE  BIES -
RERREMER(ZT_=F: JF?SU%
HeE - MAERBEDE) - HEAH
ZEEFH2E10FR] L - WHERMAT
RERILERERE - HERKIIREE
SRR - B8 BETEMERRKR
R - POEETE TR B HA K AT A5 N AT
HENRER  TEEERASONE
FWHETE A W AT AT THAIR

HE_ZT_NE+_A=+—8H1
FE HEHHEEEBEORIA
256,000/ 7T (ZF Z =4 : 459,000
BIT) °

HE-_Z-_mWF+=-_A=+—HI1
FE AEBHENRESALE
¥ 59,195,000 T (—ZZE = =&
7,622,000/ 7T) °

=FE
2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHTT
11,738 14,546
9,364 11,808
39,273 39,234
60,375 65,588

78 860,375,000 8 T ( 2 =% :
65,588,000/ L) 2 7 E#S AT HRiE12
& A k@ o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 18. BEZRHEHMEWRIE - &

AND PREPAYMENTS EREAFRIE
2024 2023
—ZE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FAT
Trade receivables 2 S EWRIE 32,801 33,400
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (753) (658)
32,048 32,742
Other receivables and deposits (note) Eofih EMCRRIE o R @ (P EE) 3,711 4,635
Value added tax recoverable AT eI E R 2,540 2,274
Prepayments paid to suppliers B R TERRIE 5,986 3,682
Prepaid expenses AR 4,413 4,855
Prepayments for listing expenses A BRI RIA = 1,438
Deferred issue costs EFEBET TR - 5,038
16,650 21,922

Less: Rental deposits under non-current 3 : 3ERBVEEE MHERS

assets (1,204) (1,236)
Less: Prepayment for acquisition of W ERBEEETEEYE  WE

property, plant and equipment P& S EEN e

under non-current assets (4,707) (1,711)
Amount shown under current assets MBNEBEIE NI RERE 42,787 51,717

146 UBoT Holding Limited
EEERERAF



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Note: Included in other receivables and deposits of HK$36,000 (2023:
HK$54,000) as at 31 December 2024, represented amount due
from B AEITE AR A7 (“Dongguan Baihui”). Dongguan Baihui
is wholly-owned by Tang Family. The amount represented the
electricity bills paid on behalf for Dongguan Baihui by the Group
for the electricity utilised by Dongguan Baihui as the electric power
company only provided one electricity meter for the area where
Dongguan Baihui’s and the Group’s factories are located. Details has
been disclosed in note 32(d).

The Group grants credit terms to customers generally for a period of
90 days from the invoice date for trade receivables. The following is
an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful
debts, presented based on the invoice date at the end of each
reporting period:

Within 30 days 30BA

31 days to 60 days 31HZE60H
61 days to 90 days 61HZE90H
91 days to 180 days 91HZ180H
Over 180 days BiB180H

18.

IREMEImAME(E)

EZNHMEWKRIE %

ERFBSFIE @)

Mizf: HAZZE-_WNE+—_A=+—BZ
E it JE Y5118 K 12 & 36,0007 7T
(ZZE =% : 54,000 7T) * BlfE
R Bt A AR A R ([ REHR
1EFE - REMBRERRES
BA - e RBIEREBRARSA
EATAE hRERREMEZNNE
% REAEHAREARENE
KA EE TR Rt —
8% o FHIBM I TE32(d) #:5E -

AEERTEFPNEZRUFERFE
H—RAEFEHRLF0H - RER
SFHIR - B HRYIR (MR RARRE
f%)?ﬁ%éxﬂﬁﬂ%ﬂn MAREE AT T -

2024 2023
b Sl 123 —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FHET
14,101 13,807
10,923 11,591
4,826 5,788
2,139 1,284

59 272

32,048 32,742
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 18. BEZRHEHMEWRIE - &

AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) ERFBEAIRE @)
As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with RZZT_=%—HF—HB XkBEEPFP&
customers amounted to HK$41,113,000, net of allowance for credit HHE ZRBFIE(HIREEBER
losses. %) 541,113,000/87T °
ECL of trade receivables EZRNRIENTAREERE
At the end of the reporting period, the Company reviews trade REWMEER - AR BAEESR
receivables for evidence of impairment on both an individual B8 5 FE W IR & 8 Bl & BB B8R (B 75
and a collective basis by past due basis. The provision of ECL % - ESRWHIENTEREERHER
for receivables is recognised based on the credit history of its BHRBERFPHEEZSE  BMBHE
customers, indication of financial difficulties, default in payments, IR - HRA R E BT ISR
and current market conditions. After the assessment performed by R REARNTRERENEE - pEE
the management of the Company, a provision of ECL of HK$105,000 —ECNE+ A=t RIEFEE
was provided for the year ended 31 December 2024 and a reversal 1278 B{E B 518 15105,00078 7T LA J2
of ECL of HK$493,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 HE-T-=F+-_A=+—HIHF
December 2023, the management of the Company consider that the ERREBREEE TE i [21 493,000 7%
trade debtors are of good credit quality. T ARRIBEEERBEBAGEEE
ERIF o
Trade receivables that are not impaired el AR B B S IR
The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of provision of ECL) EERERBTEESALRBENE
that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be SV IE(HKREREEBEREB)
impaired are as follows: BEREC HATIAT -
2024 2023
—ENE —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Neither past due nor impaired BEARmER IR AR RE 23,992 23,909
Past due but not impaired B BRI ARRE
Less than 1 month past due # B AP {E A 5,349 6,957
1 to 3 months past due WHAI1E3ME A 1,863 1,529
Over 3 months EEASME A A 1= 844 347
32,048 32,742
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18.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables that are not impaired (continued)
The Group’s trade receivables balances that are past due over 90
days are not considered as in default based on good repayment
records for those customers and long-term/continuous business
with the Group. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group does
not charge interest nor hold any collateral over the balances.

The following were the Group’s trade receivables financing with
banks as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. As the Group has still
retained the significant risks and rewards, it continues to recognise
the full carrying amount and has recognised the cash received on
the transfer as the bank borrowings (see note 25). These financial
assets are carried at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The trade receivables financing with banks at each of the end of
reporting period was as follows:

Carrying amount of trade receivables
financing

Carrying amount of associated borrowings
(note 25)

Net position SFEEARS

g SRR RS AR E

AR S SRR (E (M 5E25)

18.

IREMEImAME(E)

BEZRHEMEBBWFIE -« &
TRENRE@R

e ARRE B B 5 PR UK IE ()
BEARAT PO RIFERCHE R ER
SRR BEXGHAE  A5@EA
HI90H A LW E 5 e ORI & 820
BIREAEREYN R_T_NFR_FT
ZE=EF+TZA=tT—H - KAEEYE
W% AR UCERR B B A

o
am °

NTARERR-_TS-_NFR=
::¢+:H:+—E%ﬁﬁa%%
WHIERE - HRAEEDNRBEKR
BB K B3R - AEEEREEEREE
REREERRERAMKEGE € AIRTT
BR(RHTE25) - ZELmMEENLR
B IR R iR SR ANETHE o

AEIREIIRRIEITE AR
B

2024 2023
—ETE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHTT
20,765 15,196
(16,523) (13,406)
4,242 1,790
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

The financial assets at FVTPL represent unlisted investment in life
insurance contracts for Mr. Tong. UBoT Inc. (HK) and the Company
are the beneficiary of such investments. The carrying amounts
represent the cash surrender value of the policies and approximate

to their fair values at the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of this life insurance contracts at the end of each
of the reporting period were estimated by making reference to the
cash surrender value set out in the insurance contracts. The cash
surrender value represents the discounted payout the insuree would
receive if they opt to withdraw any funds up to the basis of the
policy, after deducting the surrender charge imposed by the insurer,
and such cash surrender value, although of a life insurance policy
nature, is an asset that the Group (i.e. the insuree) can control at its
discretion, and the contracts can be converted into cash within one

month or less when the contracts are surrendered.

Since the insurance contracts are used as security and formed a part
of obtaining the bank facilities (note 25) granted to the subsidiary
of the Group, these related insurance contracts are expected to be
realised upon settlement of the bank borrowings when needed. In
view of the bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand
clause (note 25) are classified as current liabilities, the presentation
of such relevant insurance contracts is consistent with the bank

borrowings.

1 50 UBoT Holding Limited
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19.

BAFEFABRZNEH
BE
BATFEFAREOSBAERS S
ERABRBAVNILTIRE - B
MEERARABRSRENS 3
A BEERREORSRRED
SL4R S HIR Y A T EARE -

RERERR - ABSRREHORF
BEB2ERBANMEAERRE
EfFH AT - RERREBEEMER
RRAEZHEREER LRI MFE
& ENBRFRBRIFMERNRRER
EkERRSRREBRSESOIN
B BEBRASER(AMRERRA)
ARIBESNFER - ERESHRR
IR B9 — {8 B SR S AG PRE T PR 6 & 0 B 3R
RBRE -

MR R E D BIERBGE TALHE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20. AMOUNT DUE FROM A DIRECTOR

21.

2024
12
HK$'000
TET

Bl - £ EFHE
Bk -

Amount due from a director

- Mr. Tong

The amount is non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the amount due from Mr. Tong of HK$6,318,000 offset
simultaneously with the interim dividend declared by UBoT Inc. (HK)
before Listing (note 13). The remaining outstanding amount due from
Mr. Tong was settled by cash before Listing. Details of impairment
assessment are set out in note 30.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short term
deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash
commitments, which carry interest at nominal rates.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in
note 30.

20.

21.

—Eo=F

HK$°000

IREMEImAME(E)

Bl —BESFE

Maximum amounts outstanding
During the year ended 31 December
BEeHAEESH
HET-A=+-HLEE
2023 2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
HK$000 HK$000
FET TAL

TET

6,318 6,318 6,318

ZERERAIESHME - BERH T
STERAREREERE HEZZT-N
F+ZA=Z+—RALFE  BRSE
4 517E6,318,000/8 T IMETE R ZEE £
T AT S K A HARR 2.4 [R5 T BASE 88 (P
F13) - [EUCS AR UERFRE R £
RIAIR & B o METEFFIBERTIRN
Fi5E30 °

BERREZEY
e RALSENOERHRAEE
EHR S R NE TR RS
%o REEFES -

RITRESRA BB RS RSB MIRES0 ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMBmAME(E)

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22.

Trade payables
Payroll and retirement benefit plan
payables

Provision for long services payments

Accrued expenses
Accrued listing expenses

Accrued shipping and freight-outbound

fees

Payables for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment
Others

Total

Analysis for reporting purpose as:
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

B S ENIA
TERRAEM BN FOR

RHRBERE
FEETRASE

fEEt LR
EiHEBNEELEER

BEME  BEMRENENKIEA

Hit

#Et

RIS BRNA

FRBAE
nBAE

The credit period on purchases from suppliers is ranging from 0-120

days or payable upon delivery.

1 5 9  UBoT Holding Limited

EEEZERARATF

B 5 K HEABRARIE

2024 2023
—EE T =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
24,421 36,495
5,704 7,499

81 -
5,085 3,411

- 3,061

2,107 1,264
95 829
4,337 3,269
41,830 55,828
81 -
41,749 55,828
41,830 55,828

BEEENEENEEBRNT0E120H

BYSSINEF AN



22.

23.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented based

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

on the invoice date at the end of each reporting period:

Within 30 days

31 days to 60 days
61 days to 90 days
91 days to 180 days
181 days to 270 days
271 days to 365 days
Over 365 days

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities mainly included prepayments received from
customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreements which

30BR
31B%60A
61HZ90H
91HZ1808
1818 E270A
271H£365H
818365 H

22. B NEMENFE@E
TREIRESMEPRIZEZBEHE

SIE B 5 SRR DT

2024 2023
—EClEF =4
HK$’000 HK$°000
FiET FAT
3,489 4,384
1,180 5,299
638 2,427
2,984 12,531
2,166 8,728
3,212 2,472
10,752 654
24,421 36,495
23. eX&E

AHBBIERRERPRITEEW
AT RERR RS NBENTEN

are recognised as contract liabilities. They are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year upon receipt at the beginning
of the year, they were recognised as revenue in current year upon
the satisfaction of performance obligation, i.e. the delivery of goods
to customers.

I o RPN E M ENIR —F AR
RWA - WERTERELE R (B
EPZNEmEBRAFERA -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HEAE
2024 2023
—ENE —EC-=HF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Lease liabilities payable ENHEERE
Within one year —FR 4,905 7,670
Within a period of more than one year, BB —FENEAMFHARA
but not exceeding two years 4,368 5,128
Within a period of more than two years, HimmEE BB A FERHEA
but not exceeding five years 4,085 9,614
13,358 22,412
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RBNE E T AR 1218 A R EIH
12 months shown under current (EXNE Nt
liabilities (4,905) (7,670)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 3ERBI & & T 7R 1218 A 14 5 HA
shown under non-current liabilities ENHERE 8,453 14,742
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease HE-_Z-_MNFE+_A=+—HILE
liabilities was 5.32% (2023: 4.82%) for the year ended 31 December E - BERAREEEEIMETHE
2024. EERFRAEERW (T -=F:
4.82%) -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

BANK BORROWINGS 25. IRITER
2024 2023
—ENE kSl =
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Bank borrowings: HRITIERN -
Secured BEM 46,264 34,658
Bank overdraft HRITIEX 2,916 2,932
Trade receivables financing (note 18) 2 S EWGRIERE (Hi:E18) 16,523 13,406
65,703 50,996
The carrying amounts of the above HERERERBFRERETEED
borrowings that contain a repayment on FEFR(ERESHAE TR
demand clause (shown under current BREE" -
liabilities) but repayable*:
Within one year —FR 49,116 44,675
Within a period of more than one year BB —FENEARFHREA
but not exceeding two years 3,448 1,750
Within a period of more than two years BRFENERTFHAMA
but not exceeding five years 13,139 4,571
65,703 50,996
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out * FHS BB R ERIGRTENTETE
in the loan agreements. ExA /H\Hf?rtlj
Bank borrowings carry variable interest at 4.5% to 8.7% (2023: 4.5% BE_ZT-_NF+A=+—HILF
to 9.1%) per annum during the year ended 31 December 2024. B BITERIEEF45%E8.7% (=
The weighted average effective interest rate on bank borrowings TTF 1 45%E9.1%) KZEF
was 6.7% (2023: 7.2%) per annum as at 31 December 2024. The BB - RZTEZMF+ZA=+—
Group’s bank borrowings carry interests at margins over Hong B RITERONELAERNES
Kong Interbank Offer Rate (“HIBOR”), Loan Prime Rate, the bank’s BFE6T%(ZT =% :72%) ° K
US$ best lending rate or the bank’s HK$ best lending rate, as SEMIRITE m?‘;z%)%fﬁﬂﬂ%?ﬁ%
appropriate. ([BEBRITRIFERE]) - EFRM i%i&

BRIR .« RT %E?fgm,\/}\ﬂ
RITETREREERFIR (?;uﬂﬁﬁ%)
e e
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

25.

BT IRRMRE ()

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Bank borrowing with carrying amount of HK$1,400,000 (2023:
HK$3,800,000) as at 31 December 2024, is under the SME Loan
Guarantee Scheme operated by HMC Insurance Limited (“HKMCI”)
and is secured by HKMCI and Mr. Tong’s personal guarantee.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$47,780,000 are secured by:

o Life insurance policy entered into by the Company and a
subsidiary of the Group as detailed in note 19.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$33,790,000 are secured by:

o Legal charge over a property owned by Mr. Tong’s company
(not in the Group);

o Life insurance policy entered into by a subsidiary of the
Group as detailed in note 19; and

o Unlimited guarantees from Mr. Tong’s company (not in the
Group), Mr. Tong, Mr. Tang Ming and Mr. Tang Chak Leung.

As represented by the directors of the Company, based on the bank
facilities letter signed with the bank, the legal charge over a property
owned by Mr. Tong’s company, the unlimited guarantees provided
by a subsidiary of the Group, Mr. Tong, Mr. Tang Ming and Mr. Tang
Chak Leung were released upon Listing.

1 56 UBoT Holding Limited
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25.

HRAT AT ()
RZZE_WEF+A=+—H8 " &k
18 41,400,000 T (- =F :
3,800,000 % 7T ) #Y IR 17 & S Ty AR &
HMC Insurance Limited ([ HKMCI | )
LENRPDEEERERTEBA
7 FFHKMCI }2 % 45 A4 FO R A R (R TR 4
ER o

R-ZZ-_ME+-_A=+—H8  EH
& 547,780,000/8 7T ISR 1T 1E N A
THIERHER

. ARBRALENE R B P
BEOASRE (DM E195F
) o

R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—H8 K@
{8 433,790,000/8 L W ER 7T 15 e A
TRIBERHEER

. BN AR (L IEAEEE
THERR]) BEA WY EEEE
i

. NEBH B R RAIRENAS
RER (ABTRE195F4) « &

. % LR R B (Y IF A SR BE
THRAE) - BEE - WAL
ERBEREERENERE
& o

HIMARREBRRT - RIFERITER
FATRRITRIE i - B R AR R R
BRMEROZEERR AEENER
A BRE  BREEREEREL
RENERERC N ETRHER -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMEImAME(E)

26. DEFERRED TAXATION 26. IRIEBIIE
The following is the deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised and THAREERZIELERIE(EE)BE
the movements thereon: REEEHENR
Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets liabilities
EERIE
EERBERE 8
Right-of-use
assets/lease ECL
Tax losses liabilities Sub-total provision Total
EREEE/ BHEE
BIEEE HEEE NEt BERE @5t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET TR FET TR
At 1 January 2023 B = (1,015) - (1,015) 137 (878)
Charged (credited) to profit or EATE S (GEAER)

loss (note 11) (FzE11) 834 (1,016) (182) - (182)
Exchange adjustments ERTICES 24 6 30 - 30
As 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+_A

=+—H (157) (1,010) (1,167) 137 (1,030
Charged to profit or loss KRR (1)

(note 11) - 361 361 - 361
Exchange adjustments b iR 4 28 32 - 32
As 31 December 2024 RZZZME+—A

=+—H (153) (621) (774) 137 (637)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has tax losses arising in the
PRC of HK$13,202,000 (2023: HK$629,000), available for offset
against future profits that will expire in next five years. As at 31
December 2024, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses amounting HK$12,573,000 due
to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 31 December 2023,
a deferred tax asset has been recognised of HK$157,000 of such
losses.

RZZE-WmMF+=-_RA=+—8H -
AEEBRPREENREEES

13,202,000 F ot ( = & = = F
629,0007% 70 ) © A AR E BN K
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TR FRIR - B T HIEE R
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BB ERRIELEIEAE157,000/8
5o

Annual Report 2024
2024 F3}

157



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMBmAME(E)

27. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised share capital of the Company:
At the date of incorporation on
7 February 2022 (note a)
Increase in authorised share capital on
20 May 2024 (note b)

As at 31 December 2024

Issued and fully paid share capital of the

Company:

At the date of incorporation on
7 February 2022 (note a)

Issue of shares pursuant to the
capitalisation issue (note b)

Issue of shares pursuant to the
share offer (note c)

As at 31 December 2024

1 58 UBoT Holding Limited
EEERERAR

27. B
Number of Share
shares Par value capital
BRIDEE HE BRAR
HK$ HK$
BT BT
RRNRPEERA
RZZE-—F-HA+tH
TS, B (BT aEa) 380,000,000 0.001 380,000
RZE-MFRA=1H
EIEERA (D) 49,620,000,000 0.001 49,620,000
R=ZZ=-WF+=A4
=+—H 50,000,000,000 50,000,000
Number of Share
ordinary shares capital
ZiBIREE 1%
HK$
BIT
RNEE BT R
R —F= At HFMKL
B EA(ftsFa) 2,000 2
RIEE A LB TEITR D (M 7Eb)
374,998,000 374,998
RER N B EETIRG (M3Ee)
137,500,000 137,500
RZEZWFE+=—A=+—H 512,500,000 512,500




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@

On 7 February 2022, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability, with an
authorised share capital of HK$380,000 divided into 380,000,000
shares of HK$0.001 each.

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the then shareholders of the Company held on 20
May 2024, it was resolved that the authorised share capital of the
Company increased from HK$380,000 divided into 380,000,000
shares to HK$50,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000 shares by
the creation of an additional 49,620,000,000 shares with immediate
effect; and conditional upon the share premium account of the
Company being credited as a result of the offer of the Company’s
shares, an amount of HK$374,998 which will then be standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company be capitalised
and applied to pay up in full at par a total of 374,998,000 shares for
allotment and issue to holders of the Company’s shares.

On 3 June 2024, the shares of the Company were successfully listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of placing of 75,000,000
ordinary shares and public offer of 62,500,000 ordinary shares at the
price of HK$0.50 per share.

IREMEImAME(E)

27. BA&Rum)

GEX

@

RIZZEZZF_RAtH  ARFR
HEHESAMKL ABREERA
&) JREPRA A380,000 7T ¢+ o
/#3380,000,0000% & #% I {E0.001 7%
TCRIRRAD ©

BIBEARRERKRERN-ZT TN
FRAZ=1+ B RITHRERH
AELHBRBHREER  HE#
R AN R &]VE FE AR 7N B3 380,000
7 JT % /4 380,000,000 f% R% 15
# Hn & 50,000,000 & T 9 B
50,000,000,0000% %1% + /= AiE
£%49,620,000,000 8 5 {7 + BNRSAE
o RAEZEEARRBRMD MR
AR BN = B ERABR BN
BB ARRBRGEEERD
374,998 LB R EARA R ARER
4 #£374,998,000/% 2 O E &
BB REIT T AR RRNFE
/\ °

RZTEZWMFERNA=H " KXAQF
1D A FRR0.508 T B &
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

28.

BT IRRMRE ()

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group operates a MPF for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees, with each employee’s
qualifying salary capped at HK$1,500 per month to the MPF
scheme.

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, pursuant to the
Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation
to pay LSP to qualifying employees in Hong Kong under certain
circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or upon retirement),
subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the
following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) X 2/3 X
Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of
long service payment shall not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is
accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof,
for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the
“Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition
will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025).
Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected to
introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25
years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by employers up
to a certain amount per employee per year.

1 60 UBoT Holding Limited

EEEZERARATF

28.

BB S

AEEAMALAREBRARTS
He o REHBNAEREEENE
ENBIEE - R ALSI MRS A
B8 o AR BRI T ERAN5% R
St BIHK - TR B M IRIEA S I
B BEEENAESH B
MAERHFE LIRASF1,50087 -

RAEERBBLENMHBLRRM
5 REBREED(F578) » KEE
BEEEETERLT (Pl EE#EE
FRKEF)AEEEEREEXNEY
R%E - BAXKDSFOEMIT
R HEEAIAT

R1& R (BEBAT) X 2/3 < IR 7% 5 1

=% A% IR A22,500/8 T 0 M
R < K& 58158 #8390,000/8 T ©
I IE & AL — TERR R R ERFIFTE
HIBR ©

AN - R— AN AFEBHBRIER
BEFTEGIEF A EES A AN EE
HSRTE S AR - 0k R EAERIE,
BEH - REHEN TRENRIR
B ([HRERH]) -

BETENR —_E-—F X A++ERT
B EERRE A B 08 1SR B S
FTEAMRE RS UIKERBRS
© HUHFEHNBEBRAIZZ
ZREFRA—B)EREK - B &
PR BIAT IR BT IR IR A A — 1A
HALETE] - PNBE B EIE 25 F HIR R
BEEREARARE AR - 55 E
BEEFRENCEELZAETEE -



28.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN (continued)

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after
the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-
Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-
Transition Date LSP obligation. On the other hand, the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s voluntary contributions made pre-
, on or post-transition can continue to be used to offset pre- and
post-transition LSP. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the
Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the
Last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and
the years of service up to that date. The Amendment Ordinance has
impact on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to employees that
participate in MPF Scheme and the Group has accounted for the
offsetting mechanism and its abolition.

At the end of the reporting period, there were no forfeited
contributions which arose upon employees leaving the schemes
prior to their interests in the Group’s contributions becoming fully
vested and which are available to reduce the contributions payable
by the Group in future years.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
fixed percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$6,160,000 (2023:
HK$6,804,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

28.

IREMEImAME(E)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

29.

BT IRRMRE ()

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes lease liabilities and bank borrowings as disclosed in notes
24 and 25 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Group, comprising share capital and
reserves. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirement.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through continuity of funding
of cash flows from operating activities, the payment of dividends,
new share issues, or issues of new debt.
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30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial risk management objectives and policy

The Group’s financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL,
trade and other receivables and deposits, amount due from a
director, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank borrowings. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

REHRATTEN S REE
BAFEFARENEREE
REERATTENERAE

IREMEImAME(E)

@I A
SRITEER
2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
43,300 44,786
14,323 13,748
102,367 100,352
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

30.

164 UBOoT Holding Limited

EEEZERARATF

—E=F
HK$°000

BT R MR (4])
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30.
Financial risk management objectives and policy
(continued)
Market risk
Currency risk
Majority of the Group’s revenue is denominated in US$ and RMB.
However, the Group has certain trade and other receivables, trade
and other payables, cash and cash equivalents and bank borrowings
that are denominated in foreign currencies relative to functional
currencies of the respective group entities. As a result, the Group is
exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.
The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Assets
BE
2024
—E_E
HK$°000
FEx
SGD T =
RMB AR%E 97
Euro (“EUR?) EoT((&rc)) =
New Taiwan Dollar (‘NTD”) 1AM ([H&a#]) =
Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”) X< ([ ERAR
) B
HK$ BT 6,916

ﬁl"ﬂIE—(na
eREMREEBERBER(#)
755 2 g

B R
REEEKEHWANETRARE
FHE - A AEERETESRHE
b EUCRIE ~ B 5 N H b BT FUA -
R B2 FEBWARIRITERIAE
HRNBEEEERBEEEHIINE

5 2
1B - FEt - AEEHEREXRBNE
B o

& [ B AT S SME SRR o R
e AREEEEESINERR - I
BRAE R REEBEPERINERR -

REWEMR - ARENAABEEE
ENEE BB AN B FHEM B
BEEMABEREENT :

Liabilities

&fE
2024
—E2E
HK$’000
TET

2023 2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHET FET
- 110 138
137 180 480
- 4 4
- 8 34

5 16 51
6,829 44,228 28,751



30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s foreign currency risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of RMB and HK$ against functional currencies of the
respective group entities.

Since HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in US$/HK$ exchange rate.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% decrease
in the functional currency of the relevant group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. The following sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency exchange rates, which are the sensitivity
rates used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in currencies exchange rates. A
positive (negative) number below indicates an increase (decrease)
to profit before taxation when the currency below strengthens 5%
against the functional currency of the relevant group entities. For a
5% weakening of these currencies against the functional currency
of the relevant group entities, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the (loss) profit before taxation.

BRI TR A (B51E) s -
AR

(Loss) gain in relation to:
RMB

30.

IREMEImAME(E)

ﬁl"ﬂIE—(na
eREMREEBERBER(#)
s (&)

B ER(E)

BUREST
REENINERRFEEPRARE
RAETHEEEEREEERIKE -

R ETTEETTEND - REBBEE
T/ B TERTG R (I EAR
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REE T HARRSNE R ES % B -
AT BURE ST {E B R AINEFHER
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[ 2 EEA 8RS IMNEE e b5
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As at 31 December
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

30.

BT IRRMRE ()

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Management has assessed there is minimal exposure
of the interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest incurred on the
bank borrowings and bank balances.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors interest rate risk
exposure and will consider interest rate hedging should the need
arise.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being
undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank
offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates.
The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements based
on interest rate level and outlook. The management will review the
proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they
are within reasonable range.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the

exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the bank borrowings outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease in variable-rate bank
borrowings are used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate
risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s loss before taxation would
increase/decrease by HK$657,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: profit before taxation would decrease/increase by
HK$510,000).
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30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in
life insurance contracts for Mr. Tong measured at FVTPL.

Sensitivity analysis
As at 31 December 2024, if cash surrender value as defined in

the life insurance contract had been 5% higher/lower, the impact
on the Group’s loss before taxation would decrease/increase by
HK$716,000 (2023: profit before taxation would increase/decrease
by HK$687,000).

Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables and deposits, amount due from a director and bank
balances.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Before acceptance any new customers, the
Group carries out research on the credit risk of the new customer
and assesses the potential customers’ credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period or when necessary.
In this regard, the management of the Group considers that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMBmAME(E)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

Internal credit rating

R E AR
A
B
C
D

1 68 UBoT Holding Limited
EEERERAR

Description

i

The counterparties have a low risk of
default based on good historical
repayment records and are mainly
multinational companies or listed
companies

*%%?i%%%l“ﬂﬁtﬁ@ﬁ

WEBRGERT - BORBBRIE

The counterparties have a medium risk

of default based on good historical
repayment records and are mainly
unlisted entities
RHGHFETERIFLTER BN
OB R AT - EAVES ;*EEEPE

There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
and the counterparties are mainly
multinational companies or listed
companies

BYIRHERAR - EERR A KIEE

BEXSEHFFERBERRFH L
mAal

There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
and the counterparties are mainly
unlisted entities

amwﬁmux EERRAKIEE

BERGUHFFERIELTER

30. £@mI AW

TREREE B RN BER ()
EEES (8)

A% 5 [ P9 B 15 B LR T AR AT 4 A
TR

Trade receivables

B 5 R

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

2HBHMEEER
—VEEERE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired
2 EFEEEEIEE
— Wi EERE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

EHEHEEER
—WEEERE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

FHITEEIEE BB
—WEEERE

Other financial assets

HitemERE

12m ECL

128 ATEHEERE

12m ECL

12{@ A EREEEE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

EHEMEEER
—WEEERE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired
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30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30.

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(continued)

ﬁl"ﬂIE—(na

TREREE B S RBER ()

Credit risk (continued) 1EEER (&)
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
REEEFTR TP B 5 R Hith & mERE
E There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
REBBRTNEEHREERE 2 EEEEE SR - EHEHEEBE -
EERE EERE

F There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off

the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
BRBETNEBABREVBIRE -
75 BB T8 B K AT e Uk [El

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
The Group applies simplified approach and always recognises
lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets.

The lifetime ECL on trade receivables, except for credit-impaired
debtors which are assessed individually, are assessed on a
collective basis through grouping of debtors with reference to the
past due condition. Estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has concentration of credit risk
as 20% (2023: 21%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer. The Group’s concentration of credit risk
on the top five largest customers in each year accounted for 54%
(2023: 57%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

30.

BT IRRMRE ()

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables and deposits

The management of the Group conducts periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management of the Group believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables and deposits. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group assessed that the ECL for other receivables and deposits was
insignificant.

Amount due from a director

The Group had concentration of credit risk on amount due from a
director as at 31 December 2023. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management of the Group had reviewed the recoverable
amount of the amounts due from a director regularly at the end of
each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the management of
the Group considered that the Group’s credit risk was significantly
reduced. In the opinion of the management of the Group, the risk of
default by the counterparties is low and the ECL on the balances is
insignificant.
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30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMEImAME(E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. E@THE @
Financial risk management objectives and policy SRR EE B ZERBEE (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) =B (48)
Bank balances RITAS
The credit risk for bank balances is limited because the RITEBRHNEERREBER - REA/X
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by FHFREFEEFREBERTHS
international credit-rating agencies. There has been no history of EETAMBRIT - ZFRITWEED
default in relation to these banks. The Group performs impairment Es - REERE12EABHEE
assessment on the short-term bank deposits and bank balances BB R H G BRI T R R IR T T 45 82
under 12m ECL model. The management of the Group considers the ETRENG AEEEREESE
risk of default is low based on the average loss rate by reference to REENABERTHNEETA &
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. As at RIEHEEE  RREDRBAE -
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed that the ECL for RZZE-_WNFER-_ZT-_=F+=A
bank balances were insignificant. =+—8  AEEFERITEHNTE
HMEEBBARITERX -
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses ERARBEERBEREN—2
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers because REBERAESANRRIGERTP
these customers share common risk characteristics that are WRE  RAARZEEPEFHAN
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in RBBER - ZERBREREPRES
accordance with the contractual terms. The following table provides WG B R AR E/EE D - T
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables RIEMERE S EKGIEE SRR
which are assessed on a collective basis by using provision matrix BEX - ZEE S5 EWGIESA EEH?E
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). HEEBR(TEEERE) AR EE
SRR DA SRR LT TRV ©
Gross carrying amount BREAE
2024 2023
—ECE B
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables lossrate  receivables
25 g5
IR FEUGRIE  FEsER FEW IR
HK$’000 HK$°000
FiEx FAT
Current (not past due) EHICRaH) 1.93% 24,460 1.78% 24,344
1-30 days past due #HAI1E30H 1.93% 5,457 1.78% 7,080
31-90 days past due #HA315290H 4.94% 1,960 4.26% 1,598
More than 90 days past due #HAEB90H 8.55% 924 8.28% 378
32,801 1.97% 33,400

2.30%
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMBmAME(E)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. TRITHwm)

Financial risk management objectives and policy

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The following table shows the movements in lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired) recognised for trade receivables under the simplified

TREREE B S RBER ()

1= E/mR (&)
TRETREBOENE SRR
EREHEHEEER(LEREER

approach. 1B HEE) -
Lifetime ECL
(not
credit-impaired)
T HATRHR
FEEE
(TR EERE)
HK$’000
FA&T
As at 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—HF—H 1,162
Reversal of impairment losses BRI EEERER (M)
recognised (note) (493)
Exchange realignment I 54, FA 5 (11)
As at 31 December 2023 WZE_=F+-"A=t+—H 658
Impairment losses recognised EERBERE 105
Exchange realignment M 5 B (10)
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-NOF+-A=t+—H 753
Note: The reversal of impairment loss for 2023 was mainly due to the Mzt : BE_Z_—FREBERLTE
decrease of gross carrying amount of trade receivables, which is RN E SRR IE R 4258
a result of settlement of outstanding trade receivables as at 31 Do WWBERZEZ=FREER

December 2022 during the 2023 and the decrease in outstanding
trade receivables at 31 December 2023.
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30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMEImAME(E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. E@THE @
Financial risk management objectives and policy TREMREREBEZERBER(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk TEENE AR
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in mBEERAREENETE
meeting its financial obligations as and when they fall due. In the BEERFBIIRNENER - BERR
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains PELER  FAEEERBRSRRS
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the EEYIKTE - GHEBNEEERR
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the FEEIKE - AAEENEEREE
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. S MRERSREEBNFE -
The following table details the remaining contractual maturity of the TRAMRAEEFETEEHEEHF
Group for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been BRAE L EAR - ZRIVER AR EE T 58
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows (including interest WERINemaENRFHE @ 1%
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based eRAaERMBHRESRE(BECRE
on the relevant market rates as at the reporting date) of financial BRI S (e BF B)) IR S B HIRAE
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be BHSHEFENFENFORE - %
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash XAKBEEMNERASESRE (WHE
flows, where applicable. ) -
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-mWFE+=-A=+—H
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  orless than Within 3 3to6 6t012 1to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months months months 5years  cashflow amount
mEE  BEXE REHES
Mz SR-BR Z=@AMA =2~ER ~ETZER  -ERfF iB4E BEE
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR Tin TR Tin TR Tin TR
Trade and other payables BHRAMERFE Nil § 32,238 4,426 - - - 36,664 36,664
Bank borrowings FTfE 6.7 65,703 - - - - 65,703 65,703
97,941 4,426 - - - 102,367 102,367
Lease liabiltes HEak 53 540 91 1,375 2,781 9,122 14,745 18,358
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IREMBmAME(E)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30.

Financial risk management objectives and policy

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

Trade and other payables BAREMERFE
Bank borrowings il
Lease liabiies g8k

174 UBoT Holding Limited
BEERERAT

Weighted
average
interest rate
s
i

48

T A

TREREE B S RBER ()

HEE 2R (&)
RZEZ=F+=_A=+—H

On demand Total
orless than Within 3 3to6 6t012 110 undiscounted Carrying
1 month months months months Syears  cash flow amount

HERY L
SR-A  ZEANR  ZEAER AETZEA -EnE RESE KEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR FiEn TR Tin TiEn T TEn
42632 6,724 - - - 49,356 49,356
50,996 - - - - 50,996 50,996
93,628 6,724 - - - 100,352 100,352
1,557 1,328 1,984 3,707 15,848 24,419 242



30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “on demand or less than 1 month” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying
amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$65,703,000
(2023: HK$50,996,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the management does not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The management believes that such bank
loans will be repaid 1 to over 5 years after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:

IREMEImAME(E)

ﬁl"ﬂIE—(na
TRIEMEREE

30.
=N BUR (#)

///b;@ﬁfﬂ/’}“ (r% )
BEARERKERGERORITERD
%AtuﬂﬂanﬁﬁN&£T¢¢

R—@EAIAN - RZZEZMF+=A
=T—H ZERTEFNVEEAL
18 565,703,000/ 8 L (Z T == :
50,996,000/ 7T ) © & EEIZA 5K E 1 Ef
Bk - BEERA - BARITET
FEB ISR ER I BERA MR
Ko ERBRERA  BIBEERIGER
WL EERAH - BRABRITERER
WEMREN —ZAFALEE &
BRTRET

Maturity Analysis - Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause

HE@AR -
Less than
1 year 1-2 years
HSR-F -EWE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fitn Fitn
31 December 2024 “E-MET-R=1-H 50,428 4,290
31 December 2023 ZEZ=F+ZR=1-H 45,363 2,089

based on scheduled repayments

RENTEH B2 AREREERTNRTER
Total
undiscounted Carrying
2-5years  Over5years cash outflows amount
KERRE
MELE RENE ofart.: REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TATL TAT
14,122 - 68,840 65,703
4913 - 52,365 50,996

Annual Report 2024
2024 F3}

175



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

30.

BT IRRMRE ()

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL of HK$14,323,000 (2023:
HK$13,748,000) is measured at fair value as at 31 December
2024. 1t is classified as Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy and
the fair value is determined based on the cash surrender value
in accordance with the life insurance contract which is not an
observable input. Management estimates the fair value based on
the latest policy quarterly statement of the life insurance contract
provided by the bank. The unobservable input is the cash surrender
value quoted by the bank according to the life insurance contract.
When the cash surrender value is higher, the fair value of the life
insurance contract will be higher. The sensitivity analyses have
been determined based on the cash surrender value of the life
insurance contract. If the cash surrender value has been 5% higher/
lower, the Group’s loss before taxation would decrease/increase by
HK$716,000 (2023: profit before taxation would increase/decrease
by HK$687,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

1 76 UBoT Holding Limited
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements (continued)
The reconciliation of the fair value measurement is shown below:

At 1 January 2023 R_ZE—_=F—H—H

Fair value adjustment N EFHRE

Exchange realignment PE H A%

At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=+—H
Fair value adjustment N EFHRE

Exchange realignment RS

Purchased EEA

Disposal HE

At 31 December 2024 RZZE_WFE+—_A=+—H

Except as disclosed above, the management of the Group
considers that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and
financial liabilities of the Group recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements at the end of each reporting period
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

30.

IREMEImAME(E)

TR
DNFEHE )
DT EFRLHBEMT -

Financial assets
at FVTPL
RAFETA
BENERIEE
HK$°000

THET

13,335
411
2

13,748
(964)
(26)
7,487
(5,922)

14,323

BREXFEREN  AREEEER
B AEEREREHRRNGEME
BERNRHAERACENEREER
TREERAEREAQAERSE -8
BATEEREAREERAIRIER

RERENNETE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

31.

BT IRRMRE ()

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “2024 Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 20 May 2024 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors, eligible
employees and service providers.

As 31 December 2024, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 512,500,000 shares of HK$0.001 each upon Listing.
Pursuant to the Listing Rules and the share option scheme, the
total number of shares which might fall to be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the share option scheme
was 51,250,000, representing 10% of the then total number of
issued shares of the Company as at the date of adoption of the
2024 Scheme and the maximum number of shares that might be
issued upon the exercise of all share options under the share option
scheme or other schemes. The 2024 Scheme will last for 10 years
from the date of adoption.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days from the date
of offer and a non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.0 is
payable on the grant of the Company’s options. The exercise price
of a share in respect of option granted under 2024 Scheme will be
determined by the Board provided that it shall not be less than the
higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, (i) the
average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.
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31.

32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

After the trading hours on 31 December 2024, the Company
resolved to grant share options to 70 eligible participants, including
8 directors, 52 employees and 10 other eligible participants of the 2‘”‘?70%”\%% 2HE (BIEREES
Group under the 2024 Scheme to subscribe for a total of 5,150,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the
Company, which were subject to agreement and acceptance by the

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that all the related
party transactions have been transacted under terms as negotiated
with the related parties.

Transactions with related companies (@ HEEEA

Related parties Relationships

e ?ﬁﬁz EE E%
has 30% interest with
significant influence on it

%“*;ﬂz EEE% BRRGEHEAI0%ESITHES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR TSR M A ()

31. BREFTE @)
ngf@¢+—ﬂ:+*5§%%
Bk AATBRBE-T - mast

HEE  S52ZREERI0BEMAEBIK
SHE )R ERE  UARBARANR
7K F A #£5,150,000 A% & A% [ {E.0.001

grantees at that time the process is expected to be completed on or BRI LR - EAFEARARE R
after 2 January 2025. The fair value of the options to be granted are Btz - HRMEE - ERBIZTEES
calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing model. The estimated RZE-_RAF—AZHKZEBTMK °
fair value of the options granted on that date was HK$442,000. BT RENERENODFEDNERS

BAHEECEEXNE - EAKREN
,E%Hxﬁéwfﬁ‘ﬁAwaz%mz,ooo;‘%ﬁ o

32. BELXRS

ARREBERR  MEBRBIXSE
AR AR BRI T RE RS A IR TT o

|

For the year ended
31 December

BE+T-A=1+—HLFE

Nature of transactions 2024 2023
XHME —ENE —EB-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
A company which Tang Family ~ Repayment of lease 1,473 1,794
liabilities
BEMHERE

Annual Report 2024
2024 F3}

179



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Significant balances with related parties
The significant balances with related parties have been
disclosed in notes 18 and 20.

Guarantees provided by related parties

Details of the guarantees provided by related parties for the
Group’s bank borrowings have been disclosed in note 25
and were released upon Listing.

The Controlling Shareholders have undertaken to indemnify
the Group against any additional tax payment requested by
the IRD on UBoT Inc. (HK) in relation to the Offshore Profit
Claim, that exceeds the income tax provision provided by the
Group for the years of assessment from 2017/18 (i.e. for the
year ended 31 December 2017) to 2022/2023 (i.e. for the year
ended 31 December 2022) and for year ended 31 December
2023 which has been included in the income tax provision
under current liabilities as at 31 December 2023. Besides, the
Controlling Shareholders have also undertaken to indemnify
any liability which might be incurred by the Group as a direct
or indirect result of or in consequence of any claim relating to
the amount of any and all taxation (other than Offshore Profit
Claim as stated above) the falling on the Group resulting from
or by reference to any income, profits, gains, transactions,
events, matters or things earned, accrued, received, entered
into or occurring or deemed to occur up to the date before
the initial listing of shares of the Company on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(©

(d)

Guarantees provided by related parties (continued)
Mr. Tong has undertaken to indemnify the Group: (1) against
any difference in full, should the relevant authorities request
the PRC subsidiaries to pay the historical outstanding social
insurance and housing provident funds contributions or any
late charges or penalties more than the additional provisions
made in relation to the shortfall in social insurance plans and
housing provident fund contributions; and (2) any liability
which might be incurred by the Group as a direct or indirect
result of or in consequence of any claim relating to the
amount of any and all taxation (other than Offshore Profit
Claim that Mr. Tong has undertaken to indemnify as stated
above) the falling on the Group resulting from or by reference
to any income, profits, gains, transactions, events, matters or
things earned, accrued, received, entered into or occurring
or deemed to occur up to the date before the initial listing of
shares of the Company on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Sharing of electricity supply with related parties
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
paid the electricity bills and charged back Dongguan Baihui
of HK$80,000 (2023: HK$67,000), utilised by Dongguan
Baihui, as the electric power company only provided one
electricity meter for the area where Dongguan Baihui’s and
the Group’s factories are located. No additional income or
expenses incurred by the Group for this sharing of electricity
supply as the Group charged back Dongguan Baihui the
electricity utilised at cost. Dongguan Baihui is wholly-owned
by Tang Family.

32.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

() Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel are defined as those persons
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Group and of the Company
either directly or indirectly.

The directors considered the key management personnel of
the Group are the directors. The remuneration of members
of key management personnel of the Group are disclosed in
note 12.

33. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below.

Name of Place of incorporation/ Issued and
subsidiary registration/operation ~ Date of incorporation  fully paid capital
Biag=a e
WEAREE e AL A ERTRARRA
Directly held:
BERE:
Abundant Wealth BVI 26 November 2021 US$100
Group Limited
HREEERAR EERUES —T--% 100%7T
+—A=1H
Sino Key Enterprises BV 17 November 2021 US$100
Limited
ERMEARAA RERAES % 100 7T
+—A++H
Indirectly held:
BiiEsE
UBoT Inc. (HK) Hong Kong 28 November 2005 HK$15,787,500
BEdx B —ZTRE 15,787,500 7T
+—A=tN\AR
UBoT Incorporated Singapore 18 January 2008 SG$1,000
Pte. Limited
BELXERAA IR ZZTN\E-ATAR 1000805
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32. BHERS @)

() FEEEAEHN
TEEMABKBELEES
BRI - R
EBRRARBEHHAL ©

EERR AEEMTIEZER
AERES - AEETEER
A BHYF BN M SE 12805 -

33. KRAQTMBARFEE

N

RRABRBERREE MEEFEN
MBARFIBEIHMT ©

Equity interest attributable

of the Company Principal activities

RARGER AEERE IRER

2024 2023
—ECME -—E-ocE
100% 100%  Investment holding
REER
100% 100%  Investment holding
RERR
100% 100%  Investment holding and sales

of back-end semiconductor
transport media
REERRHAERHLERER

NE

100% 100%  Technical and customer service
support
BiREPRESE



33.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)
Name of Place of incorporation/
subsidiary registration/operation
s
HE D= £ Ty
REBEEEEMRAT  PRC
REBREXERAR oE
REBEETRERSE PRC
BRAR
REERETRESR *E
BRAR
UBOTIC Hong Kong
EBERRE Bk
UBOTIC Intellectual Hong Kong
Property Company
Limited
BRAFRSERER B4
A
REEBAMHHEE  PRC
RRARAT
REEBAFHKE &
REARAR
HEEETSRERR PRC
A
HEBRTHSREAR &
A
UBoT (Philippines) Inc.  Philippines
UBoT (Philippines) Inc. ~ 32%

Date of incorporation

EabpaAsk

14 April 2010

Z2-TENATRA

25 December 2019

ZT-NEF
+=A=+AA

11 August 2009
“PEAENAT-E

1 December 2009

“FEAETA-R

2 August 2012

“T-—#)\AZH

20 December 2023

I 3

+=A=+H

22 November 2024

—TomE
t—A=t=R

Issued and
fully paid capital

ERTRARRE

Registered capital of
HK$50,000,000 and
fully paid capital of
HK$12,647,000
(2023: registered capital of
HK$8,500,000 and fully paid
capital of HK$8,000,000)
T 8 7450,000,0007% 7T &
B IR7R12,647,0004 T
(Z2=F  #fkA
8,500,000/ 7T R &R RA
8,000,00077T)

Registered capital of
RMB7,000,000 and
no capital paid
A A K %7,000,0007 )
TEGRRAR

HK$100
10087

HK$100

1007T

Registered capital of
HK$15,600,000 and
fully paid capital of
HK$4,810,000

715,600,000 7 &
SRR 74,810,000% T

Registered capital of
RMB500,000 and no
capital paid

MR AR #500,00070 5
TESNRE

Registered capital of
PHP12,500,000 and
fully paid capital of
PHP8,000,000

12,500,000 R
81 2 786,000,000 %

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the year.

Equity interest attributable

of the Company
KARHER AELRE

2024 2023
—IopmE TR
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
N/A 100%
TER 100%
100% -
100% -

IREMEImAME(E)

33. ADQFMEBABFE @

Principal activities

Investment holding and sales
and manufacturing of back-
end semiconductor transport
media

RARRURHAE REE RS

BEEENE

Processing of trays

EEMT

Sales of MEMS and sensor
packaging
HEMEMS R ER 5

Investment holding

RAER

Sales and manufacturing of
MEMS and sensor packaging

HERBUEMEMS R B EE

Products promotion and
marketing

EmEERITH

Sales and manufacturing of
back-end semiconductor
transport media

HERBERREREENE

BB E A RN FRETEAERZE

o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  34. ARQREBEARREKKE FEE

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
31 December
+=BA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-IEF —Eo=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
BaE FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EMBARMIRE = =
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL BB A B FRIE 37,302 -
37,302 -
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments TR FIR 794 6,476
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABENEMEE 6,162 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 61 88
7,017 6,564
Current liabilities RBAG
Accruals fEFTE A 1,582 1,074
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET BT A B FIE - 6,080
1,582 7,154
Net current assets (liabilities) REEE(EE)FEE 5,435 (590)
Net assets (liabilities) EE(8E)F8 42,737 (590)
Capital and reserves EXR#HE
Share capital &N 27 512 —
Reserves s () 42,225 (590)
Total equity (capital deficiencies) fEzE#A%8 (B AE4L) 42,737 (5690)
* Amount less than HK$1,000 : £#PH,00087T

184 UBoT Holding Limited
EEERERAF



34.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

(@ Movements in reserves of the Company

At 1 January 2023 WZZE_=%—H—H
Loss for the year FREER
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H
Loss for the year FAEE
Capitalisation issue BA(LETT
Share issued pursuant to the BIERNBEZHTRG
share offer
Transaction costs attributable {17 8 & G X SR AR
to share offer
Interim dividend declare (note 13) SIRFHRAR 2 (FT5E13)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-mOF+-—A=+—H

34.

IREMEImAME(E)

R BEARR R B

(#&)
G
@  ARAREEE

Share  Accumulated

premium losses Total
RADGRE ZitEie wst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET

- (576) (576)

- (14) (14)

- (590) (590)

- (3,019) (3,019)

(375) - (375)
68,613 - 68,613
(14,244) - (14,244)
- (8,160) (8,160)

53,994 (11,769) 42,225
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBS IRR M A ()

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 35. MEEBEENEELHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRAMASEERETHMEENE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. BEEE) - BIEReRIIFFSEH - F
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash BEBMEAMNABER DL RNKR
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EREHFRATEBFERERERA
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing PDIEABMEETPIBHRSRENEE -
activities.
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
IRITER HEER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHTT FHT FAT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 57,680 28,012 85,692
Financing cash flows RER SR (10,385) (7,163) (17,548)
New leases entered/lease modified BRINHHAE FEER - 1,274 1,274
Finance costs recognised B HER R B ISR 3,732 1,052 4,784
Exchange adjustments ME H R (31) (763) (794)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=%+"A=+—H 50,996 22,412 73,408
Financing cash flows RERER 11,109 (8,939) 2,170
New leases entered/lease modified BEIMNRFHEE, TAEBEk - (485) (485)
Finance costs recognised 2 HERE B IS A AR 3,757 925 4,682
Exchange adjustments RS (159) (555) (714)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-MFE+—A=+—H 65,703 13,358 79,061
36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 36. ERIFBERH
During the year, the Group entered into new lease agreements RAFEE K& l?ﬁ@iﬁﬁ%ﬁ%i@%ﬂ
for the use of leased properties for 2 to 3 years (2023: 2 to 3 U ERE - AH2E3F(ZE
years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised right-of- F:283F)  c RHEEMBE - $'§
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,555,000 and HK$1,555,000 EEAEAEEENHERGI AR
(2023: HK$1,271,000 and HK$1,271,000) respectively. 1,555,000/ 7T 1 1,555,000/8 7T ( =&
— =4 : 1,271,000/ 7t 1,271,000
BTT) o
As disclosed in note 13, during the year, the Group had declared EWZD MIZE13FTIEEE - RFER - AEH
dividend that have been settled through amount due from Mr. Tong IR FEBENOS £ ERIBLEH
in the total amount of HK$6,380,000. Hx,u © #8%H/56,380,00078 7T ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37.
Capital expenditure in respect of the EETAVE R AR & B S R fE
acquisition of property, plant and BEEBNEDE - BRE&EE

equipment contracted for but not provided < &[T
in the consolidated financial statements

IREMEImAME(E)

EEAVES
2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
2,984 2,836
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FOUR YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY
UEESpy S

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for REERBAREMBRFENFEEREE - &
the last four financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and audited BERERNREE (FHiEE BRER REEZEF

consolidated financial statements, is set out below. No financial statements SHMBRR)FINWNT - NEBRSFHEHE
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been published. ZECEFT A=+ —HLEFENMB®R
*o
RESULTS E 4
2021 2022 2023 2024
B S —E-=F —E-MmE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T FAT FET
Revenue e 202,948 257,565 188,969 163,068
Profit (loss) before taxation — BrF{ AT I (&51E) 31,844 26,998 6,656 (21,890)
Income tax expenses FisHif X (5,448) (5,200) (1,618) (1,293)
Profit (loss) for the year FRHEF(EE) 26,396 21,798 5,038 (23,183)
> 4=
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HEEREE
2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-—4F —E-—4F B =4 —E_ME
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T FAT FET
Total assets BEE 219,477 219,813 204,941 194,878
Total liabilities mAafE (188,127) (164,022) (143,564) (121,092)
Net current (liabilities) assets REI(BE)EEF5E (11,679) 6,699 9,759 12,605
Total assets less currents REERRDEE
liabilities 55,605 76,938 76,256 82,457
Net assets BEFRE 31,350 55,791 61,377 73,786
Total equity ArET 31,350 55,791 61,377 73,786
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